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To Our Shareholders,

We were pleased with continued progress in our business during the fiscal year, as evidenced by several
important financial metrics, including year-over-year revenue growth, strong gross margin performance, and
reduced operating expenses. This progress was the result of unwavering focus on delivering high-value optical
switching solutions to our Tier 1 customer base. Thanks to strong revenue growth and disciplined financial
management, Sycamore achieved four consecutive quarters of positive cash generation during the fiscal year,
expanded its market share in optical core switching, and maintained balance sheet strength.

For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006, Sycamore reported revenue of $87.4 million, compared to the $65.4
million for fiscal 2005, a year-over-year increase of approximately 34%. Sycamore’s net income for fiscal 2006
was $19.4 million or $(0.07) per share, compared to a net loss of $29.9 million or $(0.11}) per share in fiscal
2005. Sycamore ended the year with approximately $985 million in cash and cash equivalents, and no debt.

Growth in our optical switching business during the fiscal year was [primarily] driven by capacity expansion
initiatives within our core customer base. At the heart of these expansion initiatives was increased demand for
agile bandwidth in the core as more and more consumer and business applications rely on dynamic breadband
connectivity. The flexibility, scalability, and reliability of our intelligent optical networks continued to deliver
compelling benefits to our customers as emerging applications such as video-on-demand, mobile broadband,
content-rich multimedia and IPTV increased the need for more efficient capacity utilization, simplified
bandwidth provisicning, and improved service quality across the network.

We believe our proven strengths in intelligent bandwidth management are assets that will allow Sycamore to
capitalize on new market opportunities as network operators transform their networks for increased traffic
growth, improved efficiency, and enhanced profitability. During the fiscal year we announced our intent to
acquire Eastern Research, an innovative provider of network access solutions for mobile operators, fixed-line
service providers and large private enterprises. While broadening our customer relationships and expanding the
market we serve, this move represents a first step towards leveraging our core strengths to offer a more
comprehensive suite of solutions optimized for emerging broadband networks.

As we move forward, the Company remains focused on continued improvements in our business as we seek to
strengthen our ability to compete in both access and core markets.

In closing, I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to our customers, employees, and shareholders for their
ongoing support.

Sincerely,

Dol €N A

Daniel E. Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Explanatory Note
Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

We are filing our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006 (the “2006 Form
10-K™) as well as restating our previously issued financial statements for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2005 and
July 31, 2004 and related disclosures (the “2006 Restatement™) as a result of the findings of an independent
investigation into the Company’s stock option accounting that was conducted under the direction of the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors. The investigation concluded that the originally recorded grant dates for a
significant number of stock option awards were incorrect for stock option accounting purposes. The 2006
Restatement in this 2006 Form 10-K also reflects the restatement of “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” in
Item 6 as of and for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002. In addition, we are restating the
unaudited quarterly financial information and financial statements for interim periods of ﬁscal 2005.

We have not amended, and we do not intend to amend, any of our previously filed Annual Reports on Form
10-K or Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods affected by the 2006 Restatement. The financial
information that has been previously filed or otherwise reported for these periods is superseded by the
information in this 2006 Form 10-K, and the financial statements and related ﬁnancnal information contained in
such previously filed reports should no longer be relied upon.

Additional information on the 2006 Restatement can be found in this 2006 Form 10-K in:

+  Ttem 1A “Risk Factors;”

= Item 3 “Legal Proceedings;”

+  Ttem 6 “Selected Consolidated Financial Data;”

¢ Item 7"‘Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations;” and

¢  Item 8 Note 3, “Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements” in the “Notes to Consolldated
Financial Statements.”

As a result of our failure to file this report and other reports on a timely basis, we will not be eligible to use
Form S-3 to register our securities with the SEC until all reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 have
been timely filed for at least 12 months.




PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

We develop and market optical networking products and provide services associated with such products for
telecommunications service providers worldwide. Our current and prospective customers include domestic and
international wireline and wireless network service providers and government entities with private fiber networks
(collectively referred to as “service providers”). Qur optical networking product portfolio includes fully
integrated edge-to-core optical switching products, network management products and design and planning tools.
We believe that our products enable network operators to efficiently and cost-effectively provision and manage
optical network capacity to support a wide range of voice, video and data services.

' On September 6, 2006, we acquired Eastern Research; Inc., an innovative provider of network access
solutions for fixed line and mobile network operators worldwide. Eastern Research’s customers include fixed
line service providers, wireless carriers, utility companies, and government agencies, We believe that the addition
of Eastern Research’s products, technology and talent positions us to diversify and increase our customer base,
expand our addressable markets, and broaden our customer offerings.

We incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on February 17, 1998 and shipped our first product
in May 1999. We completed our initial public offering on October 21, 199% and a follow-on public offering on
March 14, 2000. Our principal executive offices are located at 2200 Mill Road, Chelmsford, Massachusetts 01824,
Our telephone number is (978) 250-2900, and our website address is www.sycamorenet.com.

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). These reports, any amendments to these reports,
proxy and information statements and certain other documents we file with the SEC are available through SEC’s
website at www.sec.gov or free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file the
documents with the SEC. The public may also read and copy these reports and any other materials we file with
the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain
information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

Industry Background
Industry Trends

The world’s telecommunications infrastructure is largely supported by fiber optic networks primarily owned
and operated by service providers. Following deregulation and privatization in the global telecommunications
industry during the late 199('s, there were many new entrants into the service provider market. Emerging service
providers built networks and began competing with incumbent service providers in an effort to accommodate
rapid traffic growth and projected growth in demand for bandwidth and telecommunication services. In early
2001, however, due to excess capacity resulting from the over building of the telecommunications infrastructure,
service providers began curtailing their capital spending for network build-outs. As a result, there was a
slowdown in service provider equipment purchases and a sharp decline in demand for networking equipment.
During this time period, numerous service providers failed and sought bankruptcy protection.

Despite the decline in the telecommunications industry discussed above, overail data traffic on service
provider networks continued to grow as consumers and businesses increasingly used these networks for
applications such as electronic mail, web browsing, electronic commerce, and other voice, video and data
services. During the past few years, the telecommunications industry as a whole began to emerge from this
period of decline. In response to increased demand for broadband services by consumers and businesses, wireline
and wireless service providers began to increase capital spending in certain segments of their service networks.
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Optical nerworking

Optical networks- are high-capacity telecommunications networks based on optical technologies and
components that enable service providers to create and distribute high-speed bandwidth to support their network
services. :

. " . | o . . [ .

Although the decline in the telecommunications industry discussed above directly impacted.investments in
optical networks during this period, some service providers continued to adopt new optical networking products
in their core networks to help them more efficiently utilize existing bandwidth and cost-effectively expand
capacity to support new service and application requirements. During the past few years, as demand for
broadband services by consumers and businesses increased, wireline and wireless service providers began to
modestly increase capital spending in their 1nfrastructure networks, including certain segments of the optical
network.

F

We believe that a service provider's competitive advantage and differentiation comes from its ability to
provide bandwidth when and where needed and to create and offer new services quickly and cost-effectively.
Given the global competitive landscape within the telecommunications industry, we believe that many service
providers will want to optimize their capital expenditures,”lower their operating costs and improve the
profitability of their voice, video and data services.

Most service providers own and operate traditional optical networks that originally were designed primarily
to support voice traffic and point to point data traffic with moderate bandwidth demands. These traditional
optical networks impose a number of limitations on a service provnder ] ablhty to offer services whlch provide a
competltlve advantage due to the followmg factors: '

s Networks initially des:gned Jor voice traffic. Service prowders initially built and operated their
traditional optical networks to transmit voice traffic using specialized equipment and sophisticated
operational processes. As a result, these traditional optical networks cannot easily or cost—effectlvely
accommodate the growing levels of data traffic across the network

. Ineﬁ' cient utilization of network capacity. In tradmonal optlcal networks, at most one half of the
available capacity is used for delivering services. The other portion remains 1d1e in the event of a
network failure. This traditional architecture supports the high-availability requtrements 'of traditional
voice services, but is inefficient for data traffic Wthh is more dynam:c in nature and does not always
require the same level of protecnon T

»  Expensive to build and operate. Building traditional optical networks is a capital-intensive process, and
" requirés the interconnection and management of multipte network ‘devices. These separate devices
" require substantial space and power ‘and increase the cost and complemty of notwork operations.

. Ttme consuming, complex service delwery In traditional .optical networks, the delivery of high-speed
services is a highly complex, labor-intensive process that requires a highly skilled workforce and can
take months to complete.

«  Difficult and expensive network expansion. Adding or changing high-speed services in traditional
optical networks is difficult and .expensive. As a result, service providers cannot quickly or cost-
effectively respond to unplanned changes in their customers’ demand or accommodate rapid increases
in data network traffic. )

«  Limited ability to offer new services. Traditional optical network services are optimized for voice, nat
data. The inefficient nature of traditional optical networks llmlts the types of high-speed services that
can be offered to ¢ustomets. In addition, the high cost of creatmg and managmg high- speed services in
tradmonal optlcal networks 1mpacts a service prov1der 5 market competltlveness

i
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The Sycameore Solution

Our optical switching solutions enable service providers to transition from inefficient, voice-centric
networks to more efficient, data-optimized networks. We believe that our hardware capabilities and software
allow service providers to transform their existing network infrastructure into a more flexible network that
enables them to efficiently and cost-effectively provision and manage optical network capacity to support
business and consumer voice, video and data services to their customers. We believe that our fully integrated,
edge-to-core optical switching products reduce service providers’ capital and operating costs, simplify network
operations, and provide the foundation for a new generation of optical network services. Key benefits of our
optical switching solutions include:

. Improved network design. Using our expertise in optical technology, network management, data
networking, and advanced hardware and software systems design, we develop innovative optical
switching products that lower the costs of building and managing optical networks, and optimize the
network for the growing level of data traffic.

»  Improved utilization of network capacity. Qur fully integrated optical switching products exchange
real-time information about network traffic to enable better utilization of otherwise idle capacity,
improve network efficiencies, and adapt more dynamically to data traffic patterns.

*  Cost-effective solution. Our products reptace multiple traditional networking devices with a single,
compact optical switching system which simplifies the network architecture. Qur products are designed
to reduce initial capital expenditures and ongoing operating costs and simplify the management of
network services.

*  Rapid service delivery. Our optical switching products enable service providers to rapidly deliver high-
speed services, simplify operational procedures and automate labor-intensive provisioning and network
_management processes. In some cases the time it takes service providers to deliver revenue-generating
‘services to their customers is decreased from months to nearly real-time.

*  Easy network expansion. Our optical switching products enable service providers to easily and cost-
effectively increase bandwidth when and where needed. In addition, the ability of our optical switches
to communicate real-time information enables the network to quickly respond to rapid increases in
data-oriented network traffic.

¢ Creation of new services. Our products enable service providers to create new high-speed services and
deliver such services more efficiently and cost-effectively. As a result, service providers can generate
new sources of revenue and further differentiate their high-speed service offerings.

*  Compatible with existing network devices. We designed our standards-based products to be compatible
with existing network devices, enabling service providers to protect their traditional network
investments while easily and cost-effectively transitioning to a more flexible and efficient high-speed
service infrastructure. In addition, we offer comprehensive network management, planning and
administration software that communicates with existing network management systems through
common standards and interfaces.

*  Edge-to-core optical switching. OQur optical switching product portfolio, along with our comprehensive
management capabilities, is designed to enable service providers to extend the benefits of optical
networking from the edge to the core of the optical network.

Sycamore’s Strategy

As we remain focused on improvements in our business, our management and Board of Directors continue
to consider strategic options that may serve to maximize shareholder value, These options include, but are not
limited to (i} acquisitions of, or mergers or other combinations with, companies with either complementary
technologies or in adjacent market segments, (ii) alliances with another entity, and (iii) recapitalization
alternatives, including stock buybacks, cash distributions or cash dividends.
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On September 6, 2006, we acquired Eastern Research, Inc., an innovative provider of network access
solutions for fixed line and mobile network -operators worldwide. We believe that the addition of Eastern
Research’s products, technology and talent positions us to diversify and increase our customer base, expand our
addressable markets, and broaden our customer offerings.

Key elements of our strategy include the following:

»  Expand our customer base. We intend to actively pursue additional new customers both domestlcally
and 1nternat10na]1y, while continuing to expand our relationships with existing customers. We intend to
pursue new customers via direct sales efforts as well as through strategic partners. We believe that data
traffic growth will ‘cause service providers to seek optical networking solutions that will optlmlze
network capacnty and transition their networks toward a more flexible and data optlmlzed
infrastructure. '

. Expand strazegtc relatwnsh:ps including resellers Our sales and marketing effoﬂs mvolve building
and broademng strategic relationships, particularly with resellers, to expand our access to a broader set
of customers aroind the world.- We believe that such strategic relationships may address portions of the
market, such as the governmefit market or certain intémational markets, that we cannot reach with our
own sales force without a significant investment of time and resources.

= . Target incumbent service, providers. We will target sales to incumbent service providers. Since
incumbent service prov1ders have the largest fiber optic infrastructure, we believe that our optical
networkmg solutions offer them.the most cost-effective way to expand and operate their networks and
offer new revenue-generatmg services.

*  Continue to invest in research and development. We believe that continued investment in research and
. development is necessary m order to continue to provide innovative optical networking solutions that
meet our current and prospectlve customcrs needs. In order to provide such products to our customers,

we believe, we, must rnake 51gn1ﬁcant and sustained investment in research and development.

» .Continue to invest in sales; and customer service. We believe that continued investment in sales and

. customer service is necessary in order to expand and support our customer base both domestically and

internationally. We believe that ongoing sales and customer service is critical to successful long-term
relationships with, and foltow-on sales to;-our current and prospective customers.

*  Manage costs and jv'reser’ve “cash. We believe that our cash position coupled with no long-term debt
differentiatés us from our competition. While we continue to invest in strategic areas of the business,
we also continue to focus on cost management and cash preservation.

s Qutsource manufacturing. We outsource -the manufactoring of our products and purchase key
components from third parties. Outsourcing enables us to reduce expenses and focus on our core
competencies such as product development, sales and customer service.

¢ Drive demand for new services. Our professional and customer service teams provide assistance in

such areas as network planning, design and implementation to facilitate the introduction of these

services. By helping our customers to create new services, we help generate additional revenue

opportunities for our customers and enhance the value proposition of our products
Sycamore’s Optical Networking Products

Our optical networking product portfolio includes fully integrated edge-to-core optical switching products
network management products and design and planning tools. Co

Optical switching. Our family of optical swuches including the SN 16000 SC, the SN 16000 MC and the SN
3000, are designed to enable service providers to provision and manage network bandwidth more efficiently in the
metropolitan, regional, and core segments of the optical network. The SN 16000 SC is a single chassis system that
provides optimal traffic management for the metropolitan and regional segments of the network. The SN 16000 is
a multi-chassis system that provides optimal traffic management at the core of the optical network. The SN 3000
provides optimal traffic management in smaller and/or metropolitan networks. Our optical switches combine
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multiple functions in a single, highly compact system and address different capacity requirements within various
scgments of the network. As a result, our optical switches enable service providers to. lower costs, simplify
network operations, optimize network capacity and transition their networks towards more flexible, efficient, and
data-optimized infrastructures.

Network management. SILVX®, our optical network management system, provides end-to-end management
of services across a service provider’s optical switched network. SILVX provides comprehensive network
management, planning and administration tools that communicate with existing network management systems
through common standards. SILVX simplifies network configuration, service provisioning and network
management by automating many labor-intensive operational processes. The combination of SILVX and our
sophisticated networking software allows the SN 3000, SN 16000 SC and SN 16000 MC to exchange real-time
information about network traffic, thereby enabling service providers to quickly provision services and more
efficiently manage network capacity. In addition, SILVX allows service providers to model a broad range of
optical network architectures, forecast and plan for capacity expansion, and analyze network traffic.

Services. We offer complete engineering, furnishing, installation and testing services as well as
comprehensive customer support and maintenance from muitiple locations worldwide.

Customers

Our current and prospective customers include domestic and international wireline and wireless network
service providers and government entities with private fiber networks (collectively referred to as “service
providers™). We expect that our revenue will continue to be hlghly concentrated ina relauvely small number of
customers.

During the year ended July 31, 2006, three customers, Vodafone Group PLC, Sprint Corporation and
Siemens accounted for 43%, 26% and 19% of our revenue, respectively. During the year ended July 31, 2005,
four customers, Vodafone Group PLC, Sprint Government Systems Division (as a reseller to the federal
government), Sprint Corporation and NTT Communications, a subsidiary of Nippon Telephone and Telegraph
Corporation accounted for 36%, 24%, 12% and 119% of our revenue, respectively. During the year ended July 31,
2004, four customers, Sprint Government Systems Division, Vodafone Groip PLC, Neuf Telecom and NTT
Communications accounted for 41%, 27%, 13% and 13% of our revenue, respectively. International revenue was
67% of total revenue during the year ended July 31, 2006, compared to 63% during the year ended July 31, 2005,
and 59% during the year ended July 31, 2004. See “Concentrations and Significant Customer Information™ and
“Segment Information™ in Note 2 to “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” and Item 1A. “Risk Factors”
for additional details.

« Our contracts with customers typically include the purchase of our hardware products, right to use fees, the
license of our SILVX network management system, and in some cases, maintenance and support services. These
contracts include terms and conditions, including payment, delivery and termination that we believe are
customary and standard in our industry. None of our customers are contractually committed to purchase any
minimum quantities of products from us and orders are generally cancelable prior to shipment. In addition, the
federal government may terminate their contracts with any party at any time. As a result, we do not disclose our
order backlog, since we believe that our order backlog at any particular date is not necessaril)lr indicative of actual
revenue for any future period. '

Sales and Marketing

There are a limited number of current and prospective optical switch customers in each geographic market.
Each service provider owns and operates a unique fiber optic network. The network complexity affects the
integration of our optical networking products into each service providers network. As a result, sales are made on
a customer-by-customer basis and the sales cycle may extend beyond one year.

We sell our products worldwide.through a direct sales force with a local presence in several locations
around the world. In certain markets, we also have strategic distribution partners, independent marketing
representatives or independent sales consultants. We intend to further establish relationships with select
distribution and marketing partners to extend our reach to serve new markets,
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The primary focus of our sales efforts is to continue to develop strong relationships with incumbent service
providers and resellers. Our sales and presales engineering organizations work collaboratively with both current
and prospective customers to identify optical switching applications that help optimize their network as well as
create new services that they can offer to their customers. We also provide comprehensive post-sales customer
support including network planning and deployment, technical assistance centers and logistics' support. Our
customer support organization leverages a network of highly qualified service partners to extend.our reach and
capabilities.

In support of our sales efforts, we conduct marketing programs to position and promote market awareness of
Sycamore and our products. We also participate in conferences, trade shows and provide marketing information
on our website. In addition, we conduct public relations actlvmes 1ncludmg interviews and demonstrauons for
the business and trade media, and industry analyqts

Research and Development

* We believe that ongoing investment in research ‘and development is necessary in order to continue to
provide innovative optical networking solutions that meet our current and prospective customers’ needs. We
believe that our current and prospective customers can utilize optical networking solutions-that will allow them to
optimize bandwidth and capacity management while also allowing them to reduce théir capital expenditures and
operating costs. In order to provide such products to our customers, we believe we must make significant and
sustained investment in research and development. Our research and development efforts focus primarily on
improvements to the features and functionality of existing products. We intend to continue to focus our research
and development ‘efforts on solutions that ‘help our customers optimize their networks for the voice, video and
data services driving network growth. '

Our research and development expenditures were $31.4 million, $48.0 million and $66.3 million for the
years ended July 31,-2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. All of our expenditures for research and development, as
well as stock-based compensation expense relating to research and development of $2.4 million, $5.3 million and
$20.6 million, for the years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, have been expensed as incurred.
As of July 31, 2006, we had approximately 130 employees involved in research and development.

t
Competition
The number of optical switching opportunities worldwide is limited. Competition for these opportunities is
intense and includes considerable pricing pressure. Based on the current level of spending by
telecommunications service providers, we expect that competition will continue to be very intense.

Sycamore’s competition includes large incumbent suppliers of network infrastructure equipment and optical
hetworking equipment, such as Alcatel-Lucent, Ciena, Cisco, Ericsson, Huawei, Nortel, Tellabs, and ZTE. Many
of our established competitors have longer operating histories and greater financial, technical, sales, marketing,
manufacturing and field resources and are able to devote greater resources to the research and development of
new products than we do. In addition, these competitors generally have more diverse product lines which allow
them the flexibility to price their products more aggressively and absorb the significant cost structure associated
with optical switching research and development across their entire business. Most of our competitors also have
more extensive customer bases and broader customer relationships than we do, including relationships with our
prospective customers in their local geographies. In addition, we continue to see new entrants into the optical
networking market with new products that compete with our products. Some of these new entrants are located in
geographies with lower cost infrastructures than ours. In order to compete effectively in the optical switching
market, we must deliver products that:

= provide a cost-effective solution to service providers for expanding capacity and bandwidth
management;

. _]owcr a service provider’s cost of building and operatmg their fiber optic network;

. pr0v1de exlremely high network reliability;

*  interoperate with existing network devices;




simplify the network architecture by replacing multiple traditional networking devices into a single
compact optical switch; and

provide effective network management.
In addition, we believe that our knowledge of telecommunications infrastructure requirements and

experience working with service providers to assist in the development of new services for their customers are
important competitive factors in our market.

Proprietary Rights and Licénsing

Qur success and ability to compete are dependent on our ahility to develop and maintain the proprietary
aspects of our technology and to operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of others, We rely on a
combination of patent, trademark, trade secret and copyright law and contractual restrictions to protect the
proprietary aspects of our technology. We license software to our customers pursuant to signed or shrink-
wrapped license agreements, which impose certain restrictions on the licensee’s ability to utilize the software,
Our practice s to require employees and consultants to execute non-disclosure and proprietary rights agreements
upon commencing employment or consulting with us. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights,
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard
as proprietary. We enforce our intellectual property rights vigorously against infringement or misappropriation.

We license third party software, including certain technologies that are (i) embedded into our hardware
platforms and into our SILVX network management system; (i) used internally by us as hardware design tools;
and (iii) used internally by us as software development tools. We also utilize publicly available technology. The
majority of these licenses have perpetual terms but will generally terminate afier an uncured breach of the
agreement by us. We believe, based upon past experience and standard industry practice, that such licenses
generally could be obtained on commercially reasonable terms in the future. Nonetheless, there can be no
assurance that the necessary licenses would be available on acceptable terms, if at ali.

As of July 31, 2006, we had received 38 United States patents and had pending 3 United States patent
applications. Of the United States patents that have been issued, the earliest any will expire is February 2019. As
of July 31, 2006, we had 8§ aliowed or registered United States trademarks and 17 allowed or registered foreign
trademarks. All of the registered United States trademarks have a duration of ten years from the date of
application, the earliest of which wiil expire in February 2011.

Manufacturing

We outsource almost all of the manufacturing of our products. We utilize contract manufacturers, who
provide manufacturing services, including material procurement and handling, printed circuit board assembly and
mechanical board assembly. We design, specify, and monitor all of the tests that are required to meet our internal
and external quality standards. We work closely with our contract manufacturers to manage costs and delivery
times. Our contract manufacturing agreements generally have indefinite terms and are cancelable by either party
with advance notice. We believe that outsourced manufacturing enables us to deliver products more quickly and
allows us to focus on our core competencies, including research and development, sales and customer service.

We have limited internal manufacturing operations. Our internal manufacturing operations primarily consist
of quality assurance for materials and components, and final testing, assembly and shipment of our existing
products. We also use a limited number of other manufacturers to supply certain non-significant product
sub-assemblies and components.

QOur optical networking products utilize hundreds of individual component parts, some of which are
customized for our products. Component suppliers in the specialized, high technology end of the optical
communications industry are generally not as plentiful or, in some cases, as reliable, as component suppliers in
more mature industries. We work closely with our strategic component suppliers to pursue new component
technologies that could either reduce cost or enhance the performance of our products.
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We currently pirchase several key components, including commercial digital signal processors, central
processing units, field programmable gate arrays, switch fabric, and optical transceivers, from single or limited
sources. We purchase each of these components on a purchase order basis and have no long-term contracts for
these components. Although we believe that there are alternative sources for each of these components, in the
event of a disruption in supply, we may not be able to develop an alternate source in a timely manner or at
favorable prices.

Throughout the downturn in the telecommunications industry and the continued spending constraints in the
optical networking market, the optical component industry has been downsizing manufacturing capacity while
consolidating product lines from earlier acquisitions. Several suppliers have exited the optical components
market, and others have announced reductions of their product offerings. These announcements, or similar
decisions by other suppliers, could result in reduced competition and higher prices for the components we
purchase. In addition, the loss of a source of supply for key components could require us to incur additional costs
to redesign our products that use those components or to stockpile component inventory for future product.

Employees

As of July 31, 2006, we employed approximately 246 persons of which 130 were primarily engaged in
research and development, 25 in sales and marketing, 26 in customer service and support, 25 in manufacturing,
and 40 in general and administration. None of our employees are currently represented by a collective bargaining
unit. We believe our relations with our employees are good.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Set forth below is information concerning our current executive officers and their ages as of July 31, 2006.

Daniel E, Smith ... ......... 56  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Richard J. Gayq(‘).r e 4.6r Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance aﬁd
' , Administration, Treasurer and Secretary

John E. Dow]ing ........... 53 Vice President, Operations

Araldo Menegon ........... 47  Vice President, Worldwide Sales and Support

Kevin].Oye .............. 48  Vice President, Systems and Technology

AlanR. Cormier .......... ~ = 535  General Counsel

Daniel E. Smith has served as our President, Chief Executive Officer and as a member of our Board of
Directors since October 1998, From June 1997 to July 1998, Mr. Smith was Executive Vice President and
General Manager of the Core Switching Division of Ascend Communications, Inc., a provider of wide area
network switches and access data networking equipment. Mr. Smith was also a member of the board of directors
of Ascend Communications, Inc. during that time. From April 1992 to June 1997, Mr. Smith served as President
and Chief Executive Officer and a member of the board of directors of Cascade Communications Corp.

" Richard J. Gaynor has served as our Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Finance and Administration,
Treasurer and Secretary since October 2004. From January 2001 to September 2004, Mr. Gaynor was Vice
President, Corporate Controller and Principal Accounting Officer of Manufacturers Services Ltd., a global
provider of sub-contract electronic manufacturing services. From Jaruary 2000 to January 2001, Mr. Gaynor was
Chief Financial Officer of Evans and Sutherfand Computer Corporation, a developer and manufacturer of flight
simulation hardware and software. From March 1994 to December 1999, Mr. Gaynor was Vice President of
Finance and-Operations Controller at Cabletron Systems, Inc., a global provider of enterprise networking
products.
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John E. Dowling has served as our Vice President of Operations since August 1998. From July 1997 to
August 1998, Mr. Dowling served as Vice President of Operations of Aptis Communications, a manufacturer of
carrier-class access switches for network service providers. Mr. Dowling served as Vice Premdent of Operatlons
of Cascade Communications Corp from May 1994 to June 1997. ‘

Araldo Menegon served as our Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support from August 2002 to
September 2006. From April 2001 to June 2002, Mr. Menegon served as Senior Vice President of Worldwide
Sales and Field Operations for Tenor Networks, a provider of networking equipment. From August 1999 to
March 2001, Mr. Menegon served as Area Operations Director for Cisco Systems, Inc. From July 1997 to July
1999, Mr. Menegon served as Director of Service Provider Operations for Cisco Canada. Prior to joining Cisco
in July 1996, Mr. Menegon spent 14 years with NCR and held several senior management positions, including an
international assignment with NCR's Pacific Group from January 1988 to February 1992. Mr. Menegon resigned
from his position as Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support effective September 6, 2006. John B, Scully
joined the Company as Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support pursuant to a letter arrangement dated
September 6, 2006. For more informaticn on Mr. Scully’s employment with the Company and Mr. Menegon’s
resignation, please see the discussion below under “Employment and Other Arrangements,”

Kevin J. Oye has served as our Vice President of Systems and Technology since November 2001. From
October 1999 through October 2001, Mr. Oye served as our Vice President of Business Development. From
March 1998 to October 1999, Mr. Oye served as Vice President of Strategy and Business Development at Lucent
Technologies, Inc. and from September 1993 to March 1998, Mr. Oye served as the Director of Strategy,
Business Development, and Architecture at Lucent Technologies, Inc. From June 1980 to September 1993,
Mr. Oye held various positions with AT&T Bell Laboratories where he was responsible for advanced market
planning as well as development and advanced technology management. '

Alan R. Cormier has served as our General Counsel and Secretary since November 2006. From December to
October 2006, Mr. Cormier served as our Counsel and Assistant Secretary. From July 2000 through March 2004
he was Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Manufacturers’ Services Limited, a contract
manufacturing company, Mr. Cormier served, from January 2000 through July 2000, as Vice President, General
Counsel and Clerk of Dynamics Research Corporation, a provider of information technology, engineering,
logistics and other consulting services to federal and state agencies. Prior to that, he spent several years in senior
positions in the legal department of Wang Global Corporation (formerly Wang Laboratories, Inc.).

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS '

Set forth below and elsewhere in this report and in other documents we file with the SEC are descriptions of
the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by
the forward looking staterments contained in this report.

Matters related to the investigations into our historical stock option granting practices and the resuiting
restatements of our previously issued financial statements may result in additional litigation, regulatory
proceedings and government enforcement actions.

QOur historical stock option granting practices and the initial restatement and further restatement of our
previously issued financial statements have exposed us to greater risks associated with litigation, regulatory
proceedings and government enforcement actions. For more information regarding our current litigation and
related inquiries, please see Part I, Item 3—“Legal Proceedings” as well as the other risk factors related to
litigation set forth in this Item 1A. We have provided the results of our independent investigations to the SEC and
in that regard we have responded to formal and informal requests for documents and additional information. We
have also provided documents and other information to the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of
Massachusetts (the “IDOJ”). We intend to continue to cooperate with these governmental agencies.

While we believe that we have made appropriate judgments in determining the correct measurement dates for our
stock option grants, the SEC may disagree with the manner in which we accounted for and reported, or not reported,
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the corresponding financial impact. Accordingly, there is a risk that we may have to further restate our prior financial
statements, amend prior filings with the SEC, or take other actions not currently contemplated. \

No assurance can be given regarding the outcomes from litigation, regulatory proceedings or government
enforcement actions relating to our past stock option practices. The resolution of these matters will be time
consuming, expensive, and may distract management from the conduct of our business. Furthermore, if we are
subject to adverse findings in litigation, regulatory proceedings or government enforcement actions, we could be
required to pay damages or penalties or' have other remedies imposed, which could harm our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. . g

We received letters from the Staff of The NASDAQ Stock Market ("“NASDAQ™) on October 18, 2006 and
December 12, 2006, indicating that as a result of our failure to timely file with the SEC our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2006 (the “2006 10-K") and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended October 28, 2006 (the “First Quarter 10-Q"), our common stock was subject to delisting pursuant to
NASDAQ Marketplace Rule'4310(c)(14) which requires that listed companies make on a timely basis all filings
with the SEC, as required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. On January 25, 2007, the
NASDAQ Listings Qualifications Panel (the “Panel”) granted Sycamore an exception to NASDAQ s fi iling
requirements, subject to specified conditions, until March 14, 2007. On March 2, 2007, we requested, and on
March 12, 2007 the Panel granted, an extension through April 16, 2007 and April 25, 2007, reqpectlve]y, to file
the 2006 10-K and the First Quarter 10-Q.

As announced on March 14, 2007, we received an additional letter from NASDAQ indicating that as a result of
our failure to timely file with the SEC our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended January 27, 2007 (the
“Second Quarter 10-Q"), we were not in compliance with NASDAQ requirements for continued listing set forth in
NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14). Subsequently on March 21, 2007, we requested that the Panel grant our
request for an extension of time to file our Second Quarter 10-Q. We expect that the Listing Council will consider
our plan to file the Second Quarter 10-Q along with our efforts to file the 2006 10-K and First Quaner 10-Q.

On April 16, 2007, we recelved notice that the NASDAQ Llslmg and Hemng Review Council (thc ‘Llslmg
Council”) catled for review the Panel’s March 12, 2007 decision relating to the potennal delisting ‘of our common
stock due t0 our delay in filing the 2006 10-K and the First Quarter 10-Q with the SEC. Ini its call for rev:ew the
Listing' Council determined to stay any suspension or delisting action by the Panel pending further action by the
Listing Council. To that end, the Listing Council requested that we make a subinission for its consideration by
June 1, 2007. On June 1, 2007, the Company submitted additional information to the Listing Council for its
consideration regarding the status of the Company’s delayed filings. As announced on June 14, 2007, we
received an additional letter from NASDAQ indicating that as'a result of our failure to timely file with the SEC
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 28,2007 (the “Third Quarter 10-Q”), we were not
in compliance with NASDAQ requirements for continued listing set forth .in NASDAQ Marketplace Rule
4310(c)(14). We expect that our securities will remain listed on the: NASDAQ Global Select Market until the
Listing Council renders its decision following its review of the record. There can be no assurance that the Listing
Council will decide to aliow our common stock to remain listed on NASDAQ National Market.

As a result of our independent investigations and related restatements, we are subject to investigations by
the SEC, DOJ and LIRS, which may not be resolved favorably and have required, and niay continue to
require, a significant amount of management time and attention and accounting and legal resources, which
could adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition. .

The SEC, DOJ and IRS are currently conducting investigations of the Company. The period of time
necessary to resolve the SEC, DQJ and IRS investigations is uncertain, and these matters could require
significant management and financial resources which could otherwise be devoted to the:operation of our
business. If we are subject to an adverse finding resulting from the SEC, DOJ and IRS investigations; we could
be required to pay damages or penalties or have other remedies imposed upon us. The recent restatements of our
financial statements, the ongoing SEC, DOJ and IRS investigations and the resulting shareholder suits could have
an adverse affect on our business, operating results or financial condition. In addition,; considerable legal and
accounting expenses related to these matters have been incurred to date and significant cxpendltures may
continue to be incurred in the future.
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if we do not maintain our compliance with the requirements of the NASDAQ National Market, our
common stock may be delisted from the NASDAQ National Market and transferred to the National
Quotation Service Bureau, or “Pink Sheets”, which may, among other things, reduce the price of our
common stock and the levels of liquidity available to our stockholders.

As discussed above, due to our failure to timely file the 2006 10-K, the First Quarter 10-Q, the Second
Quarter 10-Q and the Third Quarter 10-Q), our common stock is subject to delisting pursuant to NASDAQ
Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14) which requires that listed companies make on a timely basis all filings with the
SEC, as required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. There can be no assurance that the Listing
Council will decide to allow our common stock to remain listed on NASDAQ National Market.

If our common stock is delisted from NASDAQ, it would subsequently trade on the Pink Sheets. The
trading of our common stock on the Pink Sheets may reduce the price of the Company’s common stock and the
levels of liquidity available to its stockholders. In addition, the trading of the Company’s common stock on the
Pink Sheets will materially adversely affect its access to the capital markets, and the limited liquidity and
potentially reduced price of our common stock could materially adversely affect our ability to raise capital
through alternative financing sources on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. Stocks that trade on the Pink
Sheets are no longer eligible for margin leans, and a company trading on the Pink Sheets cannot avail itself of
federal preemption of state securities or “blue sky” laws, which adds substantial compliance costs to securities
issuances, including pursuant to employee option plans, stock purchase plans and private or public offerings of
securities. If the our common stock is delisted in the future from the NASDAQ National Market and transferred
to the Pink Sheets, there may also be other negative implications, including the potential loss of confidence by
suppliers, customers and employees and the loss of institutional investor interest in our Company.

We have not been in compliance with SEC reporting requirements and if we are unable to become and
remain current in our SEC filings, we will face several adverse consequences.

If the Company is unable to become and remain current in its SEC filings, investors in its securities will not
have information regarding.the Company’s business and financial condition with which to make decisions
regarding investment in its securities. In addition, if we are unable to achieve a current filing status, the Company
will not be able to have a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, covering a public offering of
securities, declared effective by the SEC, and will not be able to make offerings pursuant to existing registration
statements pursuant to certain “private placement” rules of the SEC under Regulation D to any purchasers not
qualifying as “accredited investors.” As a result of our inability to timely file our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended July 31, 2006, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended October 28,
2006, January 27, 2007 and April 28, 2007, the Company also will not be eligible to use a “short form”
registration statement on Form S-3 for a period of 12 months from the time we become current in our filings.
These restrictions could adversely affect our financial condition or our ability to pursue specific strategic
alternatives or increase the costs of pursuing such alternatives.

Our results may be adversely affected by unfavorable conditions in the telecommunications industry and
the economy in general.

We expect industry and economic conditions to affect our business in many ways, including the following:
= our current and prospective customers may make limited capital expenditures;

»  consolidation of our customers may cause delays, disruptions or reductions in their optical switching
capital spending plans as well as increase their relative purchasing power in any negotiation;

*  we will continue to have limited ability to forecast the volume and product mix of our sales;

»  we will experience increased competition as a result of limited demand and we may experience
downward pressure on the pricing of our products which reduces gross margins and constrains revenue
growth;
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+  our competitors have more diverse product lines which allow them the flexibility to price their products
more aggressively;

«  new competitive entrants may be located in geographies with lower cost infrastructures than ours
allowing them a greater degree of price flexibility;

«  we.will need 1o-balance our initiatives to manage our operating costs against the need to keep pace with
technological advances;

«  intense competition may enable customers to demand more favorable terms and conditions of sales
including extended payment terms; and

«  any bankruptcies or weakening financial condition of any of our customers may require us to write off
amounts due from prior sales,

Thesé factors could have an adverse impact on our revenue, operating results and finaricial condition.

Industry consolidation may lead to increased competition and may harm our business.

The telecommunications industry has experienced consolidation and we expect this trend to, continue.
Several larger telecommunications service providers have announced merger transactions which will have a
significant impact on the telecommunications industry. Consolidation among our customers may cause delays or
reductions in their capital expenditure plans and may cause increased competitive pricing pressures as the
number of available customers declines and their relative purchasing power increases in relation to suppliers.
Consolidation may also result in a combined entity choosing to standardize on a certain vendors’™ optical
networking platform. Any of these factors could adversely affect our business.

If we fail to successfully integrate the operations of acquisitions, we may not realize the potential benefits
of the acquisition and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

We hgive made, and may continue to make, acguisitions in order to enhance our business. On September 6,
2006, 'we acquired Eastern Research, Inc. The purchase price totaled $80 million in cash. The purchase price
exceeded the fair value of the acquired net assets and accordingly goodwill of approximately $15 million will be
recorded. Based on information currently available to us, there is likely 1o be a material impairment charge in
fiscal 2007. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including problems combining the purchased operations,
technologies or products, unanticipated costs, diversion of management’s attention from our core businesses,
adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers, risks associated with entering
markets in which we have no or limited prior experience and potential loss of key employees. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate any businesses, products, technologies or personnel that
we might acquire, including Eastern Research. If we fail in our integration efforts with respect to our acquisitions
and are unable to efficiently operate as a combined organization utilizing common information and
communication systems, operating procedures, financial controls and human resources practices, our business
and financial condition may be adversely affected. It is also possible that the businesses we acquire, such as
Eastern Research, Inc., or any other businesses we may acquire in the future, may perform worse than expected
or prove to be more difficult to integrate‘and manage than expected. If that happéns, there may be a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the goodwill and
intangible assets associated with acquisitions are subject to impairment testing on a regular basis, such charges
would have the effect of decreasing our earnings or increasing our losses in such period. If we are required to
take a substantial impairment charge, our earnings could be materially adversely affected in such period.

.
0

Our strategy to pursue acquisitions or strategic investrents may not be successful.

Our business strategy includes the ongoing consideration of acquiring or making strategic investments in
companies with either complementary technologies or in adjacent markets to add complementary products and
services, expand the markets we serve and diversify our customer base. To do so, we may issue additional shares
that could dilute the holdings of existing common stockholders, or we may utilize cash.
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Any decision regarding an acquisition or strategic investment would be subject to inherent risk, and we
cannot guarantee that we will be able to identify appropriate opportunities, successfully negotiate economically
beneficial terms, successfully integrate any acquired business, retain key employees, successfully market and sell
products of the acquired business or achieve the anticipated synergies or benefits of any acquisition or strategic
investment which may be selected. In implementing a strategy, we may enter markets in which we have little or
no prior experience and there can be no assurance that we will be successful. Further, there can be no assurances
concerning the success, type, form, structure, nature, results, timing or terms and conditions of any such potential
action.

Whether or not we pursue any acquisition or strategic investment, the value of your shares may decrease.

Our business strategy includes the ongoing consideration of acquiring or making strategic investments in
companies with either complementary technologies or in adjacent markets to add complementary products and
services, expand the markets we serve and diversify our customer base. We cannot predict whether, or when, we
may be able 10 consummate such acquisition or strategic investment or that such acquisition or stralegic
investment would provide you with a positive return on your investment. Accordingly, whether or not we pursue
any such acquisition or strategic investment, the value of your shares may decrease.

Any acquisitions or strategic investments we make could disrupt our business and seriously harm our
financial condition.

As part of our business strategy, we consider acquisitions and strategic investments including those in
complementary companies, products or technologies, or in adjacent market segments and otherwise. We may
consider such acquisitions or strategic investments to add complementary products and services, expand the
markets we serve and diversify our customer base. In the event of an acquisition or strategic investment, we may:

*  issue stock that would dilute our current stockholders’ holdings;

= consume cash, which would reduce the amount of cash available for other purposes and the interest
income we generate from our cash;

. incur debt or assume liabilities;
*  increase our ongoing operating expenses and level of capital expenditures;

« record goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets subject 1o impairment testing and potential
periodic impairment charges:

*  incur amortization expenses related to certain intangible assets;

* incur large and immediate write-offs; or

*  become subject to litigation.

Qur ability to achieve the benefits of any acquisition or strategic investment, will also invelve numerous
risks, including: '

= problems combining the purchased operations, technologies or products;

+  difficulty in marketing and selling products of an acquired business;

. unanticipated costs or liabilities;

« diversion of management’s attention from other business issues and opportunities;




= disruption to in-process product development initiatives;

«  adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers;
+  problems entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience;
«  problems with integrating employees and potential loss of key employees; and

= additional regulatory compliance issues.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully integrate any businesses, products, technologies
or personnel that we might acquire in the future and any failure to do so could disrupt our business and seriously
harm our financial condition.

We currently depend entirely on our optical switching and network access products and our revenue
depends upon their commercial success.

Our revenue depends on the commercial success of our line of optical switching and network access
products. Our research and development efforts focus exclusively on these products. In order to remain
competitive, we believe that continued investment in research and development is necessary in order to provide
innovative solutions to our current and prospective customers. We cannot assure you that we will be successful
in:

= anticipating evolving customer requirements;
e completing the development, introduction or production of new products; or

+  enhancing our existing products.

If our current and prospective customers do not adopt our optical switching and network access products
and do not purchase and successfully deploy our current and future products, our business, operating results and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected. .

Current economic and market conditions make forecasting difficult.

Current economic and market conditions together with the inherent inconsistent ordering patterns of our
customers have limited our ability to forecast the volume and product mix of our sales, making it difficult 1o
provide estimates of revenue and operating results. We continue to have limited visibility into the capital
spending plans of our current and prospective customers. Fluctuations in our revenue can lead to even greater
fluctuations in our operating results. Our planned expense levels depend in part on our expectations of future
revenue. Our planned expenses include significant investments, particularly within the research and development
organization, which we believe are necessary Lo continue to provide innovative optical networking solutions to
meet our current and prospective customers’ needs. As a result, it is difficult to forecast revenue and operating
results, If our revenue and operating results are below the expectations of our investors and market analysts, it
could cause a decline in the price of our common stock.

We must continue to make investments in product development in order to keep pace with technological
advances and succeed in existing and new markets for our products.

In order 1o be successful, we must balance our initiatives to reduce operating costs against the need to keep
pace with technological advances. The markets for our products are characterized by rapidly changing
technology, frequent introductions of new products and evolving customer requirements. To succeed, we must
continue to develop new products and new features for existing products that meet customer requirements and
market demand. We may fail to develop products that incorporate new technologies highly sought after by
customers. We may also allocate development resources toward products or technologies for which market

17




demand is ultimately lower than anticipated. Managing our efforts to keep pace with new technologies and
reduce operating expense is difficult and there is no assurance that we will be successful. We expect that our
decision to make substantial investments in product development will require us to generate revenue above
current levels in order to achieve and maintain profitability and as a result we may incur net losses. We cannot
assure you that our revenue will increase or that we will generate sufficient revenue to achieve or sustain such
profitability.

We face intense competition that could adversely affect our sales and profitability.

Competition for limited optical swilching opportunities is intense and continues to be dominated by large,
incumbent equipment suppliers. Competition is based upon a combination of price, established customer
relationships, bread product portfolios, large service and support teams, functionality and scalability. Large
companies, such as Alcatel-Lucent, Ciena, Ericsson, Nortel and Tellabs have historically dominated this market.
Many of our competitors have longer operating histories and greater financial, technical, sales, marketing and
manufacturing resources than we do and are able to devote greater resources to the research and development of
new products. These competitors also have long standing existing relationships with our current and prospective
customers. New competitors, such as Huawei and ZTE, have entered the optical networking market using the
fatest available technology and aggressive pricing tactics in order to compete with our products. Qur competitors
may forecast market developments more accurately and could develop new technologies that compete with our
products or even render our producis obsolete. Moreover, these competitors have more diverse product lines
which allow them the flexibility to price their products more aggressively.

As a result of the intensified competition, we expect to encounter aggressive tactics such as the following:

e price discounting;

= early announcements of competing products and other marketing efforts;

. customer financing assistance;

*  complete solution sales from one single source;

*  bundling multi-vendor solution integration services with turnkey network operating service offerings;

«  marketing and advertising assistance; and

« intellectual property disputes.

These tactics may be effective in a highly concentrated customer base like ours. Qur customers are under
increasing pressure Lo deliver their services at the lowest possible cost. As a resuit, the price of an optical
networking system may become an important factor in customer decisions. In certain cases, our larger
competitors have more diverse product lines that allow them the flexibility to price their products more
aggressively and absorb the significant cost structure associated with optical switching research and development

across their entire business. If we are unable to offset any reductions in the average selling price of our products
by a reduction in the cost of our products, our gross margins will be adversely affected.

If we are unable to compete successfully against our current and future competitors, we could experience
revenue reductions, order cancellations and reduced gross margins, any one of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Substantially all of our revenue is generated from a limited number of customers, and our success depends
on increasing both direct sales and indirect sales through distribution channels to a limited number of
service providers,

Our revenue is concentrated among a limited number of customers. None of our customers are contractually
committed to purchase any minimum quantities of products from us and orders are generally cancelable prior to
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shipment. We expect that our revenue will continue-to depend on sales of our products to a limited number of
customers. While expanding our customer base is a key objective, at the present time, the number of prospective
customer opportunities for our products is limited. In addition, we believe that the telecommunications industry
will continue in a consolidation phase which may further reduce the number of prospeclive customers, slow
purchases and delay optical switching deployment decisions. s

Our direct sales efforts primarily target service providers, many of which have already made significant
investments in traditional optical networking infrastructures. In’addition, we are utilizing' established channel
relationships with distribution partners including resellers, distributors and systems integrators for the sale of our
products to service providers including the federal government. We have entered into agreements with several
distribution partners, some of whom also sell products that compete with our products. We cannot be certain that
we will be able to retain or attract distribution partners on a timely basis or at all, or that the distribution partners
will devote adequate resources to selling our products. Since we have only limited experience in developing and
managing such channels, the extent to which we will be successful is uncertain. If we are unable to develop and
manage new channels of distribution to sell our products to service providers, or if our distribution partners are
unable 1o convince service providers to deploy our optical networking solutions, our business, operating results
and financial condition will be materially adversely affected.

‘We rely on a limited number of customers for a significant portion of our revenue and the loss of one or
more of these customers could materially harm our business.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated from a limited number of customers and that trend is likely
to continue. The loss of any one of these customers or any substantial reduction in orders by any one of these
customers could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We depend on a government agency, through our reseller, for a significant amount of our revenue and the
loss or decline of existing or future government agency funding could adversely affect our revenve and
cash flows.

4

This government agency (DISA) may be subject to budget cuts, budgetary constraints, a reduction or
discontinuation of funding or changes in the political or reguiatory environment that may cause the agency to
terminate the projects, divert funds or delay implementation or expansion. A significant reduction in funds
available for the agency to purchase equipment could significantly reduce our revenue and cash flows. The
significant reduction or delay in orders by the agency could also Significantly reduce our revenue and cash
flows. As with most government contracts, the agency may terminate the contract at any time without
cause. Additionally, government contracts are generally subject to audits and investigations by government
agencies. If the results of these audits or investigations are negative, our reputation could be damaged, contracts
could be terminated or significant penalties could be assessed. If a contract is terminated for any reason, our
ability to fully recover certain amounts may be 1mpalrecl resulting in a material adverse impact on our business,
operating results and financial condition,

Certain larger customers may have substantial negotiating teverage, which may require that we agree to
terms and conditions that may have an adverse effect on our business.

Large telecommunications providers, key resellers and the federal government, who make up a large part of
our target market, have substantial purchasing power and.potential leverage in negotiating contractual
arrangements with us. These customers and prospects-may require us to develop additional features and require
penalties for-failure to deliver such features, As we seek to increase sales into our target markets, we may be
required to agree to such terms and conditions, which may affect the timing of revenue recognition and amount
of deferred revenues and may have other unfavorable effects on.our business and financial condition.
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The unpredictability of our quarterly results may adversely affect our common stock price.

In general, our revenue and operating results in any reporting period may fluctuate significantly due to a
variety of factors including, but not limited to:

*  fluctuation in demand for our products;

. the timing, volume and product mix of sales of our products;

«  changes in customer requirements, including delays or order cancellations;

«  the introduction of new products by us or our competitors;

«  changes in the price or availability of components for our products;

+  the timing of revenue recognition and deferred revenue;

«  readiness of customer sites for instatlation;

«  changes in our pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors;

»  satisfaction of contractual customer acceptance criteria and related revenue recognition issues;
. manufacturing and shipment delays;

+ the timing and amount of employer payroll tax to be paid on employee gains on stock options
exercised;

«  changes in accounting rules, such as the requirement to record stock-based compensation expense for
employee stock option grants made at fair market value; and

«  general economic conditions as well as those specific to the telecommunications, optical networking
and related indusiries.

We believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are not a good indication of our
future performance. You should not rely on our results for one quarter as any indication of our future
performance, The factors discussed above are extremely difficult to predict and impact our revenue and operating
resulis. In addition, our ability to forecast our future business has been significantly impaired by economic and
market conditions. As a result, we believe that our revenue and operating results are likely to continue to vary
significantly from quarter to quarter and may cause our stock price to fluctuate.

Customer purchase decisions have historically taken a long period of time. We believe that customers who
make a decision to deploy our products will expand their networks slowly and deliberately. In addition, we could
receive purchase orders on an irregular and unpredictable basis. Because of the nature of our business, we cannot
predict these sales and deployment cycles. The long sales cycles, as well as our expectation that customers may
tend to issue large purchase orders sporadically with short lead times, may cause our revenue and results of
operations to vary significantly and unexpectedly from quarter to quarter. As a result, our future operating results
may be below our expectations or those of public market analysts and investors, and our revenue may decline or
recover at a slower rate than anticipated by us or analysts and investors. In either event, the price of our common
stock could decrease.

We utilize contract manufacturers and any disruption in these relationships may cause us to fail to meet
our customers’ demands and may damage our customer relationships.

We have limited internal manufacturing capabilities. We outsource the manufacturing of our products to
contract manufacturers who manufacture our products in accordance with our specifications and fill orders on a
timely basis. We may not be able to manage our relationships with our contract manufacturers effectively, and
our contract manufacturers may not meet our future requirements for timely delivery. Our contract manufacturers
also build products for other companies, and we cannot be assured that they will have sufficient quantities of
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inventory available to fill our customer orders or that they will allocate their internal resources or capacity to fill
our orders on a timely basis. Unforecasted customer demand may increase the cost to build our products due to
fees charged to expedite production and other related charges.

The contract manufacturing industry is a highly competitive, capital-intensive business with relatively low
profit margins, and in which acquisition activity is relatively common. Qualifying a new contract manufacturer
and commencing volume production is expensive and time consuming, and could result in a significant
interruption in the supply of our products. If we are required or choose to change contract manufacturers for any
reason, our revenue, gross margins and customer retationships could be adversely affected.

We and our contract manufacturers rely on singlé or limited sources for supply of certain components and
our business may be seriously harmed if our supply of any of these components is disrupted.

We and our contract manufacturers purchase several key components from single or limited sources. These
key components include commercial digital signal processors, central processing units, field programmable gate
arrays, swilch fabric, and optical transceivers. We generally purchase our key components on a purchase order
basis and have no long-term contracts for these components. In the event of a disruption in supply of key
components including, but not limited to, production disruptions, fow yield or discontinuance of manufacture, we
may not be able to develop an alternate source in a timely manner or on acceptable terms. Any such failure could
impair our ability to deliver products to customers, which would adversely affect our revenue and operating
results. : - -

In addition, our reliance on key component suppliers exposes us to ])otemiz'll supplier production difficulties
or quality variations. The loss of a source of supply for key components or a disruption in the supply chain could
require us to incur additional costs to redesign our products that use those components, Conversely, electronic
products are experiencing shorter product life cycles which may require us to build inventories in excess of
demand.

During the past year, component suppliers have planned their production capacity to better match demand.
If the demand for certain components increases beyond the component suppliers planned production capacity,
there may be component shortages which may increase procurement costs. In addition, consolidation in the
optical component industry could result in reduced competition for supply of key components and higher
component prices. If any of these events occurred, our revenue and operating results could be adversely affected.

Our inability to anticipate inventory requirements may result in inventory charges or delays in product
shipments.

During the normal course of business, we may provide purchase orders to our contract manufacturers for up
to six months prior to scheduled delivery of products to our customers. If we overestimate our product
requirements, the contract manufacturers may assess cancellation penalties or we may have excess inventory
which could negatively impact our gross margins. If we underestimate our product requirements, the contract
manufacturers may have inadequate inventory that could interrupt manufacturing of our products and result in
delays in shipment to our customers. We also could incur additional charges to expedite the manufacture of our
products to meet our customer deployment schedules. If we over or underestimate our product requirements, our
revenue and gross profit may be impacted.

Product performance problems could adversely effect our revenue, operating results and financial
condition. . O

If our products do not meet our customers’ performance or reliability requirements, our relationships with
current and prospective customers may be adversely affected. The design, development and deployment of our
products often involve problems with software, components, manufacturing processes and interoperability with
other network elements. if we are unable 1o identify and fix errors or other problems, or if our customers
experience interruptions or delays that cannot be promptly resolved, we could experience:

»  loss of revenue or delay in revenue recognition or accounts receivable collection;
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»  loss of customers and market share;

* inability to attract new customers or achieve market acceptance;

+  diversion of development and other resources;

*  increased service, warranty and insurance costs; and

»  legal actions by our customers.

These factors may adversely impact our revenue, operating results and financial condition. In addition, our
products are often critical to the performance of cur customers’ network. Generally, we seek to limit liability in
our customer agreements. If we are not successful in limiting our liability, or these contractual limitations are not

enforceable or if we are exposed to product liability claims that are not covered by insurance, a successful claim
could harm our business.

The global nature of our business exposes us to multiple risks.

International sales represented 67% of total revenue for fiscal 2006 and we have a substantial international
customer base. We are subject to foreign exchange translation risk to the extent that our revenue is denominated
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Doing business internationally requires significant management attention
and financial resources to successfully develop direct and indirect sales channels and to support customers in
international markets. We may not be able to maintain or expand international market demand for our products.

In addition, international operations are subject to other inherent risks, including:

«  greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection and longer collection periods;

» difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations in compliance with local laws and
customs;

»  reliance on distribution partners for the resale of our products in certain markets and for certain types
of product offerings, such as the integration of our preducts into third-party product offerings;

*  necessity to work with third parties in certain countries to perform installation and obtain customer
acceptance may impact the timing of revenue recognition;

*  necessity to maintain staffing, or t0 work with third parties, to provide service and support in
international locations;

+«  the impact of slowdowns or recessions in economies outside the United States;

+ unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, including trade and environmental protection measures
and import and licensing requirements;

*  oblaining export licensing authority on a timely basis and maintaining ongoing compliance with
import, export and reexport regulations;

«  certification requirements;
* currency fluctuations; .
»  reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

«  potentially adverse tax consequences; and

22




»  political and economic instability, particularly in emerging markets.

‘These factors may adversely impacl our revenue, operating results and financial condition.

If we are unable to retain and recruit key personnel, our business may be harmed. "

We depend on the continued services of our executive officers and other key engineering, sales, marketing
and support personnel, who have critical industry experience and relationships that we rely on to implement our
business strategy, many of whom would be difficult 1o replace. None of our officers or key employees is bound
by an employment agreement for any specific term. We do not have “key person” life insurance policies or
similar perquisites covering any of our employees.

Virtually all of our key employees have been granted stock-based awards that are intended to represent an
integral component of their compensation package. These stock-based awards may not provide the intended
incentive to our employees if our stock price declines, experiences significant volatility or if our failure to make
our timely SEC filings prevents our employees from receiving or exercising stock options. The loss of the
services of any of our key employees. the inability to attract and retain qualified personnel in the future, or delays
in hiring qualified personnel could delay the development and introduction of our products, and negatively
impact our ability to sell and support our products. :

Adverse resolution of litigation may harm our business, operating results or financial condition.

We are a defendant in a class action securities lawsuit and a party to other litigation and claims in the
normal course of our business. We are also subject to six derivative action lawsuits arising from our recent stock
option investigation and related restatements of our financial statements, and we may be named in additional
litigation. The highly technical nature of our products makes them susceptible to allegations of patent
infringement. Litigation is by its nature uncertain and there can be no assurance that the ultimate resolution of
such claims will not exceed the amounts accrued for such claims, if any. Litigation can be expensive, lengthy,
and disruptive to normal business operations. An unfavorable resolution of a legal matter could have a material
adverse affect on our business, operating results, or financial condition. For additional information regarding
certain lawsuits and other disputes in which we are involved, see Part ], Item 3 “Legal Proceedings”.

Our ability to compete and pursue strategic alternatives could be jeopardized if we are unable to p'rotect
our intellectual property rights or infringe on intellectual property rights of others.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and restrictions on
disclosure to protect our intellectual property rights. We also enter into confidentiality or license agreements with
our employees, consultants and corporate partners and control access to and distribution of our products,
documentation and other proprietary information. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights,
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. Monitoring
unauthorized use of our products is difficult and we cannot be certain that the steps we have 1aken will prevent
unauthorized use of our technology, particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not protect our
proprietary rights as fully as in the United States. If competitors are able to use our technology, our ability to
compete and pursue strategic alternatives effectively could be harmed. Litigation may be necessary to enforce
our intellectual property rights. Any such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources
and could have a material adverse affect on our business, operating resulis and financial condition,

Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims and related
litigatton regarding patents and other intellectual property rights. In the course of our business, we may receive
claims of infringement or otherwise become aware of potentially relevant patents or other intellectual property
rights held by other parties. We evaluate the validity and applicability of these intellectual property rights, and
determine in each case whether we must negotiate licenses or cross-licenses to incorporate or use the proprietary
technologies in our products.
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Any parties asserting that our products infringe upon their proprietary rights would require us to defend
ourselves, and possibly our customers, manufacturers or suppliers against the alleged infringement. Regardless of
their merit, these claims could result in costly litigation and subject us to the risk of significant liability for
damages. Such claims would iikely be time consuming and expensive to resolve, would divert management time
and attention and would put us at risk to:

«  stop selling, incorporating or using our products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;

= obtain from the owner of the intellectual property right a license to sell or use the relevant wechnology,
which license may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all;

»  redesign those products that use such technology; or

»  accept a return of products that use such technologies.
If we are forced to take any of the foregoing actions, our business may be seriously harmed.

In addition, we license public domain software and proprietary technology from third parties for use in our
existing products, as well as new product development and enhancements. We cannot be assured that such
licenses will be available to us on commercially reasonable terms in the future, if at all, The inability to maintain
or obtain any such license required for our current or future products and enhancements could require us to
substitute technology of lower quality or performance standards or at greater cost, either of which could
adversely impact the competitiveness of our products.

Adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our tax returns could adversely affect our results.

We are subject to the continuous examination of our tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other
tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to
determine the adequacy of our provisions. Qur federal income tax returns for the years ended July 31, 2004 and
2005 are currently under examination by the IRS and our Massachusetts state income tax returns for the years
ended July 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 are currently under examination by the Massachusetts Department of
Revenue. While we believe that we have adequately provided for our tax liabilities, including the outcome of
these examinations, it is possible that the amount paid upon resolution of issues raised may differ from the
amount provided. Differences between the reserves for tax contingencies and the amounts owed by us are
recorded in the period they become known. The ultimate outcome of these tax contingencies could have a
material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows,

Our stock price may be volatile.

Historically, the market for technology stocks has been extremely volatile. Our common stock has
experienced, and may continue to experience, substantial price volatility. The occurrence of any one or more of
the factors noted above could cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate. In addition, the following
factors could cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate:

* loss of a major customer;

«  significant changes or slowdowns in the funding and spending patterns of our current and prospective
customers;

+  the addition or departure of key personnel;
¢ variations in our quarterly operating results;

« announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, new products or product
enhancements;
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» failure by us to meet product milestones;

s+ acquisitions. distribution partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments:

. regu.latory changes in telecommunications; '

+  variations between our actual results and the published expectations of securities analysts;
. changes in financial estimates by securities analysts; -

«  sales of our common stock or olﬁer securities in the future;

+  changes in market valuations of networking and telecommunications companies;

+  fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes and; 7

+  announcements or implementation of a stock buyback or ¢ash distribution,

In addition. the stock market in general, and The NASDAQ National Market and technology companies in
particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of such companies. These broad market and industry factors may
materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating
performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities
class action litigation has often been instituted against such companies.

Significant insider ownership, provisions of our charter documents and provisions of Delaware law may
limit shareholders’ ability to influence key transactions, including changes of control.

As of July 31, 2006, our officers, directors and entities affiliated with them, in the aggregate, beneficially
owned approximately 36% of our outstanding common stock. These stockholders, if acting together, would be
able 1o significantly influence matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors
and the approval of mergers or other busines$ combination transactions. In addition. provisions of our amended
and restated certificate of incorperation, by-laws, and Delaware law could make it more difficult for a third party
1o acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to certain stockholders. ’

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of July 31, 2006, we lease two facilities in Chelmsford, Massachusetts, containing approximately
225,000 square feet in the aggregate. In Wallingford, Connecticut, we currently lease one facility containing a
total of approximately 13,000 square feet. These facilities consist of offices and engineering laboratories used for
research and development, administration, sales and customer support, ancillary light manufacturing, storage and
shipping activities. We also maintain smaller offices to provide sales and customer support at various domestic
and international locations. These facilities are presently- adequate and suitable for our needs, and we do not
expect to require additional space during fiscal 2007.

In connection with our acquisition of EasternResearch, Inc. on September 6, 2006, we assumed Eastern
Research’s lease for a facility in Moorestown, New Jersey containing approximately 86,000 square feet. This
facility consists of offices, engineering laboratories used for research and development, administration, sales and
customer support, storage and shipping activities. :

We also own a parcel of undeveloped land, comtaining approximately [02 acres, in Tyngsborough,
Massachusetts.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning on July 2, 2001, several purported class action complaints were filed in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company and several of its officers and directors (the
“Individual Defendants™) and the underwriters for the Company’s initial public offering on October 21, 1999,
Some of the complaints also include the underwriters for the Company’s follow-on offering on March 14, 2000.
The complaints were consolidated into a single action and an amended complaint was filed on April 19, 2002.
The amended complaint, which is the operative complaint, was filed on behalf of persons who purchased the
Company’s common stock between October 21, 1999 and December 6, 2000. The amended complaint alleges
claims against the Company, several of the Individual Defendants and the underwriters for violations under
Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act™), primarily based on the
assertion that the Company’s lead underwriters, the Company and several of the Individual Defendants made
material false and misleading statements in the Company’s Registration Statements and Prospectuses filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, in October 1999 and March 2000 because of the failure to
disclose (a) the alleged solicitation and receipt of excessive and undisclosed commissions by the underwrilers in
connection with the allocation of shares of common stock to certain investors in the Company’s public offerings
and (b) that certain of the underwriters allegedly had entered into agreements with investors whereby
underwriters agreed to allocate the public offering shares in exchange for which the investors agreed to make
additional purchases of stock in the aftermarket at pre-determined prices. It also alleges clnims against the
Company, the Individual Defendants and the underwriters under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), primarily based on the assertion that the Company’s
lead underwriters, the Company and the Individual Defendants defrauded investors by participating in a
fraudulent scheme and by making materially false and misleading statements and omissions of material fact
during the period in question. The amended complaint seeks damages in an unspecified amount,

The action against the Company is being coordinated with approximately three hundred other nearly
identical actions filed against other companies. Due to the large number of nearly identical actions, the court has
ordered the parties to select up to twenty “test” cases. To date, along with sixteen other cases, the Company’s
case has been selected as one such test case. As a result, among other things, the Company will be subject to
broader discovery obligations and expenses in the litigation than non-test case issuer defendants.

On October 9, 2002, the court dismissed the Individual Defendants from the case without prejudice based
upon Stipulations of Dismissal filed by the plaintiffs and the Individual Defendants. This dismissal disposed of
the Section 15 and Section 20(a) claims without prejudice, because these claims were asserted only against the
Individual Defendants, On October 13, 2004, the court denied the certification of a class in the action against the
Company with respect to the Section 11 claims alleging that the defendants made material false and misleading
statements in the Company’s Registration Statement and Prospectuses. The certification was denied because no
class representative purchased shares between the date of the IPO and January 19, 2000 (the date unregistered
shares entered the market), and thereafter suffered a loss on the sale of those shares. The court certified a class in
the action against the Company with respect to the Section 10(b) claims alleging that the Company and the
Individual Defendants defrauded investors by participating in a fraudulept scheme and by making materially
false and misleading statements and omissions of material fact during the period in question. The underwriter
defendants appealed the district court’s ruling on class certification to the Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit.

The Company, the Individual Defendants, the plaintiff class and the vast majority of the other
approximately three hundred issuer defendants and the individual defendants currently or formerly associated
with those companies reached a settiement and related agreements (the “Settlement Agreement”) which set forth
the terms of a settlement between these parties. Among other provisions. the Settlement Agreement provides for
a release of the Company and the Individual Defendants for the conduct alleged in the action to be wrongful and
for the Company to undertake certain responsibilities, including agreeing to assign away, not assert, or release,
certain petential claims the Company may have against its underwriters. In addition, no payments would be

26




required by the issuer defendants under the Settlement Agreement to the extent plaintiffs recover at least $1
billion from the underwriter defendants, who are not parties to the Settlement Agreement and who filed a
memorandum of law in opposition to the approval of the Settlement Agreement. To the extent that plaintiffs
recover less than $1 billion from the underwriter defendants, the approximately three-hundred issuer defendants
would be required to make up the difference. It is anticipated that any potential financial obligation of the
Company to plaintiffs: pursuant to the terms of the Settlement-Agreement would be covered by existing
insurance. The Company currently is not aware of any material limitations on the expected recovery-of any
potential financial obligation to the plaintiffs from the Company’s insurance carriers. The Company’s insurance
carriers are solvent, and the Company is not aware of any uncertainties as to the legal sufficiency of an insurance
claim with respect to any recovery by the plaintiffs. Therefore, we do not expect that the Settlement Agreement
will involve any payment by the Company. If material limitations on the expected recovery of any potential
financial obligation to the plaintiffs from the Company’s insurance carriers should arise, the Company’s
maximum financial obligation to plaintiffs pursuant to the Settlement Agreement would be less than $3.4 million.
On February 15, 2005, the court granted preliminary approval of the settlement agreement, subject to certain
modifications consistent with its opinion. Those modifications were made.

On December 5, 2006, a panel of the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit'reversed the district court’s
class certification decision. On April 6, 2007, the Second Circuit panel denied plaintiffs’ petition for rehearing. In
light of the Second Circuit opinion, the issuer pames have informed the district court that the settlement
presented 1o the court cannot be approved because the'defined settlement class, like the litigation class, cannot be
cenified. We cannot predict whether the parties will be able to negotiate a revised settlement that complies with
the standards set out in the Second Circuit’s decision. Due to the inheresit uncertainties of llugauon, we cannot
accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. If the parties are not able to renegotiate a settlément and
the Company is found liable, we are unable to estimate or predlcl the potential damages that might be awarded,
whether such damages would be greater than the Cormpany’s insurance coverige, and whether such damages
would have a material impact on our results of operations or financial condition in any future period.

On April 1, 2003, a complaint was filed against the Company in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the
Southern District of New York by the creditors’ committee (the “Committee”) of 360networks (USA), inc. and
360networks services inc. (the “Debtors™). The Debtors were the subject of Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases. The
complaint seeks recovery of alleged preferential payments in the amount of approximately $16.1 million, plus
interest. The Committee alleges that the Debtors made the preferential paymenis under Section 547(b) of the
Bankruptcy Code to the Company during the 90-day period prior to the Debtors’ bankruptcy filing on account of
preexisting claims. The Company has been defending against the complaint vigorously. Trial on the complaint is
expected to be held in 2007. '

On May 31, 2006, a purported shareholder derivative action, captioned Weisler v. Barrows ("Weisler”), was
filed in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware {the “Delaware Court”), on the Company’s
behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company’s Board of Directors and certain of its current and former
officers (as amended on October 4, 2006). The plaintiff derivatively claims, among other things, violations of
Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and
breaches of fiduciary duty by the defendants in connection with the Company’s historical stock option granting
practices. The plaintiff seeks unspecified damages, profits, the return of compensation paid by the Company, an
injunction and costs and attorneys’ fees. Substantially similar actions, captioned Vanpraet v. Deshpande
(“Vanpraet™) and Patel v. Deshpande (*Patel™), were filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts on June 28. 2006 and July 13, 2006, respectively (the “Massachusetts Court™), and Ariel v,
Barrows (“Ariel”™) was filed on July 21, 2006 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New
York (the “New York Court™). None of the plaintiffs made presuit demand on the Company’s Board of Directors
prior to filing suit. By Memorandum and Order dated November 6, 2006, the Delaware Court transferred Weisler
to the District of Massachusetts. By stipulation of the parties, on November 21, 2006, the New York Court
transferred Ariel to the District of Massachusetts. By margin order dated May 24, 2007, the Massachusetts Court
consolidated Weisler, Vanpraet, Patel and Ariel {the “Federal Action™). A consolidated complaint is currently
scheduled to be filed in the Federal Action on or before July 2, 2007. These purported derivative actions do not
seek affirmative relief from the Company.
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On June 9, 2006, a purported sharcholder derivative action, captioned DeSimone v. Barrows (*DeSimone™),
was filed in the Court of Chancery for the State of Delaware, in New Castle County (the “Chancery Count™), on
the Company’s behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company’s Board of Directors and certain of its
current and former officers (as amended on August 21, 2006). The plaintiff derivatively claimed, among other
things, breaches of fiduciary duty by the defendants in connection with the Company’s historical stock option
granting practices. The plaintiff sought unspecified damages, profits, the return of compensation paid by the
Company, an injunction and costs and attorneys’ fees. The plaintiff did not make presuit demund on the
Company’s Board of Directors prior to filing suit. On September 5, 2006, all defendants filed motions to dismiss,
which were fully briefed by February 20, 2007. On March 9. 2007, the Chancery Court heard oral argument on
the motions to dismiss and, after argument, took the matter under advisement. The purported derivative action
did not seek affirmative relief from the Company. On June 7, 2007. the Chancery Court granted the defendant’s
motion to dismiss.

On September 19, 2006, an additional purported shareholder derivative action, captioned McMahon v.
Smith, was filed in the Middlesex Supenor Court for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on the Company’s
behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company’s Board of Directors and certain of its current and former
officers. The plaintiff derivatively claims, among other things, breaches of fiduciary duty by the defendants in
connection with the Company’s historical stock option granting practices, and also that certain defendants
misappropriated confidential Company information for personal profit by selling Company stock while in
possession of material, non-public information. The plaintiff seeks unspecified damages, profits, an injunction
and costs and attorneys’ fees. The plaintiff did not make presuit demand on the Company’s Board of Directors
prior to fiting suit. On February 16, 2007, the court granted the parties’ joint motion seeking a temporary stay of
proceedings. On June 1, 2007, the parties filed a joint motion seeking a continuation of that stay until such time
that the Chancery Court rules on the motions to dismiss in DeSimone. The purported derivative action does not
seek affirmative relief from the Company.

On June 29, 2006, a former employee of the Company filed a complaint in Massachusetts Superior Court
alleging, among other things, claims relating to wrongful termination of an employment agreement, fraud in the
inducement, retaliation and claims refating to certain of the Company’s stack option grant practices in 1999-
2001. The complaint demanded lost wages, unspecified monetary damages and reinstatement of medical benefits,
among other things. The case was moved to the Business Litigation Session of the Suffolk County Superior
Court and, following an oral hearing on a motion to dismiss, the case was ordered dismissed on January 24, 2007.
The plaintiff has filed a Notice of Appea) of the order and judgment.

The Company is subject to legal proceedings, claims, and litigation, including those from inteliectual
property matters, arising in the ordinary course of business. On a quarterly basis, the Company reviews its
commitments and contingencies to reflect the effect of ongeing negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of
counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. We are also subject to potential tax
liabilities associated with ongoing tax audits and examinations by various tax authorities. As a result, during the
third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company accrued $10.3 million associated with contingencies related to claims,
litigation and other disputes and tax matters. During fiscal 2006, the Company increased this accrual by $6.8
million. While we believe the totai amounts accrued are adequate, any subsequent change in our estimates will be
recorded at such time the change is probable and estimable,

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A YOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
. MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the. symbol “SCMR” since
October 22, 1999. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing sale prices as
reported on the NASDAQ Nationa! Market for Sycamore common stock, as adjusted for all stock splits.

Fiscal year 2006:
High Low
Fourth Quarter ended July 31,2006 ....... ... .. . ... iioiii $4.84 %362
Third Quarter ended April 29,2006 ...... .. ... . .. L 5.09 4.36
Second Quarter ended January 28,2006 .. ... ... i 497 3.69
First Quarter ended October 29,2005 .. ... ... .. o i 3.88 3.53
Fiscal year 2005:
High Low
Fourth Quarter ended July 31,2005 ... ... ...ttt $3.62 $3.22
Third Quarter ended April 30,2005 ....... .. 3.62 3.35
Second Quarter ended January 29,2005 ... ... . i 4.10 3.46
First Quarter ended October 30, 2004 . . .. ... . v i s 3.92 3.38

As of June 6, 2007, there were approximately 865 stockholders of record.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total stockholder return on
the Company's Common Stock during the period from the July 31, 2001 through July 31, 2006, with the
cumulative total return on the S&P 500 and the Nasdaq Telecommunications Index. The comparison assumes
$100 was invested on July 31, 2001 in the Company’s Common Stock and in each of the foregoing indices and
assumes reinvestment of dividends, if any. The performance shown is not necessarily indicative of future
performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Sycamore Networks, Inc., The S&P 500 Index
And The NASDAQ Telecommunications Index

$140

$20
$0
7/01 702 7103 Tina 7105 7108
—&— Sycamore Networks, Inc. — A~ S&P 500 - - < - - NASDAQ Telecommunications

* $100 invested on 7/31/01 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending July 31.

701 T2 703 704 TS TH6

Sycamore Networks, Inc. . ... ... ... .. .. .. .. o, 100 40 59 53 51 52
S&P 00 . . e 100 76 85 96 109 115
NASDAQ Telecommunications . . ... ....... ... .. ..t iiiinnn.. 100 50 73 92 97 90

Dividend Policy

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock or other securities. Any future
determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of the board of directors and will be dependent upon
our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business condition and such other
factors as the board of directors may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

See table and related information under Part II1, Item 12 “Equity Compensation Plan Information”.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data has been derived from our consolidated financial statements and
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and with “liem 7.—
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and other financial
data included elsewhere in this report. The historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be
expected for any future period.

See also the “Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements” Explanatory Note to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and Note 3 to “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” for more detailed information
regarding the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for the years ended July 31, 2005, 2004, 2003
and 2002,

For the years ended July 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

(as restated) (as restated) (as restated) (as restated)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

REVENUE . .« oo e oo et e e eeins $ 87395 $ 65434 $ 44547 $ 38276 3 65,174
Costofrevenue .......... .. 43,942 34,425 31,149 37,520 155.496
Gross profit{loss) ..................... 43,453 31,009 13,398 756 (90.322)
Operating expenses: ’
Research and development . .......... ... 31,377 47,969 66,250 74,937 145,271
Sales and marketing ................... 11,690 12,214 19,991 23,771 55,411
General and administrative’ .. ............ 11,634 10,366 11,337 15,300 17,310
Litigation settlement .. ................. 750 —_ — —_ - —
Reserve for contingencies ............... 6.847 10,282 — — —
Restructuring charges and related asset :
impairments . ... ... 0o - — 679 —_ (4,447 124,990
Total operating expenses . ........... 62,298 81,510 97,578 109,561 342,982
Loss fromoperations .. ..................... (18,845  (50,501) (84,180)  (108,805) (433,304)
Lossesoninvestments ...............cc.0v... — — — — {24,845)
Interest and other income, net .. .............. 39063 20,648 15,800 23,342 40,027
Income (loss) before income taxes ............ 20,218 (29',853) ' (68,2900 (85,463) (418,122)
Income taxexpense ....... ... ..., ’ 830 63 — — e
Netincome (J0SS) ..........cciiiririnennn.. $ 19,388 $(29,916) $(68,290) $ (85,463) $(418,122)
Basic net income (loss) pershare ............. $ 007 % (011 % 02% & (032§ (164
Diluted net income (loss) per share . ........... $ 007 $ (@i $ (025 % (032) $ (l64)
Shares used in per-share calculation—basic . . ... 277,782 275,023 272,123 265,702 254,663

Shares used in per-share calculation—diluted ... 281,205 275,023 272,123 265,702 254,663

As ufJuiy 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
{(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments L. $ 985,137 $955,035 $961,325 $ 995,583 $1,043,545

Working capital ... ... .. ... ... S 828,858 931,246 511,662 583,877 587,788

Total assets ... ... 1,018,052 982,063 990,918 1,032,628 1,118,575

Total stockholders" equity .................. $ 975,706 $939,545 $955440 $ 992,515 $1.037,730
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with “ltem 6.—Selected Financial
Data” and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this report.
Except for the historical information contained herein, we wish to caution you that certain matters discussed in
this report constitute forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could
differ materially from those stated or implied in forward-looking statements due to a number of factors,
including, without limitation, those risks and uncertainties discussed under the heading “Itern 1A.—Factors That
May Affect Future Results” contained in this Form 10-K and any other reports filed by us from time to time with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future results or otherwise. Forward-looking
statements include statements regarding our expectations, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future and
can be identified by forward-looking words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “may,” “should,” **will,” and “would” or similar words.

Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

On September 19, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of Sycamore’s
management, concluded that the Company’s previously issued financial statements for the fiscal years ended
July 31, 2005 and July 31, 2004 and related disclosures should be restated to reflect the effects of additional
non-cash stock compensation expense resulting from the findings of an independent investigation into the
Company’s stock option accounting that was conducted under the direction of the Audit Committee of our Board
of Directors. The 2006 Restatement in this 2006 Form 10-K also reflects the restatement of *Selected
Consolidated Financial Data” in Item 6 as of and for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
The investigation concluded that the appropriate measurement dates for a significant number of stock option
grants differ from the originally recorded grant dates of such awards. Accordingly, we are restating our financial
statements for certain prior periods to record additional non-cash stock compensation expense of approximately
$215.3 million. The following discussion and analysis has been amended to reflect the restatement described
above in the “Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements”, Explanatory Note to this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and in Note 3. “Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements™ in “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements”. For this reason, the data set forth in this section may not be comparable to discussions and
data in our previously filed Annual Reports on Form 10-K.

Executive Summary

We develop and market optical networking products and provide services associated with such products for
telecommunications service providers worldwide, Our current and prospective customers include domestic and
international wireline and wireless network service providers and government entities with private fiber networks
(collectively referred to as “service providers”). Qur optical networking product portfolio includes fully
integrated edge-to-core optical switching products, network management products and design and planning tools.
We believe that our products enable network operators to efficiently and cost-effectively provision and manage
optical network capacity 1o support a wide range of voice, video and data services.

Our business has been significantly impacted by the decline in the telecommunications industry which
began in 2001 and continued for several years. This decline and the resulting spending constraints by service
providers in the optical networking market, caused a decrease in the demand for our products which had an
adverse impact on our revenue and profitability. Spending constraints in the optical networking market continued
to ease modestly as service providers responded to increased market demand for broadband network services.
Drivers for this demand include broadband internet access, high-speed wireless applications and other high
bandwidth-intensive communications requirements. As a result, our revenues increased over the past two fiscal
years as we met capacity expansion requirements for existing customers and introduced our products and
services to new customers.

Total revenue for fiscal 2006 was $87.4 million, an increase of 34% compared to fiscal 2005. Total revenue
for fiscal 2005 was $65.4 million, an increase of 47% compared to fiscal 2004, Qur net income for fiscal 2006 was
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$19.4 million compared to a net loss for fiscal 2005 of $29.9 million. We continue to maintain a significant cost
structure, relative 1o our revenue, particularly within the research and development organization. We believe that
these investments have enabled us to advance our technology and secure new business. While our fiscal 2006
operating results improved, we expect that market conditions will remain challenging and we anticipate that we
will continue to generate operating losses for at least the next fiscal year.

As we remain focused on improvements in our business, our management and Board of Directors will
continue to consider strategic options that may serve to maximize shareholder value. These options include
acquiring or making strategic investments in companies with either complementary technologies or in adjacent
markets to add complementary products and services, expand the markets we serve and diversify our customer
base. ‘

On September 6, 2006, we acquired Eastern Research, Inc., an innovative provider of network access
solutions for fixed line and mobile network operators worldwide. We believe that the addition of Eastern
Research’s products, technology and talent positions us to diversify and increase our customer base. expand our
addressable markets, and broaden our customer offerings.

Our total cash, cash equivalents and investments were $985.1 million at July 31, 2006, Included in this
amount were cash and cash equivalents of $169.8 million. We intend to fund our operations, including fixed
commitments under operating leases, and any required capital expenditures over the next few years using our
existing cash, cash equivalents and investments. We believe that, based on our business plans and current
conditions, our existing cash, cash equivalents and investments wiil be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash
requirements for the next twelve months. We also believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and investments
will enable us to pursue the strategic options discussed above.

As of July 31, 2006, Sycamore and its subsidiaries employed approximately 246 persons, which was a net
reduction of 30 persons from the approximately 276 persons employed on July 31, 2005.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of these financial statements and related disclosures in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make
judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets. liabilities, revenue and expenses
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

We believe that the following critical accounting policies affect the most significant judgments, assumptions
and estimates we use in preparing our consolidated financial statements. Changes in these estimates can affect
materially the amount of our reported net income or loss.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred. the fee is
fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. The most significant revenue recognition
judgments typically involve customer acceptance, whether collection is reasonably assured and multiple element
arrangements. In instances where customer acceptance is specified, revenue is deferred until all acceptance
crteria have been met. We determine collectibility based on creditworthiness of the customer and customer’s
payment history. Service revenue is recognized as the services are performed or ratably over the service period.
Some of our transactions involve the sale of products and services under multiple element arrangements. While
each individual transaction varies according to the terms of the purchase order or sales agreement, a typical
multiple element arrangement may include some or all of the following components: product shipments,
installation services, maintenance and training. The total sales price is allocated based on the relative fair value of
each component, which generally is the price charged for each component when sold separately and recognized
when revenue recognition criteria for each element is met.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on our assessment of the collectibility of specific customer
accounts. In the event that we become aware of deterioration in a particular customer’s financial condition, a
review is performed to determine if additional provisions for doubtful accounts are required.

Warranty Obligations

We accrue for warranty costs at the time revenue is recognized based on contractual rights and on the
historical rate of claims and costs to provide warranty services. If we experience an increase in warranty claims
above historical experience or our costs to provide warranty services increase, we may be required to increase
our warranty accrual. An increase in the warranty accrual will have an adverse impact on our gross margin,

Inventory Allowance

We continuously monitor inventory balances and record inventory allowances for any excess of the cost of
the inventory over its estimated market value, based on assumptions about future demand and market conditions.
While such assumptions may change from period to period, we measure the net realizable value of inventories
using the best information available as of the balance sheet date. If actual market conditions are less favorable
than those projected, or we experience a higher incidence of inventory obsolescence because of rapidly changing
technology and customer requirements, additional inventory allowances may be required. Once we have writlen
down inventory to its estimated net realizable value, we cannot increase its carrying value due to subsequent
changes in demand forecasts. Accordingly, if inventory previously written down to its net realizable value is
subsequently sold, we may realize improved gross profit margins on these transactions.

Stock Based Compensation Expense

On August 1. 2005, we adopted SFAS 123R, which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors based on estimated
fair values. We have estimated the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using the Black
Scholes pricing medel, which is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of
complex and subjective variables. These variables include our expected stock price volatility over the term of the
awards, actual and projected employee option exercise behaviors, risk free interest rate and expected dividends,
We are also required to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods
if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Reserve for Contingencies

We are subject to various claims, litigation and other disputes, as well as potential liabilities associated with
various tax matters. Periodically, we review the status of each significant matter and assess our potential financial
exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is considered probable and the amount can be
estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimated loss. Because of uncertainties related to these matters, accruals,
if any, are based only on the most current and dependable information available at any given time. As additional
information becomes available, we may reassess the potential liability from pending claims and litigation and the
probability of claims being successfully asserted against us. As a result, we may revise our estimates related to
these pending claims, litigation and other disputes and potential liabilities associated with various tax matters.
Such revisions in the estimates of the potential liabilities could have a material impact on our consolidated results
of operations, financial position and cash flows in the future.

34




Results of Operations
Fiscal Years ended July 31, 2006 and 2005
Revenue

* The following table presents product and service revenue (in thousands, excepl percentages):

Year Ended July 3, yoiance  Variance
2006 2005 in Dollars  in Percent

Revenue ’
PrOdUCE . .. e e $68,558 $49.922 $18,636 31.3%
Y Y 1= U 18,837 15,512 3,325 21_.4%
Total TEVENIE . ..o e $87.395 $65,434 521,961 zi._ﬁ%

Total revenue increased in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. The increase was due to an increase in both
product revenue and service revenue. Product revenue consists primarily of sales of our optical networking
products including the SN 3000 and SN 16000 optical switching platforms. Product revenue increased in fiscal
2006 compared to fiscal 2005. The increase was primarily due to a higher level of orders from our existing
customers to increase the capacity of their networks. Service revenue consists primarily of fees for services
relating to the maintenance of our products, installation services and trammg Service revenue increased in fiscal
2006 compared to fiscal 2005, The increase was primarily due to a higher level of maintenance renewal
contracts.

For fiscal 2006, three customers accounted for 43%, 26% and 19% of revenue or 88% of our total revenue.
Four customers accounted for 36%, 24%, 12% and 11% of revenue in fiscal 2005 or 83% of our total revenue.
International revenue represented 67% of revenue in fiscal 2006, compared to 63% of revenue in fiscal 2005. We
expect future revenue to continue to be highly concentrated in a relatively small number of customers and that
international revenue ‘may continue to represent a significant percentage of future revenue. Customer
deployments in any given quarter may cause significant shifts in the percentage mix of domestic and
international revenue. The loss of any one of these customers or any substantial reduction in orders by any one of
these customers could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Gross profit

~ The following table presents gross profit for product and services, including non-cash stock-based
compensation expense (in thousands, excepl percentages):

Year Ended July 31,

2006 2005
{as restated)
. Gross profit:
ProdUct . . e e e $33,372 $23,782
S BIVICE .. o e e 10,081 1,227
10 7+ 1 $43,453 $31,009
Gross profit:
ProdUCt ..o o e e e 48.7% 47.6%
Service ... e e 53.5% 46.6%
Total ..o e e e 49.7% 47.4%
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Product gross profit

Cost of product revenue consists primarily of amounts paid to third-party contract manufacturers for
purchased materials and services and other fixed manufacturing costs. Product gross profit percentage increased
slightly in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. The increase was primarily the resuit of a more favorable product
and customer mix and cost efficiencies associated with increased product revenue. In the future, we believe that
product gross profit may be affected by changes in the mix of products sold, channels of distribution used,
shipment volume, overhead absorption, sales discounts, increases in material or labor costs, excess inventory and
obsolescence charges or credits, increases in component pricing, product redesigns, the introduction of new
products or product features or entering new markets with different pricing and cost structures. In addition,
product gross profit may fluctuate due to pricing pressures resulting from intense competition for limited optical
switching opportunities worldwide.

Service gross profit

Cost of service revenue consists primarily of costs of providing services under customer service contracts
which include salaries and related expenses and other fixed costs. Service gross profit increased in fiscal 2006
compared to fiscal 2005. The increase was primarily due to reduced fixed support costs and lower persotnel-
related expenses and higher revenue levels. Service gross profit may be affected in future periods by various
factors such as the change in mix between technical support services and advanced services, as well as the timing
of technical support service contract initiations and renewals,

Operating Expenses

The following table presents operating expenses (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended July 31, Variance  Variance
2006 2005 in Dollars  in Percent
(as restated)
Researchand development ............. ... ................ $31,377 $47969  $(16,592) (34.6%)
Salesand marketing ........ .. ..o i i e 11,690 12.214 (524) (4.3%)
General and administrative . ... ... ...ttt 11,634 10,366 1,268 12.2%
Litigation settlement . ... ... .. ... .. . .. ... .. 750 — 750 —
Reserve for contingencies ............. ... coiiiiinnon... 6,847 10.282 (3.435) (33.4%)
Restructuring charges and related asset impairments .. .......... — 679 (679)  (100%)
Total operating eXpenses ... ........vouurrirrnnnnennnn. $62,208  S$81,510 $(19.212) (23.6%)

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses and prototype costs
relating to design, development, testing and enhancements of our products. Research and development expenses
decreased in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. The decrease was primarily due to lower personnel-related
expenses and to a lesser degree lower stock-based compensation expense, reduced fixed overhead costs and
lower project related costs.

Sates and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions and related expenses, customer
evaluations inventory and other sales and marketing support expenses. Sales and marketing expenses decreased
in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005, The slight decrease was primarily due to lower personnel-related
expenses and to a lesser degree a reduction in the cost of evaluation equipment and reduced fixed overhead costs.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for executive, finance
and administrative personnel, professional fees and other general corporate expenses. Genera! and administrative
expenses increased in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005, The increase was primarily due to costs of
approximately $3.8 million associated with the stock option investigation and to a lesser exlent an increase in
stock-based compensation, partially offset by lower personnel-related expenses.

Reserve for Contingencies

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company accrued $10.3 million associated with contingencies
related to claims, litigation and other disputes, as well as potential liabilities associated with various tax matters.
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company increased this accrual by $6.8 million. In accordance with
SFAS No. 5, a liability is recorded when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of
the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company reviews the need for any such provision on a guarterly basis
and records any necessary adjustments to reflect the effect of ongoing negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice
of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case in the period they become
known. We are also subject to tax audits by various tax authorities. Management has recorded its best estimate of
the probable liability resulting from these audits as of July 31, 2006. While we believe that the amounts accrued
are adequate, any subsequent change in our estimates will be recorded at such time the change is probable and
estimable.

Restructuring Charges and Related Asset Impairments

During the third quarter of fiscat 2005, the Company reduced its workforce by approximaiely 20 employees
as a result of the rationalization of certain R&D initiatives. The Company recorded a restructuring charge of $0.7
million that was comprised of expenses related to the workforce reduction and contract termination costs. As a
result, the Company wrote down 30.2 million of certain development assets to their fair value based on the
expected discounted cash flows they would generate over their remaining economic life. As of July 31, 2006, we
had $2.3 million in accrued restructuring costs, consisting primarily of facility consolidation charges that will be
paid over the respective lease terms through 2007.

Interest and Other Income, Net

The following table presents interest and other income, net {in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended July 31, Variance  Variance
2006 2005 in Dollars  in Percent

Interest and other income, net .. ........... ... ... .. $39,063 $20,648 $13415 89.2%

Interest and other income, net increased for fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005, The increase was primarily
due to higher interest rates. :

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes of $0.8 million for fiscal 2006 was recorded for alternative minimum tax
and taxes due on income generated in foreign tax jurisdictions and certain states. We did not record any net tax
benefits relating to our net losses due to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of these future tax benefits.
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Fiscal Years ended July 31, 2005 and 2004
Revenue

The foliowing table presents product and service revenue (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended July 31, Variance  Variance
2005 ¢ 2004 in Dollars  in Percent

Revenue
Product . . o e e e $49,922 $32,729 $17,193 52.5%
BIVICE L. e e 15,512 11,818 3,694 §I_.3_%

Total TEVEIMUE .« o ottt e it e e et it et aeianans $65,434 $44,547 $20,887 16._9%

Total revenue increased in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The increase was due to an increase in both
product revenue and service revenue. Product revenue increased in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The
increase was primarily due to existing customers increasing the capacity of their networks and product sales to
new customers. Service revenue increased in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily
due to a higher level of maintenance contracts and a higher level of installation services associated with product
deployments.

For fiscal 2005, four customers accounted for 36%, 24%, 12% and 11% of revenue or 83% of our total
revenue. Four customers accounted for 41%, 27%, 13% and 13% of revenue in fiscal 2004 or 94% of our total
revenue. International revenue represented 63% of revenue in fiscal 2005, compared to 59% of revenue in fiscal
2004.

Gross profit

The following table 'presents gross profit for product and services, including non-cash stock-based
compensation expense (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended July 31,
2005 2004
(as restated) (as restated)

Gross profit:

Product ..o e e $23.782 $10,483

SEIVICE ottt e e 7,227 2915
Total . . oo e $31,009 $13,398

Gross profit: 7

ProdUCt . . o e e e 47.6% 32.0%

BIVICE . .ttt e e e 46.6% 24.7%
TOL .+ e e et e e 47.4% 30.1%

Product gross profit

Product gross profit increased in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily the result
of a favorable product and customer mix and cost efficiencies associated with increased product revenue.

Service gross profit

Service gross profit increased in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The increase was primanly due to
reduced fixed support costs and lower personnel-related expenses and higher revenue levels.
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Operating Expenses

The following table presents operating expenses (in thousands, except percentages):

e Year Ended July 31,

Variance Variance
o 2005 2004 in Dollars in Percent
) . . (as restated) (asrestated) (as restated) (as restated)
Research and development .. .. ..... e $47.969 $66,250  3$(18,281) (27.6%)
Sales and marketing .. ... e .. 12,214 19,991 (7,77 (38.9%)
General and administrative ......... . L.l 10366 0 11,337 971)  (8.6%)
Reserve for contingencies .................coveuninnn. 10,282 — 10282  —
Restructuring charges and related asset impairments ....... 679 — 679 —

Total operating exXpenses . ...............c..oevuens. $81,510  $97.578  $(16,068)  (16.5%)

H

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses decreased in fiscal 2005 compared to ﬁscal 2004. The decrease was
primarily due to lower stock-based compensation expense, reduced fixed overhead costs and lower: project
related costs partially offset by higher personnel-related expenses.

[
-

Sales and Marketing Expenses

T

. ) ' - o . ' t R ’
Sales and marketing expenses decreased in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The decrease was primarily
due to lower personnel-related expenses, lower stock- based compensauon expense, a reduction in the cost of
evaluation equipment and reduced fixed overhead costs. S o

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The decrease was
primarily due to lower stock-based compensation expense and lower personnel-related expenses partially offset
by costs associated with the 2005 stock option investigation; and increased expenses resulting from activities
required to meet the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Reserve for Contingencies " o '

N v

During the third quarter of fi scal 2005, the Company accrued $10 3 mtlhon assomated with commgenmee
related to claims, litigation and other disputes, as well as potential liabilities associated with various tax matters.
Restructuring Charges and Related Asset Impairments '

Duririg the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company reduced its workforce by approximately 20 employeeé
as a result of the rationalization of certain R&D initiatives. The Company recorded a restructuring charge of $0,7
million that was comprised of expenses related to the workforce reduction and contract termination costs. As a
result of the third quarter fiscal 2005 restructuring, the Company wrote down $0.2 million of certain development
assets to their fair value based on the expected discounted cash flows they would generate over their- remaining
economic life.

39




Interest and Other Income, Net

The following table presents interest and other income, net (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended July 31, Variance  Variance
2005 2004 in Dollars  in Percent

Interést and other income, net ....... e $20,648 $15890 $4,758 29.9%

Interest and other income, net increased for fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The increase was due to
higher interest rates.

T

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes of $0.1 million for fiscal 2005 was recorded for taxes due on income
generated in foreign tax jurisdictions and certain states. We did not record any net tax benefits relating to our net
losses due to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of these future tax benefits.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Year Ended July 31, 2006

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments were $985.1 million at July 31, 2006. Included in this amount
were cash and cash equivalents of $169.8 million, compared to $508.3 million at July 31, 2005. The decrease in
cash and cash equivalents of $338.5 million was attributable to cash used in investing activities of $372.7
million, partially offset by cash provided by operating activities of $23.9 million and cash provided by financing
activities of $10.4 million.

Net cash used in investing activities was $372.7 million and consisted primarily of net purchases of
investments and to a lesser degree purchases of property and equipment and acquisition related costs.

Net cash generated by operating activities was $23.9 million. Net income was $19.4 million and included
significant non-cash charges including depreciation and amortization of $3.8 million and stock-based
compensation of $6.0 million. Accounts receivable increased to $14.1 million at July 31, 2006 from $8.4 million
at July 31, 2005. Days sales outstanding as of July 31, 2006 was 80 days and days sales outstanding as of July 31,
2005 was 42 days. Our accounts receivable and days sales outstanding are impacted primarily by the timing of
shipments, collections performance and timing of support contract renewals. Inventory levels increased to $6.0
million at July 31, 2006 from $5.4 million at July 31, 2005. We continue to manage our inventory levels and the
increase was primarily due to the timing of receipts. Deferred revenue decreased to $9.5 million at July 31, 2006
from $10.3 million at July 31, 2005. The change in deferred revenue is due to the timing of maintenance contract
renewals and the ongoing amortization of deferred maintenance revenue. Accounts payable increased to $3.7
million at July 31, 2006 from $2.1 million at July 31, 2005. Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
increaséd to $24.9 million at July 31, 2006 from $21.6 million at July 31, 2005. The increase is primarily due to
the increase in the reserve for contingencies of $6.7 million partially offset by decreases in accrued compensation
and accrued expenses. Accrued restructuring costs decreased to $2.3 million at July 31, 2006 from $8.5 million at
July 31, 2005. The decrease was due to an early lease termination option exercised in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2006, resulting in a cash payment of approximately $3.2 mitlion'and ongoing lease payments under that lease.

For the year ended July 31, 2006, net cash provided by financing activities was $10.4 million and consisted
of proceeds from employee stock plan activity.

Qur primary source of liquidity comes from our cash and investments, which totaled $985.1 million at

July 31, 2006. Qur investments are classified as available-for-sale and consist of securities that are readily
convertible to cash, including certificates of deposits, commercial paper and government securities. At July 31,
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2006, $674.5 million of investmenis with maturities of. less than one year were classified as short-term
investments, and $140.8 million of investments with maturities of greater than one year were classified as long-
term investments. Based on our current expectations, we anticipate that some portion of our existing cash and
cash equivalents and investments may be consumed by operations. Qur accounts receivable, while not considered
a primary source of liquidity, represents a concentration of credit risk because the accounts receivable balance at
any point in time typically consists of a relatively small number of customer account balances. At July 31, 2006,
more than 94% of our accounts receivable balance was attributable to three customers. As of July 31, 2006, we
do not have any outstanding debt or credit facilities, and do not anticipate entering into any debt or credit
agreements in the foreseeable future. Qur fixed commitments for cash expenditures consist primarily of
payments under operating leases and inventory purchase commitments. We do not currently have any material
commitments for capital expenditures, or any other material commitments aside from operating leases for our
facilities and inventory purchase commitments. We currently intend to fund our operations, including our fixed
commitments under operating leases, and any required capital expenditures using our existing cash, cash
equivalents and investments, ' '

As of July 31, 2006, the future restructuring cash payments of $2.3 million consist primarily of facility
consolidation charges that will be paid over the respective lease terms through fiscal 2007 and potential legal
matters.

Based on our current plans and business conditions, we believe that our existing cash and investments will
be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requirements for at least the next twelve months. We will continue to
consider appropriate action with respect to our cash position in light of the present and anticipated business needs
as well as providing a means by which our shareholders may realize value in connection with their investment.

’

Year Ended July 31, 2005

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments were $955.0 million at July 31, 2005. Included in this amount
were cash and cash equivalents of $508.3 million, compared to $45.4 million at July 31, 2004. The increase in
cash and cash equivalents of $462.9 million was attributable to cash provided by investing activities of $466.6
million and cash provided by financing activities of $5.1 million, partially offset by cash used in operating
activities of $8.9 million.

Cash provided by investing activities of $466.6 million consisted primarily of net proceeds of investments
of $469.5 million. Cash provided by financing activities of $5.1 million consisted of the proceeds received from
employee stock plan activity. Cash used in operating activities of $8.9 million consisted of the net loss for the
period of $29.9 million, adjusted for net non-cash charges totaling $12.7 million and changes in working capital
totaling $8.3 million. The most significant changes in working capital were an increase in accrued expenses and
other current liabilities of $11.9 million which resulted primarily from our $10.3 million reserve for
contingencies, a decrease in accrued restructuring costs of $3.6 million resulting from payments on restructured
facilities and a decrease in accounts payable of $3.5 million primarily due to timing of payments. Net non-cash
charges included depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation and restructuring charges and related
asset impairments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements -

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 151 (“SFAS 151", Inventory Costs, which clarifies the accounting for abnormal
amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material. SFAS 151 will be effective for
inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of this statement did not
have a material impact on our financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”)". SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including
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grants of employee stock options, to be recognized as compensation expense in the consolidated financial
statements based on their fair values, The adoption of SFAS 123R on August 1, 2005 had a material impact on
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and statements of cash flows. For more information see
Footnote 9, Share-Based Compensation to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 28 and FASB Statement No. 3”7 ("SFAS
154"). SFAS 154 provides guidance on the accounting for, and reporting of, a change in accounting principle, in
the absence of explicit transition requirements specific 10 a newly adopted accounting principle. The adoption of
this statement did not have a matertal impact on our financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 487), “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109”. FIN 48 specifies how tax benefits for uncertain
tax positions are to be recognized, measured, and derecognized in financial statements; requires certain
disclosures of uncertain tax matters; specifies how reserves for uncertain tax positions should be classified on the
balance sheet; and provides transition and interim period guidance, among other provisions. FIN 48 is effective
for fiscal years beginaing after December 15, 2006 and as a result, is effective for the Company in the first
quarter of fiscal 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of FIN 48 on its consolidated
financial statements.

Commitments, Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At July 31, 2006, our future contractual obligations, which consist of contractual commitments for operating
leases and inventory and other purchase commitments, were as follows (in thousands):

Less than 1-3 3.5
Total 1 Year Years Years

Operating leases . ..., $3.003 §3093 — —
Inventory and other purchase commitments . .............. 13,568 13,568~ — —
Tola] .o e e $16,66l $]6,66l — —

Payments made under operating leases will be treated as rent expense for the facilities currently being
utilized, or as a reduction of the restructuring liability for payments relating to excess facilities. Payments made
for inventory purchase commitments will initially be capitalized as inventory, and will then be recorded as cost
of revenue as the inventory is sold or otherwise disposed of.

Related Party Transactions

In July 2000, we made an investment of $2.2 million in Tejas Networks India Private Limited (“Tejas”).
The Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sycamore also serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Tejas. An executive officer of our Company also serves as a board member of Tejas. We have no obligation to
provide any additional funding to Tejas. During the fiscal years ended July 31, 2006 and 2003, we recognized
revenue of $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively, relating to transactions with Tejas. During the fiscal year
ended July 31, 2004, we did not engage in any material transactions with Tejas.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Sensitivity

The primary objective of our current investment activities is to preserve investment principal while
maximizing income without significantly increasing risk. We maintain a portfolio of cash equivalents and short-
term and long-term investments in a variety of securities including commercial paper, certificates of deposit,
money market funds and government debt securities. These available-for-sale investments are subject to interest
rate risk and may fall in value if market interest rates increase. If market interest rates increased immediately and
uniformly by 10 percent from levels at July 31, 2006, the fair value of the portfolio would decline by
approximately $1.9 million. Depending on the outcome of our review of strategic and financial alternatives, we
may not hold ocur investments to maturity and as a result, may realize a gain or loss.

Exchange Rate Sensitivity

While the majority of our operations are based in the United States, our business includes sales globally.
with international revenue representing 67% of total revenue in fiscal 2006. To the extent that international sales
represent a significant portion of our revenue, fluctuations in foreign currencies may have an impact on our
financial results, To date the impact has not been material. We are prepared to hedge against fluctuations in
foreign currencies if the exposure is material, although we have not engaged in hedging activities to date.
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Report of Independent Reglstered Puhllc Accountmg Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholclers of
Sycamore Networks, Inc.: . .

We have completed integrated audits of Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s 2006 and 2005 consolidated financial
statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as -of July 31, 2006, and an audit of its 2004
consolidated financial statements in accorddnce with the staridards of the Public Company Accountmg Ovemlght
Board (Umted States). Qur opinions, based on our audits, are presented below :

[l
'

Consolzdared financial statements

In our opinion, the consolldated ﬁnancnal statements hsted in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Sycamore Networks, Inc. and its subsidiaries at July 31, 2006 and
2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
July 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation,
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which
it accounts for stock-based compensation in 2006.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated its financial
statements as of and for the years ended July 31, 2005 and 2004,

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Repont on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of July 31, 2006 based on criteria established in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ), is fairly stated, in
all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on
management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {(United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provndes a reasonable basis
for our opinions.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reascnable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
June 21, 2007
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SYCAMORE.NETWOQORKS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
-(in thousands, except par value)

July 31, July 31,
oy 2006 2005
A o {as restated)
ST ASSETS

Current assets:

Cashrand cashequivalents :......... . ... .. i iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiianan, $ 169,820 § 508,281
-Short-term INVestments - . . .. ...ttt e e e 674,518 446,258

. Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,132 at
July 31,2006 and July 31,2005 .................. LR 14,090 8,384
INVEDIOTIES ... ittt e e e 6,013 5,445
' Prepaids and other current ASSELS - ..t 4,184 " 3,812

Total current assets . ........ e 868,625 972,180

Property and equipment, net . ... ... .. e e L ' 7,824 8.437

Long-term inVestments . ... ..ot u ittt e e, 140,799 496

ORI ASSES . . L ettt e e e e 304 950

Total assets ............ e e e $ 1,018,052 $ 982,063

LIABILITIES A;ND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY '

Current liabilities: ’ .
Accounts payable . ... ... 3 5,695 $ 2,144
Accrued compensation ........ e e e . '1,362 3,640
Accrued warranty ........................ [P © 15136 1,654

_ Accrued expenses . .. .. e e 3,788 4,209
- Accrued restructuring costs, . . . ... e e e e 2,280 8,455
Reserve for contingencies . . . . .. e e e e 16,974 10,282
Deferredrevenue ............. . ..iiiiiuiiiiiii i _ 6918 8,700
Other current liabilities " ." ... ... .. ... ... i © 1614 1,850

Total current liabilities ... ... T e e 39,767 40,934

Long termdeferred revenue . ... ... ... ... ittt 2,579 1,584

Total Habilities ... ...... ... i 42,346 42,518

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 6 and 13) .

Stockholders’ equity: : .

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized, none issued and ) o

outstanding at July 31, 2006 and July 31,2005 . ........ ... ... ... . ... — —
Common stock, $.001 par value; 2,500,000 shares authorized, 278,902 and 276,046
shares issued at July 31, 2006 and July 31, 2005 respectively . ................ 279 276

Additional paid-incapital . ...... .. .. ... e 2,011,147 1,995,735

Accumulated deficit ... ... . . e (1,034,464) (1,053,852)

Deferred compensation . .. .. ... ... e — (208)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss .. ... ... .. ... ... ... . ... {1,256) (2,4006)

Total stockholders’ equity ....... ... 975,706 939,545

Total liabilities and stockholders  equity .................... .. ... ... ... $ 1,018,052 § 982,063

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SYCAMORE NETWORKS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended jJuly 31,
2006 2005 2004
(as restated) (as restated)
Revenue :
ProdUCE ottt e e e et $ 68,558 § 49,922 § 32,729
Service ....... P 18,837 15,512 11,818
TOtal FEVEIUE . o\ vttt et e ettt r e e e 87,395 65,434 44,547
Cost of revenue
ProdUCE ... e e e 35,186 26,140 22,246
B IVICE .. i e e et 8,756 8,285 8,903
Total cost of revenue . .. .. .. ... . ittt it 43,942 34,425 31,149
Grossprofil . ..o e e e 43.453 31,009 13,398
Operating expenses:
Research and development ....... ... ... .. oo it 31,377 47,969 66,250
Sales and marketing ............. .. i i PR 11,690 12,214 19,991
General and administralive . ... vt e i e e e e 11,634 10,366 11,337
Litigation settlement ... ... ... . ... ... . i e 750 — —_
Reserve for contingencies . ... ... ... . i i i e 6,847 10,282 —
Restructuring charges and related asset impairments ... ................ — 679 —
Total operating eXpenses ............cc.vinvrninarnnaenaas 62,298 81,510 97.578
Loss fromoperations . .. .. .. ... it e (18,845  (50,501) (84,180)
Interest and other inCome, MEL . . ... . it it e et ne s 39,063 20,648 15,890
Income (loss) before incComMe taxes . ... .. .ot ennererennennnus.- 20,218 (29,853) (68,290)
INCOME LAX EXPEINSE . o oo v ittt it imstn e e ia e eaa e 830 63 —_
Net income (1058) . ...ttt e i e e 3 19,388 $(29916) $(68,290)
Net income (loss) per shares:
BaSIC ot e e $ 007 § (1) $ (025
DiHlUted . oot e e e $§ 007 § (0.11) § (0.29)
Weighted average shares outstanding:
BaSiC it e e 277,782 275,023 272,123
Dituted ... et e 281,205 275,023 272,123

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SYCAMORE NETWORKS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
{in thousands)

Accumulated
COlher STmil
Additional ompre- tock-
_Common Stock AU umulated  Deferred  IreasuryStock  ERELT N ers
Shares Amount  Capital Deficit Compensation Shares Amount Income (Loss) Equity
' (as restated) (as restated) (as restated)
Balance, July 31,2003 ....... 272,099 §272 $1.985626 3 (955,646) $(39.518) 147 $(1D $1,792 $992.515
Netloss ...coovviiiivnnnn.n — — — (68,290} — —_ —_ —_ (68.290)
Unrealized loss on
investments .............. - — — — — — — (4,536) {4.536)
Total comprehensive loss .. .. . (72.826)
Treasury stock purchases ..... — — — — — 289 (25) — (25)
Treasury stock retirements . . . . 436) — (36) — — (436} 36 — —_
Issuance of common stock
under employee and director
stockplans .............. 2224 2 6,621 — — — e — 6,623
Deferred compensation expense
associated with equity
awards ... ... — — 212 — (212) — — — —
Stock-based compensation '
EXPENSE ..\ vvvrr i — — 671 — 28,482 — — — 29,153
Adjustments to deferred
compensation for terminated
employees ............... — — (3,280) — 3,280 e — — —
Batance, July 31,2004 . ...... 273,887 274 1,989,814 (1,023,936) (7.968) — — (2.744) 955,440
Netloss .......ooovnivunnn —_ —_ —_ (29.916) —_ —_ — — (29.916)
Unrealized gain on :
investments . ............. — — — — — — — 338 338
Total comprehensive loss ... .. (29.578)
Treasury stock purchases ..... —_ — — — — 4 - — — -
Treasury stock retirements . . . . (t4) — — — —_ (14) - — —
Issuance of common stock
under employee and director
stockplans .............. 2173 2 5,956 — — — — — 5.958
Deferred compensation expense
associated with equity
awards .. ... o0 —_ — — — —_ — — — —
Stock-based compensation
EXPEMSE .. ... ... ...l — — 366 — 7,359 — — — 7,725
Adjustments to deferred
compensation for terminated
employees . .......... ..., — — (401) — 401 — —_ _ —_
Batance, July 31,2005 ....... 276,046 276 1,995,735 (1,053.852) (208) — — (2.406) 939,545
Netincome ................ — — — 19.388 — — — — 19.388
Unrealized gain on investments,
netoftaxof $49 .......... _ _ — — -, _ — 1,150 1,150
Total comprehensive income . . 20,538
[ssuance of common stock
under employee and director
stockplans . ............. 2,856 3 9,575 — — — — -— 9.578
Stock-based compensation
EXPENSE ... ..ot — — 6,045 — — — — — 6,045
Adjustments to deferred
compensation for the
adoption of SFAS 123R .. .. — -— (208) — 208 — —_ —_ —_
Balance, July 31,2006 ....... 278,902  $279  $2,011.147  5(1,034.464) 5 — - $— $(1.256)  $975.706

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SYCAMORE NETWORKS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2605 2004
(as restated) (as restated)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Netincome (10SS) ... ... it it r i ianenn, $ 19388 § (29,916) $ (68.290)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
{used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ....................cc0... 3,802 4,790 12,470
Stock-based compensation ............ ... ... 6,045 7.725 29,153
Adjustments to provisions for excess and obsolete
TR T 31 o oy (678) —_ —_
Loss on disposal of equipment .. ........................ 200 — —
Restructuring charges and related asset impairments ........ —_ 169 —
Provision for doubtful accounts . ........................ — — (52)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accountsteceivable ... ... .. e (5,706) 2,221 216
IVeNtOMIES .. ... i e e e 813 (1,533) (2,029)
Prepaids and other current assets ........................ 246 611 69
Deferredrevenue ... ... ... i (787 2,132 5475
Accountspayable ...... ... .. ... i 3,551 (3,458) 2,127
Accrued expenses and other liabilities .................... 3,190 11,916 (5,156)
Accrued restructuring costs . ...... . oo (6,175) (3,550) (7,081)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities .................. 23,889 (8,893)  (33,098)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment .................... (4,093) (3,587 (4,448)
ACqUISTION COSES . ...t e (1,438) — —
Purchases of investments .............................. (1,261,597) (215,361) (896,609)
Maturities of investments . ... it 894,233 634,840 774,040
Decrease inotherassets ............ ... iiriiuiiiennns 146 714 1,226
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .................. 372,749y 466,606  (125,791)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ............. 10,399 5,138 6,623
Purchase of treasury stock .................... e — — (25)
Net cash provided by financing activities ......................... 10,399 5,138 6,598
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ................ (338.461) 462,851  (152,291)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period .. .................. 508,281 45,430 197,721
Cash and cash equivalents,end of period . .. ....................... $ 169,820 §$508,281 § 45430

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cashpaidforinterest .......... .. ... . . iiiiiiiniianna... — — —
Cash paid for income taxes .............ciiiiiineiiniia.. $ 659 —_ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements,
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' SYCAMORE NETWORKS, INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business:

Sycamore Networks, Inc. (the “Company™) was incorporated in Delaware on February 17, 1998. The
Company develops and markets optical networking products that are designed to enable telecommunications
service providers to cost-effectively and easily transition their existing fiber optic network into a network
infrastructure that can provision, manage and deliver economic, high-bandwidth services to their customers.

! * . T [ L
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
The accompanying financial statements of the Company reflect the application of certain significant
accounting policies as described below. The Company believes these accounting policies are critical because
changes in such estimates can materially affect the amount of the Company’s reported net income or loss.

- - . - - - .

Principles of Consolidation '

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All

significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Certain prior year amounts have been
reclassified to be consistent with the current year presentation.

Cash Equivalents and Investments

~ Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments with original or remaining maturity dates of three
months or less at the date of acquisition. Cash equivalents are carried at cost plus accrued interest, which
approximates fair market value. The Company’s investments are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded
at fair value with any unrealized gain or loss recorded as an element of stockholders' equity. The fair value of
investments is determined based on quoted market prices at the reporting date for those instruments. The
Company would recognize an impairment charge when a decline in the fair value of its investments below the
cost basis is judged to be other-than-temporary. Thé Company considers various factors in determining whether
to recognize an impairment charge, including the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less
than the Company's cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, and the
Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated
recovery in market value. As of July 31, 2006 and 20085, investments consisted of (in thousands): -

July 31, 2006:
Graoss Gross
Amortized Unrealized ' Unrealized Fair Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
GOVEIMMENT SECUMHES . .. ..\ v\t r et e e $816490 $ 65 $(1,238) $815,317
Total .......... ... ... ... .. ... e $816,490 $ 65 5(1,238) $815,317
July 31,2005:
' Gross Gross '
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
v ) ‘ . Cost Gains Losses Value
Government SECUrities . . ... ...ttt et ee e $428.339 $— $(2,374) $425,965
Commercial paper . ...........c i, 20,821 — (32) 20,789
Total .. e e . $449,160 — $(2,406) $446,754




At July 31, 2006, contractual maturities of the Company’s investment securities were as follows (in
thousands):

Amortized Fair Market

Cost Value
Less than OMe YeAr .. . ...ttt ittt e e ns $675,393  $674,518
Dueinonetothree years ... ... ittt 141,097 140,799
Total ........ ... ... ..., e $816,490  $815,317

The following tables provide the breakdown of the investments with unrealized losses at July 31, 2006 and
2005 (in thousands):

July 31, 2006
l;ess than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Fair Gross Gross Fair Gross Gross Fair Gross Gross
Market Unrealized Unrealized Market Unrealized Unrealized Market Unrealized Unrealized
Value Gain Losses Value Gain Losses Value Gain Losses
Government securities . .. $815.317 $ 65 $(1,238) $§ — $— $ — 3815317 § 65 $(1,238)
Total ................ $815,317 & 65 $(1,238) $ — — $ — $815317 3 65 $(1,238)
July 31, 2005
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater l Total
Fair Gross Gross Fair Gross Gross Fair Gross Gross
Market Unrealized Unrealized Market Unrealized Unrealized Market Unrealized Unrealized
Value Gain Losses Value Gain Losses Value Gain Losses
Govemment securities . .. $170.379  $— $ (275) 3255585 $— $(2,099) $425964 3 $(2,374)
Commercial paper ...... 13,650 — (1) 7,140 _ Gy 20,790 —_— a2
Total ................ $184,029 §$— $ (276) $262,725 $— $(2,130) $446,754 35— $(2.406)

The Company also has certain investments in non-publicly traded companies for the promotion of business
and strategic objectives. These investments are included in other long-term assets in the Company’s balance
sheet and are generally carried at cost less appropriate reductions or impairment charges. As of July 31, 2006 and
2005, $0.4 million of these investments are included in other long-term assets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) or market (net realizabie value).

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is
fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. The most significant revenve recognition
judgments typically involve customer acceptance, whether collection is reasonably assured and multiple element
arrangements. In instances where customer acceptance is specified, revenue is deferred until ali acceptance
criteria have been met. Collectibility is determined based on creditworthiness of customer, analysis and
customer’s payment history. Service revenue is recognized as the services are performed or ratably over the
service period.

'

Some of the Company’s transactions involve the sale of products and services under multiple element
arrangements. While each individual transaction varies according to the terms of the purchase order or sales
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agreement, a typical multiple element arrangement may include some or all of-the following components:
product shipments, installation services, maintenance and training. The total sales price is allocated based on the
relative fair value of each component, which generally is the price charged for each component when sold
separately and recognized when revenue recognition criteria for each element is met.

[ VT

e

Stock Based Compensation

Effective August 1, 2005, the Company adopted the prov1saons of Statement of Financial Accountmg
Standards No. 123R, (“SFAS 123R”) “Share-Based Payment,” which establishes accounting for equity instruments
exchanged for employee services. Under the provisions of .SFAS No. 123R, share-based compensation cost is
measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the
employee’s requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant). Prior to August 1, 2005, the
Company accounted for share-based compensation to employees in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion (“APB™) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and relaied intérpretations. The Company
also followed the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, as
amended by SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure™. The Company
elected to adopt the modified prospective transition method as provided by SFAS No. 123R and, accordingly,
financial statement amounts for the prior periods presented in this Form 10-K have not been restated to reflect the
fair value method of expensing share- -based compensation.

SFAS 123R requires compameq to estimate the fair value of share-based dWEll'dS on the date of grant usmg
an option-pricing model. The value of awards that are ultlmately expected to vest is recogmzed as expense over
the requisite service periods, or in the period of grant if the reqmsne service period has been prowded in the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. The Company uses the Black- Scholes opuon pricing model to
determine the fair value of stock options under SFAS 123R, consistent with that used for pro forma disctosures
under SFAS 123. The fair value of a restricted stock unit is equivalent to the market price of the Compdny ]
common stock on the grant date.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized i in thé Company’s consolidated statement of operations for
the year ended July 31, 2006 included (i) compensation expense for share-based awards granted 'prior 1o, but not
yet vested as of July 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 123 and (i) compensation expense for the share-based awards granted subsequent to July 31, 2005 based
on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Compensation expense
for all share-based awards that were granted on or prior to July 31, 2005 will continue to be recognized using the
straight-line option method. SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the Company’s stock-based
compensation expense required under APB 25 and the pro forma information required under SFAS 123 for the

periods prior to 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.
T N . . ) |

Property and Equipment . _ "
Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets using
the straight-line method, based upon the following asset lives:

+

Computer and telecomnmunications equipment ...~  2to 3 years
Computer software ...\ ... ... . ... 3 years : .o
Furniture and office equipment ..............., 5 years

Leasehold tmprovements . ................... .. Shorter of lease term or useful life of asset

The cost of significant additions and improvements is capitalized and depreciated while expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Costs related to internal use software are capitalized
in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position No. 98-1, “Accounting for the! Costs of Computer Software
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Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. Upon retirement or sale of an asset, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation of the assets are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the
determination of net income or loss.

Currently, the Company’s long-lived assets consist entirely of property and equipment. Long-lived assets to
be held and used are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on a comparison of
the carrying value of the asset to an estimate of the undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use and
eventual disposition of the asset. An impairment loss is recognized when the fair value of the asset, or the present
value of the discounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset, is less than the carrying value.
Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying value or fair value less costs to sell.

Research and Development and Software Development Costs

The Company’s products are highly technical in nature and require a large and continuing research and
development effort. All research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Software development costs
incurred prior to the establishment of technological feasibility are charged to expense. Technological feasibility is
demonstrated by the completion of a working model. Software development costs incurred subsequent to the
establishment of technological feasibility are capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers.
Amontization is based on the greater of (i} the ratio that current gross revenue for a product bears to the total of current
and anticipated future gross revenue for that product or (i) the straight-line method over the remaining estimated life
of the product. To date, the period between achieving technological feasibility and the general availability of the
related products has been short and software development costs qualifying for capitalization have not been material.
Accordingly, the Company has not capitalized any software development costs.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recorded based on temporary differences between the financial statement amounts and the tax bases
of assets and liabilities measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are
expected to reverse. The Company periodically evaluates the realizability of its net deferred tax assets and
records a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Concentrations and Significant Customer Information

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist
principally of cash equivalents, investments and accounts receivable. The Company invests its excess cash
primarily in deposits with commercial banks, high-quality corporate securities and U.S. government securities.
For the year ended July 31, 2006, three customers accounted for 43%, 26% and 19% of the Company’s revenue.
For the year ended July 31, 2005, four customers accounted for 36%, 24%, 12% and 11% of the Company's
revenue. For the year ended July 31, 2004, four customers accounted for 41% 27%, 13% and 13% of the
Company’s revenue. The Company generally does not require collateral for sales to customers, and the
Company’s accounts receivable balance at any point in time typically consists of a relatively small number of
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customer account balances. At July 31, 2006 more than 94% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance was
attributable to three customers. At July 31, 2005, more than 99% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance
was attributable to two customers.

Many emerging service providers, from which the Company had derived a large percentage of its revenue
through fiscal 2001, have experienced severe financial difficulties, causing them to dramatically reduce their
capital expenditures, and in some cases, file for bankruptcy protection. As a result, the Company has directed its
sales efforts towards incumbent service providers, which typically have longer sales evaluation cycles than
emerging service providers. The Company expects that its revenue and related accounts receivable balances will
continue to be concentrated among a relatively small number of customers.

Certain components and parts used in the Company’s products are procured from a single source. The
Company generally obtains parts from one vendor only, even where multiple sources are available, to maintain
quality control and enhance working relationships with suppliers. These purchases are made under purchase
orders. The failure of a supplier, including a subcontractor, to deliver on schedule could delay or interrupt the
Company’s delivery of products and thereby adversely affect the Company’s revenue and results of operations.

Allowance for Donbtful Accounts

The Company evaluates its outstanding accounts receivable balances 'on an ongoing basis to determine
whether an allowance for doubtful accounts should be recorded. Activity in the Company’s allowance for
doubtful accounts is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2005 2004
Beginning balance ......... ... e e $4,132 $4,132 $4,184
Additions (credits) charged toexpenses .......... ... .. . i it — — (52)
Ending balance . ... ... ... . e $4,132 $4.132 $4,132

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company reports comprehensive income (loss) in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive [ncome™ (SFAS 130). For all periods presented, the unrealized
gain or loss on investments, which is recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity, was the primary
difference between the reported net income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss).
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Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) for the period by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period less unvested restricted stock. Diluted
net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) for the period by the weighted average
number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding during the period, if dilutive. Common
equivalent shares are composed of unvested shares of restricted common stock and the incremental common
shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants outstanding. The following table sets forth the
computation of basic and diluted net income {loss) per share (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended July 31,

2006 2005 2004

(as restated) (as restated)
Netincome (I0SS) . ..ottt et e e $ 19,388 $(29.916) $(68,290)
Denominator: .
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding . ............... 277,782 275,081 272,881
Weighted-average shares subject to repurchase ....................... — (58) (758)
Shares used in per-share calculation—basic ................... ... ... 277,782 275,023 272,123
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding ................ 277,782 275,023 272,123
Weighted common stock equivalents . ....... ... ... ... 3,423 — —
Shares used in per-share calculation—diluted .. ... ... ... ... L 281,205 275,023 272,123
Net income (loss) per share:
BaSIC .ottt e e e e $ 007 $ (@©11) 3 (0.25)
DI & oo ot et e e e $ 007 % (11 $ (02%

Anti-dilutive employee stock options to purchase 10.9 million, 26.7 million and 30.8 million shares of
common stock have not been included in the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share for the years
ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Segment Information

The Company has determined that it conducts its operations in one business segment. For the year ended
July 31, 2006, the geographical distribution of revenue was as follows: United States—33%, England—28%,
Korea—18% Netherlands—15%, and all other countries—6%. For the year ended July 31, 2005, the
geographical distribution of revenue was as follows: United States—40%, England—33%, Japan—9% and all
other countries—18%. For the year ended July 31, 2004, the geographical distribution of revenue was as follows:
United States—41%, England—21%, France—13%, Japan—13% and all other countries—12%. Long-lived
assets consist entirely of property and equipment and are principally located in the United States for all periods
presented.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 151 (“SFAS 151™), Inventory Costs, which clarifies the accounting for abnormal
amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material. SFAS 151 will be effective for
inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of this statement did not
have a material impact on our financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”)". SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including
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grants .of employee stock options, to be recognized as compensation expense in the consolidated financial
statements based on their fair values. The adoption of SFAS 123R on August 1, 2005 had a material impact on
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations, financial position and statement of cash flows. For more
information see Footnote 9, Share-Based Compensation to the Consolldated Financial Statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

. In-May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB. Opinion No. 28 and FASB Statement No. 3" (“SFAS
154”"). SFAS 154 provides guidance on the accounting for, and reporting of, a change in accounting principle, in
the absence of explicit transition requirements specific to a newly adopted accounting prin¢iple. The adoption of
this statement did not have a material impact on our financial. statements. b

In July 2006, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No, 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for Uncertainty.in
Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109”. FIN 48 specifies how tax benefits for uncertain
tax positions are to be recognized, measured, and derecognized in financial statements; requires certain
disclosures of uncertain tax matters; specifies how reserves for uncertain tax positions should be classified on the
balance sheet; and provides transition and interim period guidance, among other provisions. FIN 48 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 and as a result, is effective for the Company in the first
quarter of fiscal.2008. The Company is currently evaluatmg the potermal impact of FIN 48 on its consolidated
financial statements. : :

3. Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statemerits

Restatement of Previ.ou.f_.‘lyl Issued F ina_néfal Statements

v

On September 19, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of Sycamore’s
management, concluded that the Company’s previously issued financial statements for the fiscal years ended
July 31, 2005 and July 31,2004 and related disclosires should be testated (the"‘2006 Restatement™) to reflect the
effects of additional non-cash stock -compensation expense resulting from the findings of an independent
investigation into the Company’s stock option accounting that was conducted under the direction of the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors. The 2006 Restatement in this 2006 Form 10-K also reflects the restatement
of “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” in Item 6 as of and for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2005, 2004,
2003 and 2002. The investigation concluded that the originally recorded grant dates for a significant number of
stock option awards were incorrect for'stock option accounting purposes. Accordingly, the Company is restating
its financial statemeénts for certain prior periods to record additional non—cash stock compensanon expense of
apprommately $215.3 mllllon . - :

l'iack'g round

On August. 25, 2005, the Company announced that the Audit Committee of its Board of Directors had
completed an mdependent investigation into the Company s stock option accounting (the 2005 Invesﬂgatlon”)
The 2005 Investigation i identified certain stock options granted dunng calendar years 1999 to 2001 that were
erroneously accounted for under. generally accepted accounting principles (“*GAAP™) and for which the
Company’s pro. forma dlsclosures for stock compensation expense required under Statemem of Financial
Accounting Standards No. ]23 “Accountmg for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS 123”) for the fiscal year
ended July 31, 2004 were in error. The findings ldenuﬁcd in the 2005 Investigation resulted in an aggregate
non-cash stock compensation charge of $33.8 million. Accordingly, on September 12, 2005, the Company filed
its Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004, which included the restatement of our
historical financial statements -for fiscal years ended July.31, 2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (the “2005
Restatement”) to reflect that additional.stock compensation expense. -

On May 17, 2006, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) issued a formal
order of investigation into the Company’s stock option granting practices, On May 26, 2006, the Company
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received a subpoena from the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of Massachusetts (the “DOJ”) for
the production of decuments relating to the Company’s stock option granting practices. In early June 2006, an
employee who is no longer with the Company came forward with additional information concerning the timing
of a stock option grant that he had received upon joining the Company in 1999. The Company promptly
investigated and confirmed that the measurement date used by the Company for that grant was incorrect. Because
manual changes were made in 1999 to the employee’s start date in the Company’s payroll and human resource
information systems, this improperly dated stock option grant was not detected during the 2005 Investigation’s
electronic database analysis. Also in June 2006, employees of the Company’s information technology
department, following the issuance of a company-wide directive to preserve documentation and electronic data,
discovered a substantial number of obsolete back-up server tapes that were not previously known to exist. It was
ultimately determined that certain of the tapes contained a significant amount of relevant electronic mail and
other documents. Management immediately informed the Audit Committee as well as the SEC and DOJ of these
discoveries, and the Audit Commitiee, assisted by independent legal counsel! and independent forensic
accountants, promptly commenced a second investigation into the Company’s stock option granting praclices and
related accounting (the “2006 Investigation” or the “Investigation”).

Scope of the 2006 Independent Investigation of Stock Option Accounting .

All of the approximately 5,100 stock option and restricted stock grants made to employees, officers,
directors and consultants during the period from the Company’s incorporation in 1998 through October 2006 (the
“Relevant Peried”) were examined as a part of the 2006 Investigation. The Investigation also included an
examination of all of the approximately 200 stock option and restricted stock grants issued by a privately held
company that the Company acquired in a pooling-of-interest in September of 2000. The 2006 Investigation
consisted of an extensive review of the Company’s policies and procedures as well as internal records and
supporting documentation, including the review of over 1.8 million pages of hard copy and electronic documents.
In addition, numerous interviews were conducted with current and former employees and members of our Board
of Directors. The results of the 2006 Investigation are based on all available information. However, several
former employees with responsibilities relating to the management and administration of the Company’s stock
option programs refused to cooperate in either the 2005 or 2006 Investigations.

Key Findings

e The Investigation identified a significant number of stock option and restricted stock. grants where the
appropriate measurement dates for stock option accounting purposes differed from the originally
recorded grant dates, including: (i) stock options granted prior to the Company’s initial public offering,
(ii) broad-based stock option grants, (iii) executive stock option grants, (iv) post-IPO individual stock
option grants, including new hire, promotional, retention and other grants, and (v) certain other
miscellaneous stock option and restricted stock grants.

= The Investigation concluded that certain of the above-identified option grants were deliberately altered
to provide more favorable exercise prices to the grantees. The Investigation also identified evidence
that, from 1999 through 2002, certain meeting minutes and Unanimons Written Consents of the Board
of Directors were altered after they had been delivered to the directors for approval. In addition,
minutes were drafted for certain Compensation Commitiee meetings in 2001 and 2002 that evidence
suggests may not have occurred. The Audit Committee has concluded that the former Chief Financial
Officer and the former Director of Financial Operations and certain of their direct reports were
responsible for these actions. ; J

*  OQOver 99% or approximately $213.8 million of the amount of non-cash stock compensation expense
associated with the 2006 Restatement resulted from stock option grants that were made prior to
January 1, 2002, and approximately 59% or $127.8 million relates to grants that were issued in the

. period prior to the Company’s initial public offering in October of 1999. Less than 2% or
approximately $3.7 million of the total compensation expense recorded in connection with the 2006
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Restatement resulted from grants.made to persons who were at the time executive officers as defined
“t 4. by Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Actof 1934, as amended.

. The Aud1t Commlttee 8 [nvest1gauon has concluded that no member of current management the
' Compensanon Commlttee or the Board of D1rectors engaged in any wrongdoing.

« +»  The Audit Commtttee s 'Investigation has further concluded that no member of current management,

. the.Compensation Committee’or thé. Company’s Board of Directors was aware, prior to the onset of the
n 2005 Investigation, of improprieties- relating to the administration ofthe Company’s stock option
oo lprograms or that the Company’s accounting or other disclosures were inaccurate.

. The Al.ldll Commmee s Investtgatton detenmned ‘that, ali measurement dates associated with stock
’ optton grants (o our d1rect0rs and our current Chiief Fmanc1al Ofﬁcer ‘Richard J. Gaynor, were correct.
* Our President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer Daniel E. Smith, and our Chalrman of the Board, Gururaj
Deshpande, have never received stock options from the Company. '

Broad Categories

The conclus1ons reached in the 2006 lnvestlgauon were based on data d1scovered after the Company 5.2005
Restatement For certain stock opnon grants that wére mcluded in.the 2005 Restatement the newly discovered
data enabled the Company to, estabhsh Jmore appropriate measurernent dates. The Company also, relied upon the
SEC Chlef Accountant’s guldance lssued on September 19, 2006 (the *SEC Guldance”) 10 asstst the Company
in determmmg the most appropr1ate measurement dates for stock optlon accountmg purposes The Company has

Ve [
analyzed the’ grdnts dunng the Relevant Penod and categonzed them based on grant type and the process by
which the grant was ﬁnahzed These categories consist of

.+ Incorrect Measurement Dates for Stock Optlons Granted Prior to the Company s Initial Public
Offering;, -~ .
. ‘Incorrect Measurement Dates for Broacl based Stock Optron Grants

[

+

. Incorrect Measurement Dates for Executive Stock Option Grants;

+  Incorrect Measurement Dates for Post-IPO Individual Stock Option Grants—New Hire, Promotional,
Retention, & Other Grants; and . . S

*  Incorrect Measurement Dates for Certain Other Miscellaneous Stock Opnon and*Restricted Stock
:.Grants : T Yio T
1 e o ! " Y T i 1 PP

- For each ‘category, the Coipany applied the 'relevant accounting standards to determine the most

appropriate. measurement date for -each grant when the facts and circumstances dictated that the originally
recorded grant date"was incorrect. As a result of this analysis, the Company: has recorded in its financial
statements an additional non:cash stock compensation expense of approximately $215.3 million. :

+ . . '
. i ' . Vo 3 ") v

Incorrect Measurement Dates for Stock Options Granted Prior to the Co'mpa:iy’slln'itial Public Offering;r,

The_process by which the Board of Directors approved stock option grants during the period prior to the
Company s initial publlc offenng (“IPO“) for the most part involved unanimous written consents (¢ UWCs") that
incorporated exhibits detailing the proposed grant recipients and their respective stock optlon ‘grants. For each of
these grants, the Company used the:“as of”. date stated on the UWC as the option grant date. For certain of these
grants, the Company:could notilocate'documentation:to substantiate that all-of the required directors’ signatures
had been obtained or delivered by the date specified in:the UWC, and in certain instances documents or other
evidence showed that some or all of the required-signatures were obtained later:-As a result, the Company has
decided to.revise the measurement dates for certain'of these grants to a date when the available evidence suggests
the last signature was obtained. In addition, the Audit Committee discovered evidence that modifications were
made to certain UWCs and meeting minutes. of the Board of Directors during the period after the UWCs or
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The incremental impact on the corisolidated statement of operations from recognizing stock compensation
expense through July 31, 2005 resulting from the 2006 Investtgatlon is summanzed as fo]lows (1n millions):

. 1 o
St 1 i L | . " . K

1999+, .
2005 2004 2003 2002 2000 2000 ~ Total

Adjustments to Stock Compensation by Category:

Incorrect Measurement Dateés for Options Granted Prior : e

to the Company’s Initial Public Offering . ... 540 8191 $233 $26 6 $26.6, $27.6 .3127.8
Incorrect Measurement Dates for Broad- based Optlon \ - . iy

FOTANLS o\ i e e e e i 1.0 30 4 5 . -6.2 31 3 2.6 48.6
Incorrect Measurement Dates for Executive Grants .... 02 -, 0.8 Ny . L34 03 — 3.9
Incorrect Measurement Dates for Post-IPO L ¢ il . '

_Individual Stock Option Grants—New Hire, ) - . , L e

.- Promotional, Retention & Other Grants . .......... 03, 06 , 12 1.7, 245, 1.7, 300
Incorrect Measurement Dates for Certain Other . . A \ :

Miscellaneous Stock Option and Restricted Stock g e

67111 P — _— 0.2 1.0 40 — 5.2
Y Y $6.1 $23.5 $303 $36.8 $86.7 $31.9 $215.3

1:
" The following tables set forth the effects of the 2006 Restatement on certain line,, ltems wtthln the
Company's consohdated statements of operations for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2003, 2004 and 2003 and
consolidated balance sheets as of J u]y 31, 2005 (in thousands)

i

"'l"“ r: " ‘ |‘|' - ‘ . S e Year ended July 31,
SR Cone T ' © 2005 2004
" A T ot C . : =
Research and development expense .~ | . TR _ ) _ .
, As Previously Reported ........... s T B ,$43481  § 48,456
, AsRestated . ... ... ity $47969 $66250
- : L o . . . l'l 4o ' - . v - B
Sales and marketing expense e . ot P 0
AsPreviously Réported ........ ... ... . i, e $11,945 § 19,143
AS RESIAIE . o ittt e e i et e et e $12,214  $ 19,991
General and admmtstratwe expense ' o - o " h o '
As Préviously. Repotied RETTTRe PR B "§ 9484 5 8447
‘As Restated...l ......... Lol U SO PR $10366 $11337
L D St :
Stock Compensatmn Expense , W iy e ey O
As Previously Reported .. ......coovvvriiieeeeeninnaeaeeion...  $ 1598 8 5705
AS RESIAtEd . .ot e et $ 7,725 $29,153
Gross profit (loss) v oo o ’ i el -

As Previously Réported ...... PP R L E $31,497 -3%15314
AsRestated 7. ... i e e e ee e " $ 31,009. $ 13,398
'Loss fromopetations : o SR B ’

As Previously Reported ....... e ETER g ."' $(44,374)  $(60,732) -

ASRESIAlEd . . ... $(50,501)  $(84.180)
Net income (loss)

As Previously Reported ....................... e 1o $(23,789)  $(44.842)

ASRESIACd 1. . . ve e et e  $(29.916)  $(68.290)
Basic and diluted net loss per share

As Previously Reported .. ... i $ (009 § (0.17)

ASRestated .. ..o e e e $ (01D $ (025




Restatement resulted from grants made to persons who were at the time executive officers as defined
by Section 16 of the Securilies Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

«  The Audit Committee’s Investigation has concluded that no member of current management, the
Compensatmn Committee or the Board of Dlrectors engaged in any wrongdoing.

*  The Audit Committee’s Investigation has further concluded that no member of current management,
" the Compensation Committee or the Company's Board of Directors was aware, prior to the onset of the
2005 Investigation, of improprieties relating to the administration of the Company’s stock option

«  programs or that the Company’s accounting or other disclosures were inaccurate.

"« The Audit Committee’s lnvesuganon determined that all measurement dates associated with stock
Ooption grants to our directors and our current Chief Financial Officer, Richard J. Gaynor, were cotrect,
Our President and Chief Executive Officer, Daniel E. Smith, and our Chairman of the Board, Gururaj
Deshpande, have never received stock options from the Company.

Broad Categories

The 'conclusions reached in the 2006 Investigation were based on data discovered after the Company’s 2005
Restatement. For cenain stock option grants that were included in the 2005 Restatement, the newly discovered
data enabled the Company to establish more appropriate measurement dates. The Company also relied upon the
SEC Chief Accountant’s guidance, issued on September 19, 2006 (the “SEC Guidance™), to assist the Company
in determining the most appropnate measurement dates for stock option accounting purposes. The Company has

analyzed the grants during the Relevant Period and categorized them based on grant type and the proce@s by
which the grant was finalized. These categories consist of:

*  Incorrect Measurement Dates for Stock Options Granted Prior 1o the Company's Iniual Public
Offering;

«" 'Incorrect Measurement Dates for Broad-based Stock Option Grants,
*  Incorrect Measurement Dates for Executive Stock Option Grants;

. Incorrect Measurement Dates for Post-IPO Individual Stock Option Grants—New Hire, Promotional,
Retention, & Other Grants; and

*  Incorrect Measurement Dates for Certain Other Miscellaneous Stock Opuon and*Restricted Stock
Grants. .

For each category, the Company applied the relevant accounting standards to determine the most
appropriate measurement date for each grant when the facts and circumstances dictated that the originaily
recorded grant date was incorrect. As a result of this analysis, the Company. has recorded in its financial
statements an additional non-cash stock compensation expense of approximately $215.3 million,

Incorrect Measurement Dates for Stock Options Granted Prior to the Compa{ny’s Initiat Public Offering

The process by which the Board of Directors approved stock option grants during the period prior to the
Company’s initial public offering (*IPO”) for the most part involved unanimous written consents (“UWCs™) that
incorporated exhibits detailing the proposed gram recipients and their respective stock option grants. For each of
these grants, the Company used the “as of” date stated on the UWC as the option grant date. For certain of these
grants, the Company could not locate documentation to substantiate that all of the required directors’ signatures
had been obtained or delivered by the date specified in-the UWC, and in certain instances documents or other
evidence showed that some or all of the required signatures were obtained later. As a result, the Company has
decided to revise the measurement dates for certain of these grants to a date when the available evidence suggests
the last signature was obtained. In addition, the Audit Committee discovered evidence that modifications were
made to certain UWCs and meeting minutes of the Board of Directors during the period after the UWCs or
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minutes were delivered to the directors for approval. The Audit Committee also identified several instances
where an option grant was issued as of the date on which an employee accepted his or her written offer of
employment, which set forth the terms of the stock option grant made to the employee, but prior to the date on
which the individual began providing substantive services to the Company. In applying the SEC Guidance, the
Company has recorded in its financial statements a non-cash stock compensation expense of approximately
$127.8 million for this category of grants. Approximately $117.1 million (or 92%) of this compensation expense
resulted from revised measurement dates for grants listed on 3 UWCs that the Company determined should be
measured based upon post-IPQ closing stock prices that were substantially higher than the originally recorded
pre-1PO fair market value stock prices. Of this compensation expense, approximately $66.0 million resulted from
a measurement date adjustment to a new hire grant because it was determined that this individual was not
providing substantive services to the Company as of the originally recorded grant date. This individual was
subsequently elected as an executive officer, as defined by Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and continues to serve in that capacity.

Incorrect Measurement Dates for Broad-based Stock Option Grants

In connection with its annual performance review process, the Company issued broad-based grants to large
numbers of its employees (“Refresh Grants”). Each of these Refresh Grants was authorized by the former Chief
Financial Officer in accordance with authority delegated to her by the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee
determined that for each of these Refresh Grants the complete list of recipients and number of shares that each
recipient would receive was not determined with finality as of the originally recorded grant date. Therefore, the
Company has concluded that the appropriate measurement dates for these Refresh Grants were dates subsequent
to the original grant dates. In addition, based on evidence discovered as a part of the 2006 Investigation, the
Company has determined a more appropriate measurement date for the April 2000 Refresh Grant, which had
been previously revised as part of the 2005 Restatement. For the four Refresh Grants that occurred between 2000
and 2002, evidence indicated that certain documents were modified and/or misdated and that grant dates were
retroactively selected to obtain more favorable exercise prices. As a result, the Company has recorded a non-cash
stock compensation expense of approximately $48.6 million for this category of grants, of which $31.3 million
was recorded in fiscal year 2001.

Incorrect Measurement Dates for Executive Stock Option Grants

Grants to the Company’s executive officers, as defined by Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (“Executive Officers™) were typically made by UWC of the Company’s Board of Directors. In
connection with certain Executive Officer grants in 2001 and 2002, the Audit Commitiee has determined, based
on the available evidence, that the last of the signatures on the applicable UWCs was obtained after the originally
recorded grant dates, and thus the appropriate measurement dates for these grants differ from the originally
recorded grant dates. As a result, the Company has recorded a non-cash stock compensation expense of
approximately $3.7 million related to these grants, which represents less than 2% of the total compensation
expense recorded in connection with the 2006 Restatement. Measurement date revisions were not required for
any Executive Officer grants other than for the aforementioned 2001 and 2002 grants.

Incorrect Measurement Dates for Post-IPO Individual Stock Option Grants—New Hire, Promotional,
Retention & Other Grants.

Most of the Company’s other post-TPO stock option grants were issued by management pursuant to a valid
delegation of authority from the Company’s Board of Directors, We determined that the measurement dates for
certain stock option grants to (i) new hires upon their commencement of employment, (ii) existing employees in
connection with promotion and retention and (iii) consultants of the Company, were incorrect for stock option
accounting purposes. The incorrect measurement dates related to grants to new hires before the date on which
they began providing substantive services to the Company and missing or inadequate documentation of the
approval for stock option grants. In those cases where we lacked reliable, objective evidence as 1o when final
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approval occurred, we used the date the grant was entered into Equity Edge, our stock administration database, as
the appropriate measurement date. As a result, the Company .has recorded a non-cash stock compensation
expense of approximately $30.0 million for this category of grants, of which $24.5 million was recorded in fiscal
year 2001,

. | B
Incorrect Measurement Dates for Certain Other Miscellaneous Stock Option and Restricted Stock Grants

The Company is also recording non-cash stock compensation expense of approximately $5.2 million in
connection with certain other grants, including (i) an approximate $5.1 million expense for stock option and
restricted stock grants issued by a private company that we acquired in a pooling-of-interest in 2000 because the
private company recorded grants as of dates that preceded the dates of formal approval of the grants; and (ii} a
30.1 million expense resulting from the modification to the original terms of a new hire stock option grant made
to an individual in excess of the limit on the number of shares that could be granted to an individual in a given
calendar year pursuant to terms of the Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan- (that individual, subsequently
elected as an Executive Officer, is no longer with the Company) Approx:ma(ely $4.0 million of this charge was
recorded in fiscal year 2001.

Tax Issues

Insofar as virtually all holders of incorrectly priced stock options issued by the Company were not involved
in or aware of the incorrect pricing, the Company intends to take action to deal with certain adverse tax
consequences that may be incurred by the holders of certain incorrectly priced options. The primary adverse tax
consequence is that incorrectly priced options determined to have been granted with an exercise price below the
fair market value of our common stock on the actual grant date and vesting subsequent to December 31, 2004
may subject the option holder to early income recognition and an excise tax under Section 40%A of the Internal
Revenue Code. In order to mitigate these adverse personal tax consequences, we intend to offer holders of these
options the opportunity to exchange their affected options for options that do not carry these adverse tax
consequences. We expect to conduct a tender offer pursuant to which we will offer’ to exchange the affected
options for options with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the revised
measurement date, and to give certain of the option holders a cash payment to compensate them for the increase
in the exercise price. In total, we estimate these cash payments will be approximately $0.3 million.

In addition, the Company has notified the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) of its intent to participale in
the IRS Compliance Resolution Program for Employees Other than Corporate Insiders for Additional 2006 Taxes
Arising under Section 409A due to the Exercise of Stock Rights. This program allows the Company to pay the
IRS directly for any Section 409A related tax consequences associated with stock option exercises in 2006. The
Company anticipates that it will pay the IRS approximately $75,000 in connection wnh its participation in the
program,

As part of the 2006 Restatement, we also accrued liabilities and recorded charges 1o operating expenses for
payroll tax contingencies related to certain options where there was evidence indicating that the originally
recorded exercise dates may differ from the appropnate exercise dates. In accordance with applicable accounting
rules, we recorded a charge in the amount of approximately $0.8 million in fiscal year 2000 in connection with
these exercises. Upon expiration of the related statute of limitations in fiscal year 2003, we recorded the reversal
of this payroll tax liability.

Summary of Stock Compensation Adjustments

We adjusted the measurement dates for options covering a total of approximately 2,600 options.
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The incremental impact on the consolidated statement of operations from recognizing siock compensation
expense through July 31, 2003 resulting from the 2006 Investigation is summarized as follows (in millions}):

1999.
2005 2004 2003 2002 20m 2000 Total

Adjustments to Stock Compensation by Category:
Incorrect Measurement Dates for Options Granted Prior R
to the Company’s Initial Public Offering .......... $4.6 S$19.1 $23.3 $26.6 $26.6 $27.6 $1278

Incorrect Measurement Dates for Broad-based Option : .
Grants . ... .. 1.0 3.0 4.5 62 313 26 48.6
Incorrect Measurement Dates for Executive Grants .... 0.2 0.8 1.1 1.3 03 — 37

Incorrect Measurement Dates for Post-IPO . N

Individual Stock Option Grants—New Hire,

Promotional, Retention & Other Grants ........... 0.3 0.6 1.2 1.7 245 1.7 30.0
Incorrect Measurement Dates for Certain Other

Miscelianeous Stock Option and Restricted Stock

Grants ...ttt ittt i — — 0.2 1.0 40 — 5.2

Total ... $6.1 $235 $303 $36.8 $86.7 $319 8§2153

" The following tables set forth the effects of the 2006 Restatement on certain line items within the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and
consolidated balance sheets as of July 31, 2005 {in thousands):

Year ended July 31,
2005 2004

Research and development expense

As Previously Reported . ... ... .. . i $4348] $ 48,456

AsRestated ... . ... ... e $47969 § 66,250
Sales and marketing expense

As Previously Reported .. ... .. ... . .. . i i $11,945 319,143

AsRestated ... .. e e e $12214  $ 19,991
General and administrative expense A . '

AsPreviously Reported .. ... ... . iiiiiiii e $ 9484 S 8447

AS RESIAtEd . ..ot e e e e $ 10,366 § 11,337
Stock Compensation Expense

AsPreviously Reported .......... ... ..ol § 1,598 8§ 5,705

AsRestated . ... ... ... e § 7,725 $29,153
Gross profit (loss)

AsPreviously Reported ......... ... .. ... i $31497 $15314

AsRestated ... ...t e e $31,009 513398
Loss from operations

As Previously Reported .. ... .. i $(44,374)  $(60,732)

ASRESIAtEd ... ot e e $(50,501) $(84,180)
Net income (loss)

As Previously Reported .. ... ... . $(23,789) $(44.,842)

AS REstatEd . ...t e e $(29.916) $(68.,290)
Basic and diluted net loss per share

As Previously Reported .......... .. . ooeiiii $ 00 S 0.1

AsRestated . .. ..o e $ I § 025




, Asof July 31, 2005 As of July 31,2004  As of July 31, 2003

Additional paid-in capital . A . :
As Previously Reported ....................... $1,780,243 31,774,214 $1,767,516
AsRestated ............ ... ... ... ... .. $1,995,735 51,989,814 $1,985,626

In light of the significant judgment used in establishing revised measurement dates, alternate approaches to
those used by the Company could have resulted in different compensation expense charges than those recorded in
the 2006 Restatement. While the Company considered various d!temauve approaches, we believe the approaches
selected represent the most appropriaté under the circumstances. e

' ’

Related Proceedings
Derivative Suits

On May 31, 2006, a purported shareholder derivative action, captioned Weisler v. Barrows (“Weisler™), was
filed in the United States District Court for the District of De]aware {the ‘De]dere Court™), on the Company’s
behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company’s Board of Dlrectors ‘and cenain of its current and former
officers (as amended on October 4, 2006). The plaintiff derivatively claims, among other things, violations of
Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and
breaches of fiduciary duty by the defendants in connection with the Company’s historical stock option grdntmg
practices. The plaintiff seeks unspecified damages, profits, the return of compensation paid by the Company, an
injunction and costs and attorneys’ fees, Substantially similar actions, captioned Vanpraet v. Deshpande
(“Vanpraet™) and Patel v. Deshpande (“Patel”), were filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts on June 28, 2006 and July 13, 2006, respecuvely (the “Massachusetts Court™), and Ariel v.
Barrows (“Ariel”) was filed on July 21, 2006 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New
York (the “New York Court™). None of the plaintiffs made presuit demand on the Company’s Board of Directors
prior to filing suit. By Memorandum and Order dated November 6, 2006, the Delaware Court transferred Weisler
to the District of Massachusetts. By stipulation of the parties, on November 21, 2006, the New York Court
transferred Ariel to the District of Massachusetts. By margin order dated May 24, 2007, the Massachusetts Court
consolidated Weisler, Vanpraet, Patel and Ariel (the “Federal Action”). A consolidatéd complaint is currently
scheduled to be filed in the Federal Action on or before July 2, 2007 These purported derwatlve actions do not
seek affirmative relief from the Company.

On June 9, 2006, a purported shareholder derivative action, captioned DeSimone v. Barrows (“DeSimone™),
was filed in the Court of Chancery for the State of Delaware, in New Castle County (the “Chancery Court), on the
Company's behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company’s Board of Directors and certain of its current and
former officers (as amended on August 21, 2006). The plaintiff derivatively claimed, among other things, breaches
of fiduciary duty by the defendants in connection with the Company’s historical stock option granting practices. The
plaintiff sought unspecifted damages, profits, the return of compensation paid by the Company, an injunction and
costs and attorneys’ fees, The plaintiff did not make presuit demand on the Company’s Board of Directors prior to
filing suit. On September 5, 2006, all defendants filed motions to dismiss, which were fully briefed by February 20,
2007. On March 9, 2007, the Chancery Court heard oral argument on the motions to dismiss and, after argument,
took the matter under advisement. The purported derivative action did not seek affirmative relief from the
Company. On June 7, 2007, the Chancery Court granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss.

On September 19, 2006, an additional purported shareholder derivative action, captioned McMahon v.
Smith, was filed in the Middlesex Superior Court for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on the Company’s
behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company’s Board of Directors and certain of its currenl and former
officers. The plaintiff derivatively claims, among other things, breaches of fiduciary duty by the defendants in
connection with the Company’s historical stock option granting practices, and also that certain defendants
misappropriated confidential Company information for personal profit by selling Company stock while in
possession of material, non-public information. The plaintiff seeks unspecified damages. profits, an injunction
and costs and attorneys’ fees. The plaintiff did not make presuit demand on the Company’s Board of Directors
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prior to filing suit. On February 16, 2007, the court granted the parties’ joint motion seeking a temporary stay of
proceedings. On June 1, 2007, the parties filed a joint motion seeking a continuation of that stay until such time
that the Chancery Court rules on the motions to dismiss in DeSimone. The purported derivative action does not
seek affirmative relief from the Company.

NASDAQ Delisting

Due to the initiation of the Audit Committee’s stock option and accounting investigation in 2006, the
Company was unable to timely file with the SEC its Form 10-K for fiscal vear ended July 31, 2006. On
October 18, 2006, the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Staff (“NASDAQ S1aff””) notified the Company that its
securities were subject to delisting based upon the filing deficiency. The Company was subsequently notified on
December 12, 2006 that its failure to timely file the first quarter Form 10-Q for the period ended October 28,
2006 could serve as an additional basis for delisting. The Company requested a hearing before the NASDAQ
Listing Quatlifications Panel {the “Panel”), which was held on December 14, 2006.

By decision dated January 25, 2007, the Panel granted the Company’s request for an exception, subject to
the Company providing the Panel with a report on the status and results of its investigation by no later than
March 2, 2007 and the Company’s filing of the delayed reports and any necessary restatements with the SEC by
no later than March 14, 2007. On March 2, 2007, the Company timely provided its response to NASDAQ’s
investigatory questions to the Panel, and, at the same time, requested extensions to file the Form 10-K and first
quarter Form 10-Q through April 16 and April 25, 2007, respectively. These requests were subsequently granted
by the Panel in a March 12th Panel Decision. The Company thereafter received an additional NASDAQ Staff
determination that the Company’s securities were subject to delisting due to the Company’s fatlure to timely file
the its Form 10-Q for the second quarter ended January 27, 2007,

Upon the Company’s request, the Listing Council, on April 16, 2007, called this matter for review and, in
connection therewith, issued a stay of the March 12, 2007 Panel Decision, which would have necessitated the
delisting of the Company’s securities from NASDAQ in the event the Company failed to file its Form 10-K prior
to the April 16, 2007 deadline. On June 1, 2007, the Company submitted additional information to the Listing
Council for its consideration regarding the status of the Company’s delayed Form 10-K filing. On June 13, 2007,
the NASDAQ Staff notified the Company that its faiiure to timely file the third quarter Form 10-Q for the period
ended April 28, 2007 could serve as an additional basis for delisting.

Internal Revenue Service Audit

We received a notice from the IRS indicating that the IRS would be auditing our tax returns for the tax years
ending July 31, 2004 and 2005. We have produced documents and other information to the IRS and are currently
working to resolve all issues arising from this audit, We do not believe this audit and any settlement with the IRS
will have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

SEC and DOJ Inquiries

The Company continues to cooperate fully with the formal investigation of the SEC regarding the
Company’s stock option grant practices. In addition, the Company is also cooperating fully with the DOJ in
connection with its investigation into such matters.

Cost of Restatement and Legal Activities

We have incurred and will continue to incur substantial expenses for legal, accounting, tax and other
professional services in connection with the 2006 Investigation and related matters. These expenses were
approximately $3.8 million through July 31, 2006. We expect to continue to incur significant expense in
connection with these matters in future periods.




4. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following at July 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

2006 2005
Raw matenrials . ..ot $1,438 S '889
WOrK N PrOCESS . . . .ottt et i e 1,848 1,221
Finishedgoods . . ... ... . . i e 2,727 3,335
o Y S $6,013  $5445

5. Property and Equipment ) '
Property and equipment consisted of the following at July 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

2006 2005
Computer sofiware andequipment .. ................. ... ... ... $ 65,035 $6599%
Langd .o e e 3,000 3,000
Furniture and office equipment. . . ....... .. ... ... oo 1,459 - 1,443
Leasehold improvements . ...... ... ... . et irrrriieiaaennns 2,998 2,866

72,492 73,303
Less accumulated depreciation . . ... .. ... e (64,668)  (64,866)

B« $ 7824 § 8437

Depreciation expense was $3.5 million, $4.4 million and $9.6 million for the years ended July 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company owns approximately 102 acres of land in Tyngsborough, Massachusetts,

6. Lease Commitments
QOperating Leases

Rent expense under operating leases was $1.9 million, $2.5 million and $2.5 million for the years ended
July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. At July 31, 2006, future minimum lease payments under all
non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

200 e e $3.093
2008 . e e —
2000 . e e e —
Total future minimum lease payments . . ... ..., . ..., . 0t ieeeinna. $3,093

The amount shown above includes future lease payments relating to excess facilities for which the Company
has abandoned and recorded charges for lease terminations and non-cancelable lease costs as part of its
restructuring programs (Note 12). At July 31, 2006, $1.9 million is included as part of the restructuring liability
relating to these facilities,

7. Income Taxes

Substantially all of the income (loss) before income taxes as shown in the Consolidated Staterment of
Operations for the years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is derived in the United States. . '
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During the years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, due to the Company’s cumulative taxable losses, the
net fosses incurred during each period and the inability to carryback these losses, the Company has not recorded a
current tax benefit for the net operating losses.

A reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate and the Company’s effective tax is as follows
(in thousands):

July 31,
2006 2005 2004
(as restated) {as restated)
Statutory federal income tax (benefit) ..................... $ 7,077 $(10,449) $(23,902)
State taxes, net of federal benefit ........................ 686 (907) 2031
Non-deductible stock compensation ...................... 24) 609 1,950
Valuation allowance .......... ... i {9,533) 12,015 27.219
OLher o e 2,624 (1,205) (3,236)
TAX EXPEMSE . . ottt i et e $ 830 $ 63 $ —

The significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets as of July 31, 2006 and 2005 are as
follows (in thousands);

2006 2005
(as restated)
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards . .................... $291,075  § 294,460
Restructuring andrelated accruals ............................. 6,213 8.575
ACCrUEd BXPENSES . .\ttt vt ittt et et e 4268 1,649
Nonqualified stock options .......... ... .. . ... i 34,752 42,669
Capital 10Ss . .. ..o o 7.076 6,917
CONUNEENCIES . . oo oottt et e et 6,224 6,942
Depreciation . ... oo ottt e e 5,126 4,685
O her, MBl L e e e 1.612 2,542
Total net deferred tax assets . .........0 el 356,346 368,439
Valuation allowance . ... ittt e (356,346) (368,439)
Net deferred 1ax @SSeLS . . oot e $ — $ —

The Company recorded a decrease to the valuation allowance of $12.1 million for the year ended July 31,
2006 and an increase to the valuation allowance of $9.2 million for the year ended July 31, 2005, to offset the
increase in the net deferred tax assets, since the Company believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred
tax assets will not be realized.

At July 31, 2006, the Company had federal and state net operating loss (“NOL™) carryforwards of
approximately $767.6 million and $124.2 million, respectively. The Company also had federal and state research
and development credit carryforwards of approximately $9.8 million and $5.6 million, respectively, which begin
to expire in 2019 and 2014 respectively. In fiscal year 1999 (just prior to the initial public offering (“IPO™)), the
Company experienced a change in ownership as defined by Scction 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. In
general, an ownership change, as defined by Section 382, results from transactions increasing the ownership of
certain shareholders or public groups in the stock of a corporation by more than 50 percentage points over a
three-year period. Since the Company’s formation, the Company has raised capital through the issuance of
capital stock on several occasions which, combined with shareholders’ subsequent disposition of those shares,
has resulted in one change of control, as defined by Section 382. As a result of the 1999 ownership change,
utilization of the Company’'s NOLs were subject to an annual limitation under Section 382 determined by
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multiplying the value of the Company’s stock at the time of the ownership change by the applicable long-term
tax-exempt rate resulting in an annual limitation which was fully utilized in 2000. Since the 1999 ownership
change through April 2006, which is the date of the last ownership change testing, the Company has not
experienced any subsequent ownership change and therefore, is not subject to any limitation.

Included in the net operating loss carryforwards are stock option deductions of approximately $125.0
million. The benefits of these stock option deductions approximate $47.8 million and will be credited to
additional paid-in capital when realized or recognized. Subsequent ownership changes, as defined in Section 382,
could further limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credits that can
be utilized annually to offset future taxable income.,

8. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of
preferred stock without stockholder approval in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges
and restrictions of ownership, No shares of preferred stock were outstanding at July 31, 2006 or July 31, 2005.

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 2,500,000,000 shares of its common stock. The holders of the
common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held. The Board may declare dividends from legally
available funds, subject to any preferential dividend rights of any outstanding preferred stock and restrictions
under the Company’s loan agreements, if any. Holders of the common stock are entitled to receive all assets
available for distribution on the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, subject to any preferential rights of
any outstanding preferred stock.

In QOctober 1999, the Company completed its initial public offering (“IPO™) in which it sold 22,425,000
shares of common stock at a price to the public of $12.67 per share. The net proceeds of the IPO, after deducting
underwriting discounts and other offering expenses, were approximately $263.0 million. Upon the closing of the
IPO, all then outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock (Series A, B, C and D) automatically
converted to 141,849,675 shares of common stock. In March 2000, the Company completed a follow-on public
offering of 10,200,000 shares of common stock at $150.25 per share. Of the 10,200,000 shares offered, 8,428,401
shares were sold by the Company and 1,771,599 shares were sold by existing stockholders of the Company. The
net proceeds . of this offering, to the Company, after deducting underwriting discounts and other expenses, were
approximately $1.2 billion.

The Company effected the foliowing stock splits: 3-for-1 in February 2000 and 3-for-1 in August 1999. All

common shares, common share options and per share amounts in the accompanying financial statements have
been adjusted to reflect the stock splits.
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9. Share-Based Compensation

The following table presents share-based compensation expense included in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended July 31, 2006 (in thousands):

Cost of produCt TEVEIUE . ... ... ...ttt iiat ittt aannrans $ 208
Cost Of SEIVICE TEVENUE ... ..t rreee i, e 743
Research and development . . .. .. ... .. . it i i e e 2,415
Salesand marketing . .. ... . e 1,283
General and administrative ... i e e e e 1.396
Share-based compensation expense beforetax ......................... 6,045
Incometax benefit . ... .. .. . e e (242)
Net compensation eXPense . ... ..o vvvttetttiaaeaa e ae it aeetes $5,803

As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company’s results for the year ended July 31, 2006
include incremental stock-based pre-tax compensation expense of $6.0 million which has been included in the
statements of operations within the applicable operating expense where the Company reports-the option holders’
compensation cost, The Company has recognized a related tax benefit associated with iis stock-based
compensation expense totaling $0.2 million in the year ended July 31, 2006. The incremental expense, net of the
related tax benefit, resulted in a $0.02 decrease in basic and diluted earnings per share in 2006.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Key input
assumptions used (o estimate the fair value of stock options include the exercise price of the award, the expected
option term, the expected volatility of the Company’s stock over the option’s expected term, the risk-free interest
rate over the option’s expected term, and the Company’s expected annual dividend yield. The Company believes
that the valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underlying assumptions are appropriate in
calculating the fair values of the Company’s stock options granted in fiscal 2006. Estimates of fair value are not
intended to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by persons who receive equity awards.

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions:

July 31, 2006
Expectedoptionterm (1) .. ... ... i 6.5 years
Expected volatility factor (2) ... . ... ... . 60.1%
Risk-free interestrate (3) .. . ..ottt e e e 4.7%
Expected annual dividend yield ....... .. ... ... . il 0.0%

(1) The option term was determined using the simplified method for estimating expected option life, which
qualify as “plain-vanilla” options.

(2) The stock volatility for each grant is measured using the weighted average of historical daily price changes
of the Company’s common stock over the most recent period equal to the expected option life of the grant,
adjusted for activity which is not expected to occur in the future.

(3) The risk-free interest rate for periods equal to the expected term of the share option is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

The Company did not recognize compensation expense for employee share-based awards when the exercise
price of the Company’s employee stock awards equaled the market price of the underlying stock on the date of
grant. The Company did recognize compensation expense under APB 25 relating to certain stock options and
restricted stock with exercise prices below fair market vatue on the date of grant.
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The Company had previously adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS 123”), as amended by SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” through disclosure only. The following
table illustrates the effects on net income and earnings per share for the years ended July 31, 2005 and 2004, as if
the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to share-based employee awards (in
thousands).

July 31,
2005 2004

Netloss asreported: ... ...t e e $(29916) $ (68,290)
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net loss under

APB S L e e 7,725 29,153
Peduct: Stock-based compensation expense that would have been included

in reported net loss if the fair value provisions of FAS 123 had been

appliedtoall awards . . ... ... ... e e (65,033) (163,067)
Proformanetloss . ..... ... i $(87,224) $(202,204)
Basic and diluted net loss i)er share:
ASTEPOItEd . .. e $ 1) $ (0239
Proforma .. ... .. e e $ (032) $ (0.74) .

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions:

July 31,
2005 2004
Expected option term . ... .. .. . i e e 5.0 years 3.2 years
Expected volatility factor .. ....... ... . . ... .. 78% 93%
Risk-free interestrate . ........... ... . .. . . it i 3.8% . 3.0%
Expected annual dividend yield . ....... ... ... .. i, 0.0% 0.0%

Stock Incentive Plans

The Company currently has three primary stock incentive plans: the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan {the “1998
Plan™), the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan™} and the Sirocco 1998 Stock Option Plan (the “Sirocco
1998 Plan”). A total of 144,881.833 shares of common stock have been authorized and reserved for issuance
under these plans. The 1999 Plan is the only one of the three primary plans under which new awards are currently
being issued. The total amount of shares that may be issued under the 1999 Plan is the remaining shares to be
issued under the 1998 Plan, plus 25,000,000 shares, plus an annual increase equal to the lesser of (i) 18,000,000
shares, (i1) 5% of the outstanding shares on August | of each year, or (jii) a lesser number as determined by the
Board. The Board of Directors voted to not authorize an increase in the number of shares for the 1999 Plan for
fiscal year 2006. The plans provide for the grant of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted
stock awards and other stock-based awards to officers, employees, directors, consultants and advisors of the
Company. No participant may receive any award, or combination of awards, for more than 1,500,000 shares in
any calendar year. Options may be granted at an exercise price less than, equal to or greater than the fair market
value on the date of grant. The Board or its delegatees, as the case may be, determines the term of each option,
the option exercise price, and the vesting terms. Stock options granted under the 1999 Plan generally expire ten
years from the date of grant and vest over three to five years.
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All employees who have been granted options by the Company under the 1998 and 1999 Plans are eligible
to elect immediate exercise of all such options. However, shares obtained by employees who elect to exercise
prior to the original option vesting schedule are subject to the Company’s right of repurchase, at the option
exercise price, in the event of termination. The Company’s repurchase rights lapse at the same rate as the shares
would have become vested under the original vesting schedule. As of July 31, 2006, there were no shares related
to immediate option exercises subject to repurchase by the Company through fiscal 2007.

The Company also has a Non-Employee Director Option Plan (“the Director Plan”™) under which a total of
2,220,000 shares of common stock have been authorized and reserved for issuance. As of August | of each year,
the aggregate number of common shares available for the grant of options under the Director Plan is
automatically increased by the number of common shares necessary to cause the total number of common shares
available for grant to be 1,500,000, Each non-employee director is granted an option to purchase 90,000 shares
which vests over three years upon their initial appointment as a director, and immediately following each annual
meeting of stockholders, each non-employee director is automatically granted an option to purchase 30,000
shares which vests in one year. The Company granted 120,000, 120,000 and 120,000 options under the Director
Plan during the years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. At July 31, 2006, 1,380,000 shares were
available for grant under the Director Plan. Stock options granted under the Director Plan generally expire ten
years from the date of grant and vest over one to three years.

Stock Option Activity

Stock option activity under all of the Company’s stock plans during the three years ended July 31, 2006 is
summarized as follows:

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Weighted Average Fair Average Fair Average Fair
Weighted Average Value of options Value of options Value of options

Average Contractual granted at granted below  granted above
Number of  Exercise Term market value market value market value
Shares Price (Years) {restated) (restated) (restated)
Qutstanding at July 31,2003 ... 30,188,328 3 7.44 a1
Options granted . .. ........... 4,191,700  3.80
Options exercised ............ (1,582,635) 3.00
Optionscanceled . ............ (1,950,921) 11.04
Outstanding at July 31,2004 ... 30,846,472 $ 6.95 15 $2.69 $2.69 $0.62
Options granted . . . ........... 1,626,500 3.77
Options exercised ............ (1,595,084) 2.65
Optionscanceled . .. .......... (4,192,193 7.15
Outstanding at July 31,2005 ... 26,685,695 $ 6.98 6.6 $2.67 $2.42 $2.56
Options granted ... ........... 793,750  4.30
Options exercised .. .......... (2,855,475) 335
Options canceled . ............ (3,442,122) 1i.20

Lh
oo

Outstanding at July 31,2006 ... 21,181,848 $ 6.68

The weighted average grant date fair value of stock options granted was $2.69, $2.67 and $2.65 during fiscal
years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The intrinsic value of stock options exercised. calculated as the difference between the market value of the
shares on the exercise date and the exercise price of the option was $2.8 million, $1.8 million and $3.2 million

for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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The total cash received from employees as a result of employee stock option exercises during fiscal years
2006, 2005 and 2004 was $ 10.4 million, $5.1 million and $6.6 million, respectively,

The following table summarizes information about stock oﬁtions outstanding at July 31, 2006:

' Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable -
' Weighted
Average . Weighted . Weighted
Remaining Average Aggregate Average Aggregate
Range of ° Number Contract Exercise Intrinsic Nuomber Exercise  Intrinsic
Exercise Prices Outstanding . Life Price Value Exercisable Price Value

$0.11-3% 333 3,506,428 4.8 $2.45 $4,137.585 3,051,253 § 240  $3,753,041
$3.34-3% 3.77 7,240,249 6.7 $3.56 506,817 6,213,624 § 354 559,226
$3.79-% 487 2,768,383 7.2 $4.12 — 1,499.318  § 4.17 —
$4.89-% 4.89 4,229,209 54 $4.89 — 4229209 § 4.89 —
$4.91 - $154.00 3,437,579 4l $21.8 — 3,391,704  $22.06 —

$0.11 -$154.00 21,181,848 6.0 $6.89 $4,644,402 18,385,108 $ 7.13 84,312,267

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock may be issued to employees, officers, directors, consultants, and other advisors, Shares
acquired pursuant to a restricted stock agreemeni are subject to a right of repurchase by the Company which
lapses as the restricted stock vests. In the event of termination of services, the Company has the right to
repurchase unvested shares at the original issuance price. The vesting period is generally four to five years. The
Company issued no shares of restricted stock during the years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

The following table summarizes- the status of the Company’s nonvested restricted shares since July 31,
2005:

Number of Weighted Average

Shares Fair Value
Nonvested at July 31,2005 ............. t161 $7.54
Granted ... e — —
Vested oo e 996 7.54
Forfeited . ... .. oo — —
Nonvested at July 31,2006 . .. ... ... ... .. i 165 $7.54

As of July 31, 2006, there was $6.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested
share-based compensation arrangements granted under the Company’s stock plans. That cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.9 years. The total fair value of shares vested during fiscal 2006,
2005 and 2004 was approximately $8 thousand, $1.1 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company had an Employee Stock Purchase Plan under which a total of 2,250,000 shares of common
stock had been reserved for issuance. Eligible employecs could purchase common stock at a price equat to 85%
of the lower of the fair market value of the common stock at the beginning or end of each six-month offering
period. Participation was limited to 10% of an employee’s eligible compensation not to exceed amounts allowed
by the Internal Revenue Code. On August | of cach year, the aggregate number of common shares available for
purchase under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan was automatically increased by the number of common shares
necessary to cause the number of common shares available for purchase to be 2,250,000. During the years ended
July 31, 2005 and 2004, 578,333 and 641,520 shares of common stock were issued under the plan, I‘CSpE:CIIVLIy
Effective May 1, 2005, the Company terminated the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
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Deferred Stock Compensation

In connection with the grant of certain stock options and restricted shares to employees through the year
ended July 31, 2001, the Company recorded deferred stock compensation equal to the difference between the
deemed fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant and the exercise price. Deferred
compensation related to options and restricted shares which vest over time is recorded as a component of
stockholders’ equity and is amortized over the vesting periods of the related options and restricted shares. During
the years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense relating
to these options and restricted shares totaling $6.0 million, $7.7 million and $29.2 million, respectively. During
the years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company reversed deferred stock compensation of $0.2
million, $0.4 million and $3.3 million, respectively, relating io former employees that had terminated prior to
vesting in the stock options and restricted shares.

Non-Employee Stock Compensation

During the year ended July 31, 2004, the Company granted 6,000 shares of fully vested non-forfeitable
common stock awards to non-employees and recognized compensation expense of $22,500. The fair value of
each stock option was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions
for the year ended July 31, 2004: weighted-average risk free interest rates of 3.2%, weighted-average expected
option life of 5.0 years, no dividend yield and 98% volatility.

Treasury Stock

At July 31, 2003, the Company held 147,000 shares of treasury stock, recorded at the acquisition cost of
$11,000. Treasury stock relates to the repurchase upon employee terminations of unvested shares of restricted
stock and options exercised prior to vesting. The shares of treasury stock held are either retired or reissued upon
the exercise of options or the issuance of other stock-based equity awards. During the years ended July 31, 2005
and 2004, the Company retired 14,000 shares and 436,000 shares of treasury stock at its acquisition cost of
approximately $0 and $36,000, respectively.

10. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan covering substantially ali of its employees which is
designed to be qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees are permitied to
contribute to the 401(k) plan through payroll deductions within statutory and plan limits. The Company made
matching contributions of $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million to the plan during fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

11. Related Party Transactions

In July 2000, the Company and the Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Chairman”)
entered into an Investor Agreement with Tejas Networks India Private Limited, a private company incorporated
in India (“Tejas™), pursuant to which the Company and the Chairman each invested $2.2 million in Tejas in
exchange for equity shares of Tejas. The Chairman aiso serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Tejas. An executive officer of the Company also serves as a board member of Tejas. The Company has entered
into various agreements with Tejas under which the Company has licensed certain proprietary software
development tools to Tejas, and Tejas will assist the Company’s business development efforts in India and also
provide maintenance and other services to the Company’s customers in India. During the years ended July 31,
2006 and 2005, the Company recognized revenue relating 1o transactions with Tejas of $0.3 million and $G.1
million, respectively. During the year ended July 31, 2004, the Company did not engage in any material
transactions with Tejas.

Eastern Research executed an OEM agreement with Tejas in March of 2006 under which Tejas provided
Eastern Research with hardware, software and support for the sale of the OM 1000 product, In April of 2007
Sycamore amended the OEM agreement with Tejas to assign the agreement to Sycamore and add the OM 1500
and OM 4000 products.
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12. Restructuring Charges and Related Asset Impairments -

In early 2001, the telecommunications industry began a severe decline which had a significant impact on our
business. In response to the telecommunications industry downturn and to reposition the Company to changing
market requirements, we enacted four separate restructuring programs: the first in the third quarter of fiscal 2001
(the “fiscal 2001 restructuring”), the second in the first quarter of fiscal 2002 (the “first quarter fiscal 2002
restructuring”), the third in the fourth quanier of fiscal 2002 (the “fourth quarter fiscal 2002 restructuring”), and
the fourth in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 (the “third quarter fiscal 2005 restructuring”).

As of July 31, 2006, the future restructuring cash .payments for the fiscal 2001, the first quarter of fiscal
2002, the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 and the third quarter of fiscal 2005 restructuring programs of $2.3 million
consist primarily of facility consolidation charges that will be paid over the respective lease terms through fiscal
2007 and potential legal matters. The restructuring charges and related asset impairments recorded in the fiscal
2001, the first quarter fiscal 2002, the fourth quarter fiscal 2002 and the third guarter fiscal 2005 restructuring
programs, and the reserve activi'l'y since that time, are summarized below (in thousands):

Accrual Accrual
Original Balance at Balance at
Restructuring  Non-cash July 31, July 31,
Charge - Charges Payments  Adjustments 2005 Payments 2006
Workforce reduction . . . . .. $ 20438 $ t8l6 % 16850 3% 1,739 $ 33 $ 7 $ 26
Facility consolidations and _
certain other costs ...... 62,028 9,795 37.842 5.969 8,422 6,168 2,254
Inventory and asset write- .
downs ............... 315,373 210,149 94.420 10,804 —_ — —
Losses on investments . . .. 24,845 24,845 — — — — —

Total .................. 5422684  $246,605 $149,112 318,512 $8.455  $6,175  $2,280

13. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation '

Beginning on July 2, 2001, several purported class action complaints were filed in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company and several of its officers and directors (the
“Individual Defendants”) and the underwriters for the Company’s initial public offering on October 21, 1999,
Some of the complaints also include the underwriters for the Company’s follow-on offering on March 14, 2000.
The complaints were consolidated into a single action and an amended complaint was filed on April 19, 2002.
The amended complaint, which is the operative complaint, was filed on behalf of persons who purchased the
Company’s common stock between October 21, 1999 and December 6, 2000. The amended complaint alleges
claims against_the Company, several of the Individual Defendants and the underwriters for violations under
Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act™), primarily based on the
assertion that the Company’s lead underwriters, the Company and several of the Individual Defendants made
material false and misleading statements in the Company’s Registration Statements and Prospectuses filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, in October 1999 and March 2000 because of the failure to
disclose (a) the alleged solicitation and receipt of excessive and undisclosed commissions by the underwriters in
connection with the allocation of shares of‘commen stock to certain investors in the Company’s public offerings
and (b) that certain of the underwriters allegedly had entered into agreements with investors whereby
underwriters agreed to allocate the public offering shares in exchange for which the investors agreed to make
additional purchases of stock in the aftermarket at pre-determined prices. It also alleges claims against the
Company, the Individual Defendants and the underwriters under Sections 10{b) and 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), primarily based on the assertion that the Company’s
lead underwriters, the Company and the Individual Defendants defrauded investors by participating in a
fraudulent scheme and by making materially false and misleading statements and omissions of material fact
during the period in question. The amended complaint seeks damages in an unspecified amount,
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The action against the Company is being coordinated with approximately three hundred other nearly
identical actions filed against other companies. Due to the large number of nearly identical actions, the court has
ordered the parties to select up to twenty “test” cases. To date, along with sixteen other cases, the Company’s
case has been selected as one such test case. As a result, among other things, the Company will be subject to
broader discovery obligations and expenses in the litigation than non-test case issuer defendants.

On October 9, 2002, the court dismissed the Individual Defendants from the case without prejudice based
upon Stipulations of Dismissal filed by the plaintiffs and the Individual Defendants. This dismissal disposed of
the Section 15 and Section 20(a) claims without prejudice, because these claims were asserted only against the
Individual Defendants. On October 13, 2004, the court denied the certification of a class in the action against the
Company with respect to the Section 11 claims alleging that the defendants made material false and misleading
statements in the Company’s Registration Statement and Prospectuses. The certification was denied because no
class representative purchased shares between the date of the IPO and January 19, 2000 (the date unregistered
shares entered the market), and thereafter suffered a loss on the sale of those shares. The court certified a class in
the action against the Company with respect to the Section 10(b) claims alleging that the Company and the
Individual Defendants defrauded investors by participating in a fraudulent scheme and by making materially
false and misleading statements and omissions of material fact during the period in question. The underwriter
defendants appealed the district court’s ruling on class certification to the Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit.

The Company, the Individual Defendants, the plaintiff class and the vast majority of the other
approximately three hundred issuer defendants and the individual defendants currently or formerly associated
with those companies reached a settlement and related agreements (the “Settlement Agreement”) which set forth
the terms of a settlement between these parties. Among other provisions, the Settlement Agreement provides for
a release of the Company and the Individual Defendants for the conduct alleged in the action to be wrongful and
for the Company to undertake certain responsibilities, including agreeing to assign away, not assert, or release,
certain potential claims the Company may have against its underwriters. In addition, no payments would be
required by the issuer defendants under the Settlement Agreement to the extent plaintiffs recover at least §1
billion from the underwriter defendants, who are not parties to the Settlement Agreement and who filed a
memorandum of law in opposition to the approval of the Settlement Agreement. To the extent that plaintiffs
recover less than $1 billion from the underwriter defendants, the approximately three-hundred issuer defendants
would be required to make up the difference. It is anticipated that any potential financial obligation of the
Company to plaintiffs pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement would be covered by existing
insurance. The Company currently is not aware of any material limitations on the expected recovery of any
potential financial obligation to the plaintiffs from the Company’s insurance carriers. The Company’s insurance
carriers are solvent, and the Company is not aware of any uncertainties as to the legal sufficiency of an insurance
claim with respect to any recovery by the plaintiffs. Therefore, we do not expect that the Settlement Agreement
will involve any payment by the Company. If material limitations on the expected recovery of any potential
financial obligation to the plaintiffs from the Company’s insurance carriers should arise, the Company’s
maximum financial obligation to plaintiffs pursuant to the Settlement Agreement would be less than $3.4 million.
On February 15, 2005, the court granted preliminary approval of the settlement agreement, subject to certain
modifications consistent with its opinion. Those modifications were made.

On December 5, 2006, a panel of the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit reversed the district court’s
class centification decision. On April 6, 2007, the Second Circuit panel denied plaintiffs’ petition for rehearing. In
light of the Second Circuit opinion, the issuer parties have informed the district court that the settlement
presented to the court cannot be approved because the defined settlement class, like the litigation class, cannot be
certified. We cannot predict whether the parties will be able to negotiate a revised settlement that complies with
the standards set out in the Second Circuit’s decision. Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, we cannot
accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. If the parties are not able to renegotiate a settlement and
the Company is found liable, we are unable to estimate or predict the potential damages that might be awarded,
whether such damages would be greater than the Company’s insurance coverage, and whether such damages
would have a material impact on our results of operations or financial condition in any future period.
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On April 1, 2003, a complaint was filed against the Company in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the
Southern District of New York by the creditors’ committee (the “Committee”) of 360networks (USA), inc. and
360networks services inc. (the “Debtors”). The Debtors were the subject of Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases. The
complaint seeks recovery of alleged preferential payments in the amount of approximately $16.} million, plus
interest. The Committee alleges that the Debiors made the preferential payments under Section 547(b) of the
Bankruptcy Code 1o the Company during the 90-day period prior to the Debtors’ bankruptey filing on account of
preexisting claims. The Company has been defending against the complaint vigorously. Trial on the compaint is
expected to be held in 2007.

On May 31, 2006, a purported shareholder derivative action, captioned Weisler v. Barrows (“Weisler”), was
filed in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware {the “Delaware Court”), on the Cormpany's
behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company’s Board of Directors and certain of its current and former
officers (as amended on October 4, 2006). The plaintiff denvauvely claims, among other things, violations of
Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and
breaches of fiduciary duty by the defendants in connection with the Company’s historical stock option granting
practices. The plaintiff seeks unspecified damages, profits, the return of compensation paid by the Company, an
injunction and costs and attorneys’ fees. Substantially similar actions, captioned Vanpraet v. Deshpande
(“Vanpraet”} and Patel v. Deshpande (*‘Patel”), were filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts on June 28, 2006 and July 13, 2006, respectively (the “Massachusetts Court™), and Ariel v,
Barrows (“Ariel”) was filed on July 21, 2006 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New
York (the “New York Coun”). None of the plaintiffs made presuit demand on the Company’s Board of Directors
prior to filing suit. By Memorandum and Order dated November 6, 2006, the Delaware Court transferred Weisler
to the District of Massachusetts. By stipulation of the parties, on November 21, 2006, the New York Court
iransferred Ariel to the District of Massachusetts. By margin order dated May 24, 2007, the Massachusetts Court
consolidated Weisler, Vanpraet, Patel and Ariel (the “Federal Action™). A consolidated complaint is currently
scheduled to be filed in the Federal Action on or before July 2, 2007. These purported derivative actions do not
seek affirmative relief from the Company.

On June 9, 2006, a purported shareholder derivative action, captioned DeSimone v, Barrows (“DeSimone”),
was filed in the Court of Chancery for the State of Detaware, in New Castle County (the “Chancery Court”), on
the Company’s behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company’s Board of Directors and certain of its
current and former officers (as amended on August 21, 2006). The plaintiff derivatively claimed, among other
things, breaches of fiduciary duty by the defendants in connection with the Company’s historical stock option
granting practices. The plaintiff sought unspecified damages, profits, the return of compensation paid by the
Company, an injunction and costs and attorneys” fees. The plaintiff did not make presuit demand on the
Company’s Board of Directors prior 1o filing suit. On September 5, 2006, all defendants filed motions to dismiss,
which were fully briefed by February 20, 2007. On March 9, 2007, the Chancery Court héard oral argument on
the motions to dismiss and, after argument, took the matter under advisement. The purported derivative action
did not seek affirmative relief from the Company. On June 2, 2007, the Chdncery Court granted the defendant’s
motion to dismiss.

On September 19, 2006, an additional purported shareholder derivative action, captioned McMahon v.
Smith, was filed in the Middlesex Superior Court for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on the Company’s
behalf, against it as nominal defendant, the Company's Board of Directors and certain of its current and former
officers. The plaintiff derivatively claims, among other things, breaches of fiduciary duty by the defendants in
connection with the Company’s' historical stock ‘option granting practices, and also -that certain defendants
misappropriated confidential Company information for personal profit by selling Company stock while in
possession of material, non-public information. The plaintiff seeks unspecified damages, profits, an injunction
and costs and attorneys’ fees. The plaintiff did not make presuit demand.on the Company’s Board of Directors
prior to filing suit. On February 16, 2007, the court granted the parties’ joint motion seeking a temporary stay of
proceedings. On June 1, 2007, the parties filed a joint motion seeking a continuation of that stay until such time
that the Chancery Court rules on the motions to dismiss in DeSimone. The purported derivative action does not
seek affirmative relief from the Company.
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On June 29, 2006, a former employee of the Company filed a complaint in Massachusetts Superior Court
alleging, among other things, claims relating 10 wrongful termination of an employment agreement, fraud in the
inducement, retaliation and claims relating to certain of the Company’s stock option grant practices in 1999-
2001. The complaint demanded lost wages, unspecified monetary damages and reinstatement of medical benefits,
among other things. The case was moved to the Business Litigation Session of the Suffolk County Superior
Court and, following an oral hearing on a motion to dismiss, the case was ordered dismissed on January 24, 2007.
The plaintiff has filed a Notice of Appeal of the order and judgment.

The Company is subject to legal proceedings, claims, and litigation, including those from intellectual
property matters, arising in the ordinary course of business. On a quarterly basis, the Company reviews its
commitments and contingencies to reflect the effect of ongoing negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of
counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. We are also subject to potential tax
liabilities associated with ongoing tax audits and examinations by various tax authorities. As a result, during the
third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company accrued $10.3 million associated with contingencies related to claims,
litigation and other disputes and tax matters. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company increased this
accrual by $6.8 million. While we believe the amounts accrued are adequate, any subsequent change in our
estimates will be recorded at such time the change is probable and estimable.

Guarantees

FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others™ (“FIN 45™), requires that upon issuance of a guarantee,
the guarantor must disclose and recognize a liability for the fair value of the obligation assumed under that
guarantee. As of July 31, 2006, the Company’s guarantees requiring disclosure consist of its accrued warranty
obligations, indemnifications for intellectual property infringement claims and indemnifications for officers and
directors.

In the normal course of business, the Company may also agree to indemnify other parties, including
customers, Jessors and parties to other transactions with the Company, with respect to certain matters. The
Company has agreed to hold these other parties harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations
or covenants, or other claims made against certain parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an
indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim. It is not possible to determine the maximum
potential amount under these indemnification agreements due to the limited history of prior indemnification
claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, payments
made by the Company under these agreements have not had a material impact on the Company’s operating
results or financial position. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded a fiability for these agreements at
July 31, 2006 and 2005 as the Company believes the fair value is not material.

The Company has agreed to indemnify its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences arising as
a result of the officer or director serving in such capacity. The maximum potential amount of future payments we
could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is not limited; however, we have directors and
officers insurance coverage that reduces our exposure and may enable us to recover a portion of any future
amounts paid. The Company has incurred expenses under these agreements of $1.4 million for fiscal year 2006
on behalf of eligible persons for legal fees incurred by them in connection with the stock option investigations,
the resulting restatement of previously issued financial statements and the subsequent inquiry by the SEC and
DOJ of information and documentation related thereto. Due to the Company’s inability to estimate its liabilities
in connection with these agreements, the Company has not recorded a liability for these agreements at July 31,
2006 and 2005. The Company maintains insurance policies whereby certain payments may be recoverable
subject to the terms and conditions provided in such policies.
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Warranty liability

The Company records a warranty liability for parts and labor on its products at the time revenue is
recognized. Warranty periods are generally three years from installation date. The estimate of the warranty
liability is based primarily on the Company’s historical experience in product failure rates and the expected
material and labor costs to provide warranty services.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the product warranty liability (in thousands):

Year Ended July 31,
_ 2006 2005
Beginning Balance ... ... .. ... e $1,654 $2,017
Adjustments relating to preexisting warranties .. ........... ... .. (1,160) (430)
Accruals for warranties dusing theperiod . ....... ... ... ... ... ... . ... 1,219 959
et NS L . oo e 577N (892)
Ending Balance ...... e e e e e e 31,136 $1,654

~ 14. Subsequent Event (Unaudited)

On September 6, 2006, Sycamore Networks, Inc., through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Bach Group LLLC
(“Bach™), a Delaware limited liability company, completed its acquisition of Allen Organ Company, a
Pennsylvania corporation (“Allen Organ™), and its wholly owned subsidiary, Eastern Research, Inc., a, New
Jersey corporation {“Eastern Research”), through a merger of Allen Organ with and into Bach (the “Merger”)
pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of April 12, 2006 and amended and restated as of
August 3, 2006 (the “Merger Agreecment”) by and among Sycamore, Allen Organ, MusicCo, LLC (“MusicCo”),
a Pennsylvania limited liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of Allen Organ, LandCo Rea! Estate,
LLC (“LandCo”), a Pennsylvania limited liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of Allen Organ, AQC
Acquisition, Inc. (“Purchaser”) and the representative of the holders of capital stock of Allen Organ. Under the
terms of the amended agreement, the total consideration paid to Allen Organ shareholders and the minority
shareholders of Eastern Research was $80 million in cash. The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the
acquired net assets and accordingly goodwill of approximately $15 million will be recorded. Eastern Research is
an innovative provider of network access solutions for wireline, wireless and private network operators,
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15, Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

October 29, January 28, April 29, July 31,
2006 2006

2005 2006

REVEIIUE .« . o ottt e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $27,298 $20,835 $22,944 § 16,318
CoStOf TEVEIMUE . . ... ittt ittt inaaraes 13,264 10,729 9,405 10,544
Gross Profil .. e 14,034 10,106 13,539 5,774
Operating €Xpemses: ... ... ... iiuesrunennnsrann et aaeans

Researchand development . ... .. ... ... ... i 8,338 7.888 7.975 7,197

Salesand marketing ........ ... i 2,879 2,652 2,951 3,212

General and administrative ... ..ottt i et c et s 3,174 2,425 2,294 3,715

Litigation Settlement ... ...ttt e — 750 — —

Reserve for CONUNZENCY . ..o v iie it rrnnns — — — 6,847
Total Operating eXPeNSES . . . ...t trr s e 14,391 13,715 13,220 20,971
Income (loss) from OPerations ............. ... . ciiiieriannarnnenaans (357) (3.609) 319 (15,197
Interest and Other INCOME, MEL . . . oo vttt ettt e e em e et i aan 7.430 8,726 10,564 12,343
Income (loss) before income taxes . ... .. it 7.073 5117 10,883 (2,854)
INCOME LaX EXPEISE . o oo oottt aaa g e iaae e aas 219 111 362 139
NEtINCOME (J055) 4\ttt e e ettt e i e $ 6854 $ 5006 $10521 % (2,993)
Basic and diluted net income pershare . . ... ... .. ... L $ 0.02 $ 002 $ 004 $ (0.0

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

October 30, October 30, January 29, January229, April 30, April 30, July 31, July 31,

2004 2004 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005
(as previously (as restated) (as previously (as restated) (as previously (as restated) (as previously (as restated)
reported) reported) reported) reported)
Revenue ................. $14215 $14215 $14892 $14892 $17848 517848 $18,479 $18.479
Costofrevenue ........... 8,664 9,066 8,480 8,533 8,881 8,903 7912 7.923
Grossprofit .............. 5,551 5,149 6,412 6,359 8,967 8,945 10,567 10,556
Operating expenses: .......
Research and
development ....... 11,959 15,661 11,446 11,996 10,867 11,025 9,209 9,287
Sales and marketing . .. 3,192 3,294 3,043 3,106 2,658 2,704 3.052 3,110
General and
administrative ...... 2,461 3,200 1,977 2,057 2,056 2,097 2,990 3,012
Reserve for
contingency ........ — — —_ — 10,282 10,282 — —
Restructuring charges
and related asset
impairments . ....... — —_ — — 679 679 — —
Total operating expenses . . . . 17,612 22,155 16,466 17,159 26,542 26,787 15,251 15,409
Loss from operations . ...... (12,061  (17,006)  (10,054) 10,800y  (17.5735) (17,842) (4,684) (4,853)
Interest and other income,

1 1= 4,198 4,198 4,672 4,672 5,595 5,595 6,183 6,183
L.oss before income taxes ... (7,863) (12,808) (5,382) {6,128) (11,980) (12,247 1,499 1,330
Income tax expense . ....... — — — — — — 63 63
Net income (loss) ......... $ (7.863) $(12,808) $ (5382) $ (6,128) §(11,980) $(12,247) 3§ 1436 $ 1,267
Basic and diluted net income

(loss) pershare ......... $ (003 % (005 $ ©O02) $ 02 % Vo § 0o § 001 $ 000
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Qur management (with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures {as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act™)), as of July 31, 2006. Disclosure contrels and procedures are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis and that such information ts accumulated and
communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaloation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are
effective and designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted
uader the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the requisite time periods,

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls. Qur management has concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal controls provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of our controt system are met.
However, our management (including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) does not expect that
the disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assuranice that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in
all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, errors and
instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been or will be detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or
mistakes. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or
more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system is also based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurances that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective
contro] system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act as a process
designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and
effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

*  Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

«  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the Company; and

*  Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of July 31,
2006. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, management concluded that, as of July 31, 2006, our internal control over
financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
July 31, 2006 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report which appears on page 43.

Management's Consideration of the Restatement of the 2005 and 2004 Financial Statements. As disclosed
in Note 3, “Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements”, to our consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are restating our previously issued 2005 and 2004 financial
statements to reflect the effects of additional non-cash stock compensation expense resulting from the findings of
an independent investigation into the Company’s stock option accounting. This restatement resulted from a
material weakness in the controls over the completeness and accuracy of its accounting for and monitoring of its
non-cash stock-based accounting and related financial statement disclosures, including the validity of its
recording of various stock option transactions. A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of
control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or
interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005,
management remediated the control deficiency that resulted in this restatement of the 2005 and 2004
consolidated financial statements. Consequently, this matter did not constitute a control deficiency as of July 31,
2006.

Changes in Intermal Control over Financial Reporting. There was no change in our internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during our fourth fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None

80




PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Set forth below are the name, age and position of each of our directors and executive officers as of July 31,
2006. .

Name Age  Pusition(s) Held

Gururaj Deshpande .............. 55  Chairman of the Board of Directors

Daniel E. Smith .. .......... . 56 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Timothy A. Barrows ............. 49  Director

Paul W. Chisholm ............... 57  Director

PaulJ. Ferri .................... 67  Director

John W. Gerdelman ...,......... 53  Director ,

RichardJ. Gaynor ............... 46  Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance and
Administration, Treasurer and Secretary

JommE. Dowling ................ 53 Vice President, Operations

AraldoMenegon ......... ... ... 47  Vice President, Worldwide Sales and Support

Kevin).Oye ................... 48  Vice President, Systems and Technology

AlanR.Cormier ................ 55  General Counsel

Gururaj Deshpande has served as Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors since its inception in
February, 1998. Mr. Deshpande served as the Company’s Treasurer and Secretary from February 1998 to June
1999 and as the Company’s President from February 1998 1o October 1998, Before co-founding the Company,
Mr. Deshpande co-founded Cascade Communicatiens Corp., a provider of wide area network switches. From
October 1990 to April 1992, Mr. Deshpande served as President of Cascade and from April 1992 to June 1997,
he served as Cascade’s Executive Vice President of Marketing and Customer Service. Mr. Deshpande was a
member of the board of directors of Cascade since its inception and was chairman of the board of directors of
Cascade from 1996 to 1997,

Daniel E. Smith has served as our President, Chief Executive Officer and as a member of our Board of
Directors since October 1998. From June 1997 to July 1998, Mr. Smith was Executive Vice President and
General Manager of the Core Switching Division of Ascend Communications, Inc., a provider of wide area
network switches and access data networking equipment. Mr. Smith was also a member of the board of directors
of Ascend Communications, Inc. during that time. From April 1992 to June 1997, Mr. Smith served as President
and Chief Executive Officer and a member of the board of directors of Cascade Communications Corp.

Timothy A. Barrows has served as a director since February 1998. Mr. Barrows has been a General Partner
of Matrix Partners, a venture capital firm, since September 1985.

Paul W. Chisholm has served as a director since October 2002. Mr. Chisholm has been Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of mindSHIFT Technologies, a provider of managed information technology infrastructure
services, since September 2003. Since March 2001, Mr. Chisholm has been President of Paul Chisholm Inc.,
providing business and telecommunications consulting services to venture capital firms. From December 1996 to
January 2001, Mr. Chisholm was President and Chief Executive Officer of COLT Telecom Group plc, a
European-based provider of . business communication services. From February 1995 to December 1996,
Mr. Chisholm served as President of COLT and from July 1992 to February 1995 he served as Managing
Director. Mr. Chisholm was a member of the board of directors of COLT from December 1996 to December
20035,

Paul J. Ferri has served as a director since February 1998, Mr. Ferri has been a general partner of Matrix
Partners, a venture capital firm, since February 1982,
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John W. Gerdelman has served as a director since September 1999. Since January 2004, Mr. Gerdelman has
been the Executive Chairman of Intelliden Corporation, a company which he co-founded that provides software
solutions that enable networks to operate more intelligently by automating network change management and
enforcing business policy in network operations. From April 2002 through December 2003, Mr. Gerdelman was
the Chief Executive Officer for Metromedia Fiber Networks during its bankruptcy reorganization. From January
2000 through March 2002, Mr. Gerdelman worked with several new ventures as Managing Member of
mortonsgroup, LLC. From April 1999 through December 1999, Mr. Gerdelman was President and Chief
Executive Officer of USA.Net Inc. Previously, Mr. Gerdelman had served as an Executive Vice President at MCI
Corporation. Mr. Gerdelman also serves on the board of directors of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., a
storage area network company. '

Richard J. Gaynor has served as our Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Finance and Administration,
Treasurer and Secretary since October 2004, From January 200! to September 2004, Mr. Gaynor was Vice
President, Corporate Controller and Principal Accounting Officer of Manufacturers Services Ltd., a global
provider of sub-contract electronic manufacturing services. From January 2000 to January 2001, Mr. Gaynor was
Chief Financial Officer of Evans and Sutherland Computer Corporation, a developer and manufacturer of flight
simulation hardware and software. From March 1994 to December 1999, Mr. Gaynor was Vice President of
Finance and Operations Controller at Cabletron Systems, Inc., a global provider of enterprise networking
products.

John E. Dowling has served as our Vice President of Operations since August 1998. From July 1997 to
August 1998, Mr. Dowling served as Vice President of Operations of Aptis Communications, a manufacturer of
carrier-class access switches for network service providers. Mr. Dowling served as Vice President of Operations
of Cascade Communications Corp. from May 1994 to June 1997.

Araldo Menegon served as our Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support from August 2002 to
September 2006. From April 2001 to June 2002, Mr. Menegon served as Senior Vice President of Worldwide
Sales and Field Operations for Tenor Networks, a provider of networking equipment. From August 1999 to
March 2001, Mr. Menegon served as Area Operations Director for Cisco Systems, Inc. From July 1997 to July
1999, Mr. Menegon served as Director of Service Provider Operations for Cisco Canada. Prior to joining Cisco
in July 1996, Mr. Menegon spent 14 years with NCR and held several senior management positions, including an
international assignment with NCR’s Pacific Group from January 1988 to February 1992. Mr. Menegon resigned
from his position as Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support effective September 6, 2006. John B. Scully
joined the Company as Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support pursuant to a letter arrangement dated
September 6, 2006. For more information on Mr. Scully’s employment with the Company and Mr. Menegon’s
resignation, please see the discussion below under “Employment and Other Arrangements.”

Kevin J. Oye has served as our Vice President of Systems and Technelogy since November 2001. From
October 1999 through October 2001, Mr. Oye served as our Vice President of Business Development. From
March 1998 to October 1999, Mr. Oye served as Vice President of Strategy and Business Development at Lucent
Technologies, Inc. and from September 1993 to March 1998, Mr. Oye served as the Director of Strategy,
Business Development, and Architecture at Lucent Technologies, Inc. From June 1980 to September 1993,
Mr. Oye held various positions with AT&T Bell Laboratories where he was responsible for advanced market
planning as well as development and advanced technology management.

Alan R. Cormier has served as our General Counsel and Secretary since November 2006. From December
2004 to October 2006, Mr. Cormier served as our Counsel and Assistant Secretary. From July 2000 through March
2004 he was Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Manufacturers™ Services Limited, a contract
manufacturing company. Mr. Cormier served, from January 2000 through July 2000, as Vice President, General
Counsel and Clerk of Dynamics Research Corporation, a provider of information technology, engineering, logistics
and other consulting services to federal and state agencies. Prior to that, he spent several years in senior positions in
the legal department of Wang Global Corporation (formerly Wang Laboratories, Inc.).
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Director Independence '

The Board has afﬁrmatlvely determined that none of the followmg directors has a material relationship with
the Company (either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an organization that has a rclauonshlp with
the Company) Timothy A. Barrows, Paul W. Chisholm, Paul J. Ferri and John W. Gerdelman. In determining
independence, the Board will be gu1ded by the definitions of “independent director” in the listing standards of
The NASDAQ Stock Market and applicable laws and regulations.

Audit Committee ,

We have a separately-designated standing audit committee established in accordance with
Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit Committee reviews the
professionat services provided by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, the
independence of such independent registered public accounting firm from the Company’s management and the
Company’s annual and quarterly financial statements. The Audit Commitiee also reviews such other matters with
respect to the Company’s accounting, auditing and financial reporting practices and procedures as it may find
appropriate or may be brought to its attention, The Audit Commiitee consists of Messrs. Chisholm, Ferri and
Gerdelman; all of whom are independent as defined by the applicable listing requirements of NASDAQ.
Mr. Gerdelman, currently serves as the Financial Expert of the Audit Committee, as defined by rules of the
Commission enacted under Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. During fiscal 2006, the Audit
Committee held nine meetings. The Audit Committee is governed by a charter, a current copy of which is
available in the 'Investor Relations section (under Corporate Govemance) of our website at
Www . sycamorengt .com.

Business Code of Ethics

The Company has a Business Code of Ethics, which is applicable to all directors, officers and employees of
the Company. If the Company amends or waives the Business Code of Ethics with respect to a director or
executive officer, it will make public disclosure of the waiver no later than its next periodic filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Company’s governance guidelines, including committee charters and the Business Code of Ethics are
available in the Corporate Information section of our website at www.sycamorenet.com.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires the Company’s directors, executive
officers and holders of more than 10% of the Company’s outstanding shares of Common Stock (collcctlvely,
“Reporting Persons”) to file with the Commission initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in
ownership of the Common Stock of the Company. Such persons are required by regulations, of the Commission
to furnish the Company with copies of all such filings. Based solely on its review of the copies of such filings
received by it with respect to the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006, the Company believes that all Reporting
Persons complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements in the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Summary Compensation Table

The table below sets forth, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006, the compensation earned by the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and the four other most highly compensated individuals who were serving as
executive officers at the end of fiscal 2006, or who served as executive officers during fiscal 2006. Collectively,
all of these individuals are referred to below as the Named Executive Officers.
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In accordance with the rules of the Commission, the compensation set forth in the table below does not
include medical, group life or other benefits which are available to all of the Company’s salaried employees, and
perquisites and other benefits, securities or property which do not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of the
person’s salary and bonus shown in the table. In the table below, columns required by the regulations of the
Commission have been omitted where no information was required to be disclosed under those columns.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE (1)

Long-Term
Annual Compensation Cor:;;‘:::rs:;ion
Other Annual Securities All Other
Salary Bonus Compensation Underlying Compensation
Year (%) %) (%) Options/SARS (#) £3)]
Daniel E, Smith . .............. 2006 100,000 — — — —
President and Chief Executive 2005 100,000 — — — —_
Officer 2004 100,000 — — -— —
Araldo Menegon . ............. 2006 200,000 211,750(2) — — —
Vice President, Worldwide 2005 200,000 156,800(2) — — —
Sales and Support 2004 200,000  162,900(2) — — —
Richard J. Gaynor ............. 2006 233,000 86,250 —_— — —
Chief Financial Officer, Vice 2005 173,000(3) 66,700(3) — 1,000,000 —
President, Finance and 2004 — — — — —
Administration, Treasurer and
Secretary
Kevin.Oye ................. 2006 224,000 82,500 — —_ —
Vice President, Systems and 2005 210,000 80,000 — — —
Technology 2004 205,000 68,750 — —_ —
AlanR.Cormier .............. 2006 198,000 — -— — —
General Counsel 2005 107,000(4) — — 50,000 —
2004 — — — —_ —

(1) As of July 31, 2006, the remaining number of shares of restricted Common Stock held by the Named
Executive Officers that had not vested and the value of this restricted Common Stock was as follows:
Mr. Menegon: 425,000 shares, $357,000, Mr. Gaynor: 650,000 shares, $0 and Mr. Cormier: 35,000 shares,
$0. The value is based on the fair market value at July 31, 2006 ($3.63 per share as quoted on the NASDAQ
National Market) less the purchase price paid per share. Holders of restricted Common Stock are entitled to
receive any dividends the Company may pay on its Common Stock.

(2) Consists of sales commissions paid in the fiscal year.

(3) Mr. Gaynor joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Finance and Administration,
Treasurer and Secretary in October 2004.

(4) Mr. Cormier joined the Company as General Counsel on December 27, 2004.

OPTION GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR

There were no options granted in fiscal 2006 to any Named Executive Officer.
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The following table provides the specified information concerning option exercises in the last fiscal year
and unexercised options held as of July 31, 2006 by the Company s Named Executive Officers.

AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN LAST FISCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION VALUES

Number of Securities Value of Unexercised
Underlying Unexercised In-the-Money Options
A cgﬂi“r’:‘s on Rz:lll‘;z g _Options af Fiscal Year-end (#)  _at Fiscal Year-end ($}2)
Name ' Exercise (#) %) Exercisable (1) Unexercisable Exercisahle Unexercisable
Daniel E. Smith .............. — — — o — — —
Araldo Menegon ............. — — 1,700,000 — 1,428,000 —
Richard J. Gaynor ............ — — 1,000,000 — — —
Kevin).Oye................. — —_ 2,114,457 —_ 290,000 —
AlanR.Cormier .............. —_ — 50,000 — —_ —

(1) Options granted under the Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Pian are exercisable immediately, subject to a
repurchase right in favor of the Company which lapses as the opuon vests over periods ranging from three
to five years.

(2) Value is based on the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value at July 31, 2006
($3.63 per share as quoted on the NASDAQ National Market), multiplied by the number of shares
underlying the option.

Compensation of Directors

The Company reimburses directors for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending meetings of
the Board of Directors and committees. Each non-employee director receives an annual retainer of $30,000,
which is paid on a quarterly basis. Pursuant to the Company’s 1999 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan,
(the “Director Option Plan™), all non-employee directors of the Company are automatically granted non-qualified
stock opticns to purchase 90,000 shares of Common Stock which vests over three years upon their, initial
appointment to the Board of Directors. Thereafter, on an annual basis immediately following each annual
meeting of stockholders, each non-employee direcior is granted an option to purchase 30,000 shares of Common
Stock which vests in one year. Under the plan, options are fully exercisable on the date of grant; however, shares
purchased on exercise of such options are subject to repurchase by the. Company prior to completion of the
applicable vesting period. The exercise price per share of all options granted under the Director Option Plan is
equal to the fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant, and such options expire on
the date which is ten years from the date of option grant. At the annual meeting of stockholders held on
December 19, 2005, each of the following non-employee directors received an option to purchase 30,000 shares
of Common Stock with an exercise price of $4.81 per share: Messrs. Barrows, Chisholm, Ferri and Gerdelman.

Employment and Other Arrangements

Araldo Menegon, the Company’s former Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support, resigned as an
executive officer effective September 6, 2006. On September 6, 2006, Mr. Menegon and the Company entered
into a Transition Agreement and Release, which provides that, in consideration of Mr. Menegon’s execution of
such Agreement and Release and the continuation of his employment with the Company through September 6,
2007, Mr. Menegon will be covered under the Company’s health plan and receive pay during such period equal
to his base salary at the time of his resignation, payable' in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll
practices. In addition, all stock options granted to Mr. Menegon during his employment will continue to vest
through September 6, 2007. As part of the Agreement, Mr. Menegon also agreed to a general release of the
Company, its affiliates and various related parties.

John B. Scully joined the Company as Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support pursuant to a letter
arrangement dated September 6, 2006. Under this arrangement, Mr. Scully’s base salary will be $230,000 and he is
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eligible to receive an annual bonus of up to $245,000, payable quarterly. In addition, Mr. Scully was granted an
option to purchase 500,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company at an exercise price of $3.58 under the
1999 Stock Incentive Plan. Such options are subject to a five year vesting schedule, vesting 20% one year from
the commencement of his employment and 5% per quarter thereafter. Mr. Scully’s employment is at will and
may be terminated at any time by either party for any reason, with or without cause.

The employment agreement for Mr. Cormier, our General Counsel, with the Corporation includes a
separation provision. Under Mr. Cormier’s agreement, on the termination of his employment by the
Corporation without cause, disability or death or by Mr. Cormier for good reason and on execution of a
Separation Agreement and Release, Mr. Cormier will be entitled to continuation of his base salary as separation
pay for a period of twelve months from his last day of active employment, or at the Corporation’s discretion, a
lump sum payment of his annual base salary. In addition, the Corporation will pay Mr. Cormier’s health
insurance premiums for such twelve month peried.

Change in Control Agreements

Each of Messrs. Smith, Scully, Oye, Dowling and Gaynor, the Company’s current executive officers (the
“Current Executive Officers™), have entered into a change in control agreement with the Company. Under these
agreements, each option or restricted stock grant held by the Current Executive Officer which is scheduled to
vest within the 12 months after the effectiveness of a change of control of the Company will instead vest
immediately prior to the change in control. In addition, in the event of a “Subsequent Acquisition” of the
Company (as defined in these agreements) following a change in control, all options or restricted stock granted
by the Company to such Current Executive Officers will vest immediately prior to the effectiveness of such
acquisition. If a Current Executive Officer is subject to any excise tax on amounts characterized as excess
parachute payments, due to the benefits provided under this agreement, the Current Executive Officer shall be
entitled to reimbursement of up to $1,000,000 for any excess parachute excise taxes the Current Executive
Officer may incur.

In the event of a termination of a Current Executive Officer’s employment following a change in control,
either by the surviving entity without cause or by the Current Executive Officer due to a constructive termination,
(1) all options and restricted stock of the Current Executive Officer vest, (2) the Current ‘Executive Officer is
entitled to continued paid coverage under the Company’s group health plans for 18 months after such
termination, (3) the Current Executive Officer shall receive a pro rata portion of his performance bonus for the
year in which the termination occurred, (4) the Current Executive Officer shall receive an amount equal to 18
months of his base salary and (5) the Current Executive Officer shall receive an amount equal to 150% of his
annual performance bonus for the year in which the termination occurred. '

Under these agreements, each Current Executive Officer agrees to abide by the Company’s confidentiality
and proprietary rights agreements and, for a period of one year after such termination, not to solicit the
Company’s employees or customers.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors is currently composed of Messrs. Barrows and
Ferni. Neither of the members of the Committee is currently, or has been, at any time since the Company’s
formation, an officer or employee of the Company. No interlocking relationship exists between any member of
the Company's Board of Directors or the Committee and any member of the board of directors or compensation
committee of any other company.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plan Information

-The following table sets forth certain information as of July 31, 2006 with respect to compensation plans
under which shares of our common stock may be issues:

(a) (b} (c)

Number of Securities Remaining
Weighted Average  Available for Future Issuance
. Number of Securities to be  Exercise Price of under Equity Compensation
‘ Issized upon Exercise of Outstanding Plans (Excluding Securities
Plan Category QOutstanding Options Options Reflected in Column (a)}

Equity Compensation Plans Approved
by Security Holders (1} ........... 21,181,848 $6.68 125,919,985
Equity Compensation Plans Not
Approved by Security Holders .. . .. — —

Total ... ... ... .. ... 21,181,848 $6.68 125,919,985
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information, as of April 28, 2007, with respect to beneficial ownership
of Sycamore’s Common Stock by: (i) each person who, to the knowledge of the Company, beneficially owned
more than 5% of the shares of Common Stock outstanding as of such date; (ii) each director of the Company;
(iii) Sycamore’s Named Executive Officers; and (iv) all directors and executive officers as a group.

For purposes of the following table, beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the
Commission. Except as otherwise noted in the footnotes below, the Company believes that each person or entity
named in the table has sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of its Common Stock shown
as beneficially owned by them, subject to applicable community property laws, The percentage of shares of
Common Stock outstanding is based on 279,663,992 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of April 28, 2007.
In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person named in the following table and the
percentage ownership of that person, shares of Common Stock that are subject to options held by that person that
are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2007 are deemed outstanding. These shares
are not, however, deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other
person.

Amount and Nature  Percentage

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1) Beneﬁcialo(t]‘)wnership Outst?:;:ding
Gururaj Deshpande (2) . ... i 45,712,807 16.4
Daniel E. Smith (3) ... oo e s 42,936,349 15.4
Kevin L. Oye () ...ttt e 2,148,538 *
Richard J. Gaynor (5) ... ..o oot e 1,000,000 *
John B. Scully (8) ... .o e s 577,604 *
Alan R, Cormier (7) oo oot ittt e it ettt e e e 50,200 *
Araldo Menegon (8) ... ..o i e 1,700,000 *
Timothy A. Barrows (9) .. ... i e 1,988,603 *
Paul J. Fermi (9) ... e e e 575,553 *
John W. Gerdelman (10) . . ..ottt e e e s 281,850 *
Paul W, Chisholm (1 1) . ..o i e e i e aes 210,000 *
Platyko Partners, LP(3) . ... ... . 21,775,000 7.8
Third Avenue Management LLC(12) .. ... . i iiiiiiiiieiines 21,379,646 7.6
The Gururaj Deshpande Grantor Retained Annuity Trust (2) ............... 17,918,400 6.4
All executive officers and directors as a group {12 persons)(13) ............. 100,080,802 358

*  Less than 1% of the total number of outstanding shares of Common Stock.

(1) Except as otherwise noted, the address of each person is: c/o Sycamore Networks, Inc., 220 Mill Road,
Chelmsford, Massachusetts 01824.

(2) Includes 2,937,500 shares held by the Deshpande Irrevocable Trust and 17,918,400 shares held by the
Gururaj Deshpande Grantor Retained Annuity Trust. Mr. Deshpande’s wife serves as a trustee of each of
these trusts. Mr. Deshpande disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares.

(3) Includes 21,775,000 shares held by Platyko Partners, L.P., of which Mr. Smith and his wife serve as general
partners.

(4) Includes 2,114,457 shares issuable pursuant to options which are immediately exercisable and subject to a
repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest.

(5) Consists of 1,000,000 shares issuable pursuant to options which are immediately exercisable and subject to a
repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest.

(6) Consists of 577,604 shares issuable pursuant to options which are immediately exercisable and subject to a
repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest. Although Mr. Scully was not a Named Executive Officer as
of July 31, 2006, he became a Named Executive Officer as of September 6, 2006 and is, therefore, included
in this table.
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(7) Includes 50,000 shares issuable pursuant to options which are immediately exercisable and subject to a
repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest. .

(8) Consists of 1,700,000 shares issuable pursuant to options which are immediately exercisable and subject to a
repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest. Mr. Menegon resigned as an executive officer effective
September 6, 2006.

(9) For each of Messrs. Barrows and Ferri, includes 180,000 shares issuable pursuant to options which are
immediately exercisable and subject to a repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest. Also includes
100, 8I8 shares held by Matrix V Entrepreneurs Fund, L.P. Matrix V Management Co., LLC is the general
partner of Matrix V Entrepreneurs Fund, L.P. Messrs. Barrows and Ferri, directors of the Company, are
managing members of Matrix V Management Co., LLC. Messrs. Barrows and Ferri disclaim beneficial
ownership of the shares held by Matrix V Emrepreneurs Fund, L.P. except to the extent of their pecuniary
interests therein arising from their membership interests in Matrix V Management Co., LLC.

(10) Includes 270,000 shares issuable pursuant to options which are immediately exercisable and subject to a
repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest.

(11) Consists of 210,000 shares issuable pursuant to options which are immediately exercisable and subject to a
repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest.

(12) According to a Schedule 13G filed on February 14, 2007, Third Avenue Management LLC was the
beneficial owner of 21,379,646 shares of common stock. The address of Third Avenue Management LLC is
622 Third Avenue, 327 Floor, New York, NY 10017, . '

{13} Includes an aggregate of 6,282,061 shares issuable pursuant to options which are lmmedlately exercnsable
and subject to a repurchase right which lapses as the shares vest.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

In July 2000, the Company and the Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors (the “Chairman™),
entered into an Investor Agreement with Tejas Networks India Private Limited, a private company incorporated
in India (*Tejas”™), pursuant to which the Company and the Chairman each invested $2.2 million in Tejas in
exchange for equity shares of Tejas. The Chairman also serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Tejas. An executive officer of our Company also serves as a board member of Tejas. The Company has entered
into various agreemenis with, Tejas under which the Company has licensed certain proprietary software
development tools to Tejas, and Tejas will assist the Company’s business development efforts in India and also
provide maintenance and other services to the Company’s customers in India, if any. During the years ended
July 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company recognized revenue relating to transactions with Tejas of $0.3 million and
$0.1 million, respectively. During the year ended July 31, 2004, the Company did not engage in any matenal
transactions with Tejas. L

Eastern Research executed an QEM agreement with Tejas in March of 2006 under which Tejas provided
Eastern Research with hardware, software and support for the sale of the OM 1000 product. In April of 2007
Sycamore amended the OEM agreement with Tejas to assign the agreement to Sycamore and add the OM 1500
and OM 4000 products.

All transactions involving the Company and its officers, directors, principal stockholders and their affiliates,
including those since the Company’s initial public offering, will be and have been approved by a majority of the
Board of Directors, including a majority of the independent and disinterested directors on the Board of Directors,
and will be and have been on terms no less favorable to the Company than could be obtained from unaffiliated
third parties.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following is a summary of the fees billed to the Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for
professional services rendered for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2006 and July 31, 2005:

Fee Category Fiscal 2006 Fees Fiscal 2005 Fees
AUdIEFEES o .ot e e e $ 460,000 $ 546,000
Audit-Related Fees ... vttt e 855,200 453,700
TaX FOBS .« ottt e e 129,300 179,200
Total FEES . vvneinennnannnnns, e $1,444,500 $1,178,900

Audit Fees, Consists of fees bilted for professional services rendered for the integrated audit of the
Company's financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting for the fiscal years ended
July 31, 2006 and July 31, 2005, and for reviews of the interim financial statements included in the Company’s
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q. '

Audit-Related Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for audit-related services
including consultations on other financial accounting and reporting related matters. Audit-related fees for fiscal
2005 and 2006 include fees in connection with the independent investigations into stock option accounting
conducted under the direction of the Audit Committee.

Tax Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services relating to tax compliance and other tax services
including tax planning and advisory services. -

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy

The Audit Committee’s policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the
independent registered public accounting firm. These services may include audit services, audit-related services,
tax services and other services. Pre-approval is generally provided for up to one year and any pre-approval is
detailed as to the particular service or category of services and is generally subject to a specific budget. The
independent registered public accounting firm and management are required to periodically report to the Audit
Committee regarding the extent of services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in
accordance with this pre-approval, and the fees for the services performed to date. The Audit Committee may
also pre-approve particular services on a case-by-case basis. All of the audit, audit-related fees and tax fees for
Fiscal 2006 and 2005 were pre-approved.
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PART 1V

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCi—lEDULES

(a) 1. Financial Statements .
The financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on
page 44 are filed as part of this report.
2. Financial Statement Schedules
None
3. Exhibits
Number Exhibit Description . .

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated April 12, 2006, by and among Sycamore Networks, Inc., Bach
Group LLC, Allen Organ Company, MusicCo, LL.C, LandCo Real Estate, LLC, AQC Acquisition,
Inc. and the Representative of the Holders of Capital Stock of Allen Organ Company (16)

2.2 Contribution and Purchase Agreement, dated April 12, 2006, by and among Allen Organ Company,
MusicCo, LLC, LandCo Real Estate, LLC, and AOC Acquisition, Inc. (16)

2.3 Escrow Agreement, dated April 12, 2006, by and among Sycamore Networks, Inc., Steven A.
Markowitz as agent and attorney-in-fact for the Company Shareholders of Allen Organ Company and
Wilmington Trust Company, as escrow agent (16)

24 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated April 12, 2006 and amended and restated as of August 3, 2006,
by and among Sycamore Networks, Inc., Bach Group LLC, Allen Organ Company, MusicCo, LLC,
LandCo Real Estate, LLC, AOC -Acquisition, Inc. and the Representative of the Holders of Capital
Stock of Allen Organ Company. (17)

25 Escrow Agreement, dated Apnl 12, 2006 and amended and restated as of August 3, 2006, by and
among Sycamore Networks, Inc., Steven A. Markowtiz as agent and attorney-in-fact for the
Company Shareholders of Allen Organ Company and Wilmington Trust Company, as escrow
agent. (17) : '

3.1 Amended and Restated Centificate of Incorporation of the Cdmpany 3)

32 Certificate of Amendment to the Aﬁlcnded and R:estated Certiﬁcate of Incorporation of the
Company (3)

33 Centificate of ,Ahendmcnt to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company {5)

3.4 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (3)

4.1 Specimen common stock certificate (1)

4.2 See Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 for provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of
the Registrant defining the rights of holders of common stock of the Company (3)(5)

*10.1 1998 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (1) '

*10.2 1999 Non-Employee Directors” Option Plan (1)

*10.3 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (6)

*10.4 ° Form of Indemnification Agreement between Sycamore, the Directors of Sycamore Networks, Inc.

and Executive Officers of Sycamore Networks, Inc. each dated November 17, 1999 (2)
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Number

Exhibit Description

*10.5

*10.6
10.7

+10.8
10.9

+10.10
+10.11

+10.12

+10.13

*10.14
*10.15

*10.16
++10.17

+10.18

+10.19

+10.20

+10.21

+10.22

+10.23

+10.24

Form of Change in Control Agreement between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Executive Officers of
Sycamore Networks, Inc. each dated November 17, 1999 or August 5, 2002 (2)

Sirocco Systems, Inc. 1998 Stock Plan (4)

Lease dated as of October 27, 2000, between Sycambre Networks, Inc. and BCIA New England
Holdings LLC for One Executive Drive, Chelmsford, Massachusetts (5)

Manufacturing Services Agreement between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Plexus Services
Corp. (7)

Lease Agreement between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and New Boston Mill Road Limited
Partnership dated March 8, 2000 (3)

Reseller Agreement dated January 6, 2004 between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Sprint (8)

Exhibit [ dated February 25, 2004 to the Reseller Agreement dated January 6, 2004 between
Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Sprint (9)

Master Purchase Agreement for Technical Equipment and Related Services dated April 22, 2004
between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Sprint/United Management Company, including Amendment
No. 1 dated June 29, 2004 and Amendment No. 2 dated July 19, 2004 (10)

Amendment No. 1 to Manufacturing Services Agreement between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and
Plexus Services Corp. dated July 26, 2004 (10)

Letter Agreement between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Richard J. Gaynor (11}

Agreement and Release dated November 2, 2004 between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Frances M.
Jewels (11}

Letter Agreement between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Alan Cormier (12)

Lease Term Expiration Agreement between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Farley White Associates,
LLC dated January 21, 2005 (12)

Agreement for the Provision of Hardware, Software, Training, Support and Maintenance and
Project Management Services to Vodafone Limited between Vodafone Limited and Sycamore
Networks, Inc. dated November 16, 2000, as amended by amendments 1 through 5 (12}

Amendment No. 2 dated March 29, 2005, and effective as of October 1, 2004, to the Reseller
Agreement dated January 6, 2004 between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Sprint (13)

Amendment No. 3 dated June 16, 2005 to the United States Reseller Agreement between Sycamore
Networks, Inc. and Sprint Communications Company, L.P. Government Systems Division dated
January 6, 2004 (14)

Amendment No. 4 dated June 1, 2005 to the United States Reseller Agreement between Sycamore
Networks, Inc. and Sprint Communications Company, L.P. Government Systems Division dated
Janvary 6, 2004 (14)

Agreement for the Provision of Hardware, Software, Training, Support and Maintenance and
Project Management Services to Vodafone Liberte] N.V. dated June 12, 2002 (14)

Amendment No. | dated February 2, 2004 to Agreement for the Provision of Hardware, Software,
Training, Support and Maintenance and Project Management Services to Vodafone Liberte]l N.V.
dated June 12, 2002 (14)

Purchase Agreement between Sycamore Networks Inc., Chelmsford, MA, USA and Siemens AG
Munich, Germany dated June 13, 2002, as amended as of August 8, 2005 (15)
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Number . Exhibit Description

*10.25 Transition Agreement and Release between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and Araldo Menegon dated

September 6, 2006.

*10.26  Letter Agreement between Sycamore thwori-cs Inc. and John B. Scully dated September 6, 2006.

*10.27 Relocation Offer and Agreement between Sycamore Networks, Inc. and John B. Scully dated May

4,2007.

+10.28 First Amendment to Lease between Sycamore Networks, Inc, and Lakn Marlton Assocnates LLC

dated February 14, 2006.

10.29 Eastern Research, Inc. Stock Option Plan

*10.30 Amendment Number 1 to the Non- Quallﬁed Stock Opnon Agreement with Kevin Oye, dated April

29,2002
21.1 List of subsidiaries '
24.1 Power of Attorney (see signature page)
311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14{a) under the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuart to

(1
2)
Q)
)
(5}
(6)
o
(8)
E)

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
Statement No. 333-846335) filed with the Commission on August 6, 1999, as amended.

Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended October 30, 1999 filed with the Commission on December 13, 1999.

Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
Statement No. 333-30630) filed with the Commission on February 17, 2000, as amended.

Incerporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the annual period
ended July 31, 2000 filed with the Commission on October 24, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended January 27, 2001 filed with the Commission on March 13, 2001,

Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended April 28, 2001 filed with the Commission on June [2, 2001,

Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the annual period
ended July 31, 2003 filed with the Commission on October 21, 2003,

Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended January 24, 2004 filed with the Commission on February 12, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarterly
period ended April 24, 2004 filed with the Commission on May 13, 2004,

(10) Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the annual period

ended July 31, 2004 filed with the Commission on August 23, 2004,

(t1) Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly

period ended October 30, 2004 filed with the Commission on November 18, 2004.

{(12) Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly

period ended January 29, 2005 filed with the Commission on February 25, 2005.

(13) Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly

period ended April 30, 2005 filed with the Commission on September 12, 2005, as amended.

03




(14) Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the annual period
ended July 31, 2005 filed with the Commission on October 11, 2005, as amended.

(15) Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended October 29, 2005 filed with the Commission on November 29, 2005.

(16) Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on April 12, 2006.

(17) Incorporated by reference to Sycamore Networks, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on August 4, 2006.

*  Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

+ Confidential treatment granted for certain portions of this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 406 promulgated under
the Securities Act, which portions are omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

++ Confidential treatment requested for certain portions of this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 406 promulgated under
the Securities Act, which portions are omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

(b) Exhibits
The Company hereby files as part of this Form 10-K the exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index beginning on

page 91.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules:

None

94




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of
Chelmsford, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on this 21% day of June 2007.

SYCAMORE NETWORKS, INC.

By: fs/ DANIEL E, SMITH
Daniel E. Smith
' President and Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY AND SIGNATURES

Know all persons by these presents, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Gururaj Deshpande, Daniel E. Smith and Richard J. Gaynor, jointly and severally, his or her
attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below
by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title D_atf
/s/  GURURAJ DESHPANDE Chairman of the Board of Directors June 21, 2007
Gururaj Deshpande
fsf DANEL E. SMiITH President, Chief Executive Officer June 21, 2007
Danie! E. Smith and Director
fs/  RICHARD J. GAYNOR Chief Financial Officer, Vice June 21, 2007
Richard J. Gaynor President, Finance and
Administration,

Assistant Secretary and Treasurer
{Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

fs/  TiMOTHY A. BARROWS Director June 21, 2007

Timaothy A. Barrows
fs/ PAUL W, CHISHOLM Director June 21, 2007

Paul W. Chisholm
| /s PAUL ). FERRI Director June 21, 2007
I Paul J. Ferri

fs!  JOHN W. GERDELMAN Director June 21, 2007

John W. Gerdelman
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Gururaj Deshpande
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Sycamore Networks, Inc.

Timothy A. Barrows
General Partner
Matrix Partners

Paul W, Chisholm
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
mindSHIFT Technologies

Paul J. Ferri
General Partner
Matrix Partners

John W. Gerdelman
Executive Chairman
Intelliden Corporation

Daniel E. Smith
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Sycamore Networks, Inc.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Daniel E. Smith
Presideni, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Richard J. Gaynor

Chief Financial Officer, Vice President,
Finance and Administration,

Treasurer and Assistant Secretary

Alan R. Cormier
General Counsel and Secretary

John E. Dowling
Vice President, Operations

John B. Scully
Vice President, Worldwide Sales and Support

Kevin J. Oye
Vice President, Systems and Technology

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
Sycamore Networks, Inc.

220 Mill Road

Chelmsford, MA 01824-4144 USA
Telephone: (978) 250-2900

Fax: (978) 256-3434

TRANSFER AGENT
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
P.0. Box 43078

Providence, RI1 02940-3078 USA
Telephone: (877) 282-1168
www,computershare.com

LEGAL COUNSEL
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
Boston, MA

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM
PricewaterhouseCoopers L1.P

Boston, MA

STOCK LISTING

The Company’s common stock is traded on the
NASDAQ Global Select Stock Market under the
symbol “SCMR™.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Sycamore Networks, Inc.

220 Mill Road

Chelmsford, MA 01824-4144 USA
Telephone: (978) 250-3460

Stockholders of Sycamore Networks, Inc.
automatically receive the Company’s annual report
and proxy solicitation material enabling them to vote
at the Annual Meeting. The 2006 Annual Report,
Form 10-K, and other investor information is
available free of charge from Investor Relations or
can be viewed online at: www.sycamorenet.com.

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting will be held at 9:00 A.M. on
Monday, July 30, 2007 at the Radisson Hotel in
Chelmsford, MA.

This Annual Report including the letter entitled *To Our Shareholders,” contains forward-looking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties. Readers are cautioned that actual resulis or events could differ materially from those stated or implied
in forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the findings, including possible
tax liabilities and penalties resulting from the audit of certain of the Company’s income tax returns by the Internal Revenue
Service, risks relating to the formal investigations commenced by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the U.S.
Attorney's office with respect to certain stock options granted by the Company, additional actions and findings that may result
from the investigation into such stock options and the accounting therefor, including the restatement of previously issued
financial statements, certain purported shareholder derivative actions filed against the Company and certain of its current and
fonﬁer‘o_fﬁcgrs ‘ancf its directors, the Company’s inability to file timely périodic reports on Form 10-K and Form 10-Q with
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the pessible delisting of the Company’s common stock by Nasdaq. Centain
additional risks are set forth in more detail in the section entitled Factors that May Affect Future Results in the Company's
most recent Form 10-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company disclaims any
intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future

results or otherwise.
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